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,MENDANT IS INDICTED FOR MURDER IN TEE FIRST =GM* 

itIC8ANT PITA) NOVEMBER 21st, 1912. 

ISIDOR WASSERVOGEL, Esq., Assistant DistrAO.t .A.tty 

For The People. 

GEORG.: M. CURTIS, and 

AGMTIN- MB; 

ZZ CLIMIC OF TAX COMM Illy Geller, if yea latiMed 

challenge at inaiyidual jucor., you aunt de SO "whim AS 

appears and before he sworn. 



an objection here; in view of the poeethle 

don't= know what the fact is - that this Jury is drawn 

fro* the County of New York and the County of the Bronx,. 

and that the Court of General Sessions has no juriodiOt. 

Pardon me a moment. I want to under 

locality is within the Borough of the 

TJE COURT: Well, Mr. District Attorney, I would 

respectfully suggest to you, in view of the gravity of • 

that proposition, the propriety of the transference of 



this caie to the Supreme Court. 

14R. WASSWEIVOG 

ammCwGrand, tTUry, 

Justice 

Bronx, 

e SUpre:me Court for the.:BoroU 

CottutY of the •tx!anx• ;t is no 

sideration of the Court that, for all Jurisdictional 

purposes, the County of the Bronx has jurisdietiorkd 

ti*ct and separate from the County of New Yoe** and,' 

your Honor I see observes the point. This indictment  

is found in the County of New York, and is callecrfi 

trial in the Court of General Sessions of the Peace of 

the City and County of New York, and, therefore, 

these jurors are drawn *holly or in part froak..the.Couxity 

of New York, then it seems to us that, under the la 

, the objection is well taken, so far as this Court 0 

concerned. 

MR. VASSERVOGEL: This crime took place on October. 

13th, long before Election day. 

MR. CURTIS: That suggestion, that our objection 

is retroactive, it seems to se, is not tenable, in view 

of the decision recently made by the Appellate DiVision 

in relference,to the new Statute, which gave unusual - 

powers to the Court in review to act in the case, and 



the Nail:  the Appellate .Diyision, eaid- that that Staixtio 

tatute ihich pe-ruitted the Appellate Division 

to try it, is it were, on its merits, and to brush aside 

all tedhhicalities, brush aside all mere tedhinal tbjec-

tiOns if, in the judgment of the Court, that tag•thw 

proper policy to pursue, and, therefore, I think that 

the last suggestion of the District Attorney-does'not 

I will send for, and after I get it 

read, the Statute passed by the Legislature purporting 

to create the County. of the Bronx. What chapter is it, 

R. WASSERVOGEL: Your Honor knows, in the McKenna 

case, this question was passed upon by Judge Sea:bury. here 

I will send for that Statute. When 

MR. CURTIS: My learned associate suggests what 

seems to me a very valuable matter, and that is this: 

that not only was the crime committed in the County of 

the Bronx, but the jury is drawn, in part, from the 



beattng • upon it, and after I hare looked at those ; will 

Imes on your objection, either sustain it or dens 

Xudge Curtis, is the situation in this case, solar 

as it relates to the jurisdiction, the same as the sit.* 

uation presented in the case of the People against 

of habeas corpus, wasn't it ? 

It was finally tried before him, but 

wasn't that brought up on a writ of habeas corpus ? 

jurisdiction of the Court of General Sessions. 

out of mind the method by which the objection liago 

taken, were the circumstarces the same ? Th other 

words the facts upon which the question of jurisdiction. 



your Ebnor. 

TH COURT: Nave you exAmined that 

No, I have not, your ,Honor, 

don' t know, in the IftKenna case, 'whether the ertotelvt 

committedin the County of New York, or the County of the 

Here the crime was committed in anothei Count. 

THE COURT: Mr. Wasservagel tells me it is allege 

in the McKenna case to have been committed in that part 

of New York County known as the Borough of the Bronx. 

If that is so, the cases are then 

MR. CURTIS: It may be in that particular feature, 

but I think there is a feature in which they are not 

parallel, and we will, at the proper time, have to make 

a motion to dismiss the indictment upon the ground the 

offence was committed in the County of the Bronx, and 

the indictment is found in the County of New York. I 

has before you is one in Which the Counsel was named 

Klein, and he brought it originally to the attention of 

the Court in that shape on a writ of habeas corpus. 

Isn't that the name of Counsel set forth there ? 



thei:04s* I UA roteiNtime 

n all Iiiiiihood apt to be decided one way or the 

thWe .Appellate Division in the 'McKenna case ht1.1 

is desirable, both from the standpoint of The People an 

the standpoint of the defendant that this case. shall 

be adjourned until sometime after that decision is 

understand that the Matter has gone 

up to the Appellate Division, and that the only deciEsion• 

that my learned friend on the other side had refereuoe 

TTh COURT: There is a liklihood, at all eve# 

within the ordinary course of things, it is entir0 

possible that the Appellate Division may hand (Wen a 

decision iaiorraw, sometime tomrrow afternoon. 

MR. DERBY: Has the case been argued, your 

It has been argued in the Appellate 



aa told that the Appellate Dirisiew 

way quite likely, liond down a decision temp-row. Thwitt 

is te say, in  the ordinary course of things 

being so -deeXS 

very proper step to take now would be to adjeurn this 

case until, say, 

DMItt: In the event of the Appellate Division 

not handing down a decision on Monday ? 

a1i COURT: Then on Monday we could take a further 

adjournment. 

MR. CURTIS: Of course, it is inconvenient to us, 

but I think your Honor is quite right in your view. 

It would be, it seems to me, a waste of labor to fg 

into the trial and then be confronted by a decleion 

which would declare the trial should not be coiaeficed. 

THE COURT: The Appellate Division aay,.hold thet 

that Statute is unconstitutional, or they may,00nceiveabilly 

hold that no provision of it will go into eftectbefor& 

the first of January, 1914, or, of course, they way 

take the opposite view; but it would seem desirable 

that this case should not be tried until that decision le 

handed down; that is to say, if it does not involve any 

unuo delay. I think, if there is no abjection, I will 

adjourn the trial of this case until Monday. 

MR. DUNI Your Honor, could we have a pr 



o your honor. I dontt know whether it 

resented nowt or hereafter:. It is equal 

a juriedictional question.. As I understand, tbe=lna. c 

sent was laid in New York. 

THE COURT: There is nothing to show at the preben 

time that that is not proper. 

friend conceded that the crime was committed in the 

He would not concede that. !tø *1i 

ular street and 
1$, 

at which,the• -
, 

That is merely a matter of fornal 

trial coienoes on Monday, or whenever it is commenced. 

TEE COURT: ijwiii be adjourned until Monday. 

The defendant is remanded. 



THE DEMI DANT IS ARRAIGNED AT THE BAR 

THE MIRK OF THE COURT: Ely Geller, you 

challenge an individual juror, you must do xr0 

when he appears and before he is sworn. Do, you wa 

the further giving of this notice? 

(Counsel then proceeds with the examinatiblt 

Gentlemen of 

ished not to converse =wig irours• 

connected with this trial, or form 

thereon, until the same is sub-

(The Court accordingly took a roc as until .to--:morrow, 

Tuesday, January 28th, 1913, at 10 30 A. id. - 



(Six additional jurors AreAgly seledted An 

THE COURT: Gentlemen of the Jury, you are 

monished not to converse amo*g yourselves on ay sUbje0 

connected with this trial, or toform or express any OP 

tion thereon, until the same is submitted to you. If 

any person comes to. any one of you to talk with You 

about this case, you must refuse to talk with that per-

son, and you must bring the circumstance to the attention, 

of the Court. The defendant is remanded. Court stands' 

adjourned until to-morrow morning at half past ten. 

(The Court accbrdingly took a recess until tou.mor-

row, Wednesday, January 29th, 1913, at ten thirty A. NI 

make at this time, now that the jury is impanelled 



on the ::.ground that 

rho fouzid the indictment 

an indictment for a crime committed in 

It is recognized that the. grand Jury 

they are sitting. This grand jury,, we claim, . 

Sitting in the County of New York, indicted for a cmri 

committed in the County of the Bronx. 

We further imove to dismiss the indictment, on the 

County Act, it is provided that after that Act Should 

take effect the Supreme Court Should have jurisdiction 

f all crimes committed in the County of the Bronx. 

Now, if the Act took effect at the time of its enactment, 

on April 19th last, it is clear that the Supremo court 

had jurisdiction, the Supreme Court grand jury had juria-

diction of this particular crime. If the act took 

nevertheless the Supreme mourt grand jury would have juria 

diction, because thiE indictment was found after the 

referendum vote rbn November, 1912, The Act providea 

that after the Act takes effect the Supreme Court Shall 

have juriddiction of all crimes committed in the County 

of the Bronx. This indictment was found by a grand jury 

of the Court of General sessions, and not by a Supreme 

Court grand jury. On these grounds, your Hoglor, 



• Ntamora.,..1•,*101.0"....ow,"•• WW-11111400.: 

moire, far the jUsmissal of the lndictmen 

THB COTJBIY: Wore these ons rased.im the 

against cKenna. 

110 

R. DERBY: The facts were different the 

That indibtment was found 'before the referendum vote. 

It was a question of whether the McKenna indictraent 

was found before the referendum vote. In this made, 

the indictment was found some weeks after the referen 

vote, and after the Bronx County act took effect, if it 

took effect at all. 

THE COURT: The decision of the Appellate 

sion in the case of the people against McKenna goesA-to 

the point, does it not, that the act to which you ha:ve, 

referred did not take effect at any time? 

Mi. DERBY: That was the view of the Appellate 

Division, by a three to two vote, your Honor. 

THE COURT: In other words, assuming that this 

Court adopts the view expressed by the Appellate Divi-

sion in the case of the People against McKenna, this 

Court would be obliged to fule that the Boroughs of 

Manhattan and the Bronx have at all times been in one 

County, namely, in the County of Bew York, isn't that 

Your Honor, that the Act was unconstitutional, by a 



paint of 

If u make a conten ion 

Made in the Case of the people aggins 

fully as possible examine into the merits of that conte 

Well, the difference between*-.• 

TH COURT: Now, it is right that you Should kn w 

that I have glanced at the decision in the case of the 

peopleagainst McKenna, but I have not read it with 4 

great deal of care, and I saw recently in one of the 

papers, not a law publication, a statement of a conten.. 

tion made by former District Attorney Jerome in a case 

I think in the Criminal part of the Supreme Court, rais. 

ing the point conceivably not made in the McKenna case. 

I.have the matter very imperfectly in mind in that 

respect, but, roughly speaking, I think th-at the conten-

tion as indicated in the paper I read was that the act 

of the Legislature must be regarded as operative from 

the time that, according to its terms, it was to go in, 0 

effect, until the time that the Court, pronounces it 



roactive. 

hat s, a:very iMperrect statement of the content 

think that was the contention. 

I understood that the Appellate Div sion 

held that the act was unconstitutional at the time i.t 

THE COURT: That is my understanding of 

there" any dispute about that, Mr. Wasservogel? 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is my understanding of 

THE COURT: Now, if there is, if there is dispute 

boutthe scope of the decision of the AppaVlate-Idvi* 

ion in the case of the people (*gain et McKenna, 

end for the opinion in that case, and 

I understand tbat the-- Ap;ellate 

Division declared the Bronx County law unconstitutional. 

THE COURT: It is a very debatable proposition, 

Mr. Derby, and it is entirely conceivable that the dec. 

sion of the Appellate Division may not be affirited in the 

Court of App als, but it is the appellate tribunal of 

this Court in all except murder cases.Its op±n±Or1• 

are entitled to great weight, and I think that it AU 



be denied, and you will have proper exceptions. 

NIL DERBY: We urge your Honor that you: Honor' 

has no jurisdiction to proceed with this trial _Xal the 

same ground, on the ground that the crime was ommitted 

in a county different from that in which this court is 

sitting; and, furthermore, on the ground that the 

impanelled in this part of the Court was drawn from the 

citizens of Two Counties; the jury sworn to try this OaPe 

is composed of citizens of two counties; and, therefor", 

this jury has no jurisdiction to hear this case. 

THE COURT: If the Court of Appeals should hold, 

that the Bronx County law, so called, was constitutional, 

valid, then, doubtless any conclusion in this ease 

adverse to the defendant, if such there be, as the result 

of a trial, would be reversed on appeal. You are given 

As you have already been informed, the indictment in 



"nage. 414111.4"...."."," • •••••••• 

thin case charges the ie±'endant,eller', with the 

criMe p murder in tts first degree... , . 

Zn  the month of October last year, aPiae wartk-

mann and" his. brother, Abraham Schwartzmann, Were . . 

owners. of a delicatessen store at No. 2615 Third 

in the Bronx. 

This defendant, Geller, was employed by them( as -4 

delivery clerk. His 8alary was twelve dollars a Inonthi 

and he also received his board and lodging. 

On October 12th, he was entitled to half a day off. 

PermissionHe wanted the whole day off.  to stay away 

and the following morning, 'October 13th, he 

This was about seven o'clock in thb 

His employer, Raphael SChwartzmann, one of his 

employers, rather, offered him five dollars, the ainowat 

said was due to Geller at that time. 

rhe defendant said, "No, I want six dollars; that 'is what 

more than five, so Geller would not take any money at 

all, and waked out, promising to get square. 

He came back about two hours later. - At that time) 

the store Schwartzmann rent to the cadh drawer, took out 



He come back once more, at ten o clod 

that timet SChwartzniann was alone in his plade. 

SchwartzMann; no one else was there. 

At that time, this defendant came armed with a 

Re demanded from Schwartzmann the difference between the amoun 

which he had already received and the amount which he olirned. 

Schwartzmann would not give him any more money. There.' 

upon, he took out his gun and blazed away. He Shot this an..Sc1. 

wartzmann in the breast at this time, gentlemen, and Schwartz 

mann was standing behind the counter. Bear that in mind, 

As the result of the first shot, he was still able 

to walk, and the defendant, immediately after the Shot was 

fired, started to walk out into the street. Schwartzmann, f4TOrn 

behind the counter, started to walk after him, intending prob-

ably, to follow him into the street. In the entrance of the 

store, the defendant suddenly turned around and discharged an-

other bullet, fired once more at Schwurtzmann. This time he 

Struck him in the head, and this time Schwartzmann dropped in 

the doorway, right at the entrance there. 

The defendant goes out upon the street, throws ay 

his gun, and within two or three minutes thereafter is arreZtect, 

and he admitted to the police office who placed him under orA• 



that all viitne01300 for the people other than thee one 

actually being examined be excluded from the Court 

Al].TE COURT:  witnesses on both sides other th 

such witness as may be under examination will step' out..-

side the court room and remain outside until called. 

And you have been such for how long? A For 

Did you take the four photographs that 

(Handing witness four photographs)? A 

At the request ofthe District Attorney's office? 

In the Borough of the Bronx, County of Dew York? 



inside *views were taken two months after the occurrenc 

These four photographs will be Aar 

as 3khibits for Identification, in the first instande. 

There are two that I will :ma 

in evidence now, with your Honor's permission; there 

no objection to those, the outside views? 

1R. CURTIS: We are instructed that the inside 

views were taken two months after the occurrences and, 

possibly, changes have occurred since then. 

R. DERBY: We only object because I understand 

changes were made *ithin a month after the crime was co 

be marked, respectively, people's exhibits Nos. 1 and 

Those that are marked for identia—

cation, I presume, may not be made use of by the District 

Attorney in illustration to the jury or otherwise? 



ten seen, in tria 

cohabits marked or Identifica; 

EMI COURT: Comment, Judge., is entirelY unnedessa 

4fth1bits received in evidence will be used as such 

the District Attorney. Exhibits marked for Identific 

tion are marked for that purpose and that only. 

(Photographs representing outside views are marked, -

respectively, people's exhibit No. 1, and people' 'a exhi 

said -premises are marked, respectively, people's exhibit 
for identification 

No. 3 and people's exhibit No. 4' for Identification, of 



VOEICICENINGI,calle 

ss on behalf of the people being first duly sviorn, test 

figda as follows:-, 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WASSERVOGELI 

Q What is your full name? A Walter H. Voelckenin 

Where do you live? A 116 Dehatur Street,131•09 

at the request of the District Attorney, did 

you make a street diagram showing premises 2615 Third Avenue? 

Q And 'is that a correct repres ta, ion of what 11  



VeopIE0 a 

cation, o a, 'date) 

Orr you another diagram of the store 2615 

,Avenue, and ask you whethe r that was made by you 

(handing sane to witness)? A It was. 

Q kid does that correctly represent the conditicite 

then foundbyyou at that time? A It does on the 25th. 

Q, The street diagram is a scale of one inch equals 

twelve feet, and the store diagram is three-eighths of an 



laCT 1KAWrNATIONt5Y R. W A8SVOGBL: 

What is our liable SohWar 

3.632 Secon 

ant yoU to talk as loud as you can 

Yes, sir.  

R, at is your business? A I am a delicatessen. 

clerk at the present time? 

THE OOU: You will have to talk a great deal 

(1 What was his name? A Raphael Schwartzmnn. 

Look at this diagram, peoplefs exhibit No. 6 for 

Identification, and tell me whether it shows the conditions 

which existed at that time (handing same to witness) 

HS is now Ocnt tc 



respect to the cCunter 

other things Which are in that store? 

No, I suggest that the form Of t 

Is that a correct view 0 

Yes, sing 

dislike to nter-

jection, and the Court will rule. 

Q What were the contents of that s 



Meigcrave•the fixturts? A The fixtures, s 

aqt 

Were was the shelving? iich side of t:e. 

On the up-town-- both sides. 

Q What else was there in the line of fixtures 1. 

One was a long-. 

Q And where was the small counter? A The small •coUn-

q And where was the ice box? .k.,_The ice box was on 

Q

 

Was the ice box behind the small counter? 



A box for roUa 

Q. where was 'that? -A It was connected. to the 1on 

counter, in the front. 

_17_0 you remember when the diagram was made of the 

eto A Yes, sir. 

Q, Were you present at that time? A Yes, sir. 

Q, I now show you this diagram, people's exhibit no., 

and ac you whether it correctly, shows the conditions which 

existed at that time? (Handing same to witness)? 

Q, Is the counter • as shown on this people's exhibit No. 

6 in the same position as it was at that time? 

him give you his description as fully as he can, and 



aster , have exhausted hiB recollection you may 

.,•. 
deortptn :L1 

°lent to *arrant the admission .of th 

Ification in evidence, I will receive it. 

Repeat your description will you pleaqe? 

more, of the contents of that store? 

THE COURT: I don't think that is necessary, 

Your Honor 

regarding the contents of that store? Is there arTithing that 

you now recollect regarding the contents of. that store as 

the same was on the 13th day of October, 1912, that you have 

Were the conditions as they existed, on October 



The objection is overruled. 

CURTIS: I take an -exception. 

COURT:TBB  "Yes", or "no", to that. 

Were the conditions the same? A Yes. 

And I now show you people's exhibit No. 6 for Iden-, 

tification, and ask you Whether the counter as shown an thi 

exhibit is in the same position as it was in your store on 

The same objection and exception. 

case in the same position? A Yes Sir. -

The same objection and exception,. 

I think your objections to them were 

(Same received in evidence and. marked people's . 



1fo. 5, narked. for Identification, 

R. CuRTIS: The same objection. 

THE C;OTIRT1 It appears in evidence, daes 

.this was made at the same time as :the other .ejthib.#-: 

No, that was ne. de-- 1 thira: 

is a date marked there, your Honor. 

That was made some weeks fter the 

May I ask the witness a quest:Jo 

Q Were you present when thisother diagram was made 

on November 16th, 1912, referring to people's 

You were not there at that time? A No, sir. 

Q, When did you sell out, do you remember? 



five. 

was your brother, 

rg. 

ow *tett di4 he weigh, if you know? 

. 
How

—
How old are you? A Twenty...one. 

Row much do you weigh? A One hubdred and thIxt 

Just stand up, please? (Witness stands up) 

Q, Sit down. You say your brother weighed about 140. 

A Yes. 

Q Was your .brother married? A No, sir. 

Q Do you know Ely Geller, the defendant? A Yes sir. 

How long have you known hie A Twenty days. 

Q, Twenty days prior to October 13th? A October 1:5thp 

Q Did he ever work for you? A No, not before. 

Q Did he ever work for you? A Yes, sir. 

Q, When, for the first time? A He was engaged on 

September 23rd, until October 13th, when that happened. 

Q What were his duties? A To take out the orders an 

clean around the store. 

Q And his salary was what? A His salary was fifteen, 

dollars a month and board. 

Q Fifteen dollars a month? A Fifteen dollars a DIOnth:_ 

Q And where was he to live? A He was to live in 



.41111111 

61? Tjil,rd'AverLue?'AArd, avenue; 

roe dollars, for that room. 

•4 And did he get his lodging there, board 

No, boar'd he had with us, and lodging at 2617. 

Are all these details material? 

T! COURT: There being no objection, they are 

at that time? A my brother. 

you have any conversation with him, or did your 

any conversation with him in your presence? 

have any conversation with him until dbout seven 

Did you then have a conversation with him? A Yes. 

Now, please tell us what you said, what your buother 

what he said? A I asked him what is the matter, 



; 

TE TNHOT I asked him What is the inatier, 

he voults to go aWay. He said, when we took him, Wi 

agreed to give him half a day off, at twelve o'clock, 

he wanted to go off earlier, so my brother refuwed. 

said he can't leave him go on Saturday, being it was 

busy day, do  he said he would gait, wso that morning I 

asked him whether he wants to stay, or not. 

Did all this conversation occur that 

What conversation has he just rela.! 

THE COURT: He purports to be telling us a conversa 

tion participated in by himself and hisbrother, the 

deceased, and this defendant, on the morning of October 

I figured up; it was only five dollars, being we paid 

three dollars for the roam and two. dollars he took in 

advance, so that leaves -- being he worked twenty days, 



au said to him? 

Q his being' 'twenty days- *hat else. did you. say? 

*That is eight dollars"—

pi Tell us what you said to him, and, don't be nervous 

said "what is coming to you". He said "six dollars 

and I figured up it was only five dollars. 

Q, And what else? A Being we paid three dollars f 

the room and two dollars he took in advance, that COMBZ to 

RI What did he say? A He said he wanted all tb9: ZOO 

he wants six dollars, or nothing at all. 

Then he waked out and lifted 4p 1#4; 

hand, and said "I will fix you. My hands are strong enough.  

Did he take part in the 

This talk which you have been giving us, Which you 

. have been repeating, as you claim, was between yourself and 

this defendant? A Yes, sir, and my brother was present 

RI Arid when you say "present", what do you mean? 



StIii1.4.44g1?0.1i444::•:V*0 ütó,1i„osiigg., 

WASERVOGL fid whre-INITe you tazdizg1 

md .0.0A141. 

q. id where Wa 

How d'ir away from you? A About two feet 

Did you see the defendant again that day? 

Q Did you see your brother again that day'? 

Q, Did you seehim after he was taken to the 1164 

Q, Were you present at the time the autopsy was perform 

I object to the character of the 

1flR. WASaRVoGEL: The question is withdrawn 

THE COURT: The question is withdrawn, I under-

Q, Do you say you were present at the time the autopsy. 



GA *ler, 

re you the ootor. 

entify the bo 

it. (iJRPIS: X move to strike that out. 

TH COURT: Strike It out. 

Q. 0 you know this gentle man, Doot6r Riegelman 

Yes , si r. 

see your broth er ' s bo cly at any t ime when: 

was present? A The Coroner's doctor, Y 



Your brother :born in- this count? 

Where? A UaS Poland. ,4 

When di4 you  come to this country? 

brother•? A. That was the first time, 

Was it at this place that you have be:  epea 

about? A Yes, sir. 

Q And was it the same character of business? A 7e0. 

A delicatessen store? A Delicatessen and grocery'. 

And, of course, in such a store as that, 

knives in the store that you used in your business"?) 

Now, did you or your brother watch in the 

Q Did you or your brother sleep in the atore in the 



yourbx'otherwat 

st rif in the night tnia, ybu didn't arlitand the . . 

$tra: different tb.O 

rpoids not in the .store. 

:Ytair brother slept in the store? A Ittit‘ in:the 

In a room leading into the store? A 

e had his bed there? A Yes, str. 

And do you know whether or not at night he kept 
•annives

 in there? A No.

 

You know all about that? A Yes, sir. 

You slept with him aci.ntinually, both of you 



But the fact is he did sleep tb.ere, your brothr. 

Yes, he slept there, because we couldn't find a roout so 

k. We used to live at the same house where the d 

tion that you say occurred in your presence with your brOther 

on the morning of the 13th of October, 1912, so far as you 

know did the defendant have any dispute with your brother, 

Yes, he had a dispute on October 12th. 

Q, October 12th. What was the character of that ai s. 

THE COURT: Perhaps you had better ascertain IX 

the witness was present at the time. 

Then, how are you trying to give it? 

rules of law, and, therefore, I suggest 



..QUATig:. • ,'..,4!.0:047-.4totiotr, 4'; right 

ou Iter:S not present. the day before at the • ontrlor 

onir er sat ion r1ave -t 

between your brother and this defendant occurred -on t 

1n6 ruin of the 13th did it? A Yes, 

Is that correct? A Yes. 

Now, at what time in the morning was this?' 

Q When did you last see him? A About a month ago. 

Q And you say he don't understand English? A 

q And, therefore, he could not understand What was 

said between your brother and the defendant? A No. 



• Q 

Ong Vtas he there? 

*te in and went out? A Yen. 

.it What time did he dome in? A At the. 

the argument was held. 

Q. And What time was that? A About seven. 

out seven. And he went out about five MinUtee 

after seven? A Yes. 

Q And he, of course, did not take any part in that cOn-

versation? A No. 

Q Now, isthere any other person that was present at 

that time? A No. 

Q Now, isn't it true that the defendant requested of 

your brother to be let off'so that he could attend the night 

school? A No. 

No? A I took him over myself to night school. 

Q And what time did he go to the night school? 

A Every Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday. 

He, the defendant, was from Russia? A .Yes. 

Q He, the defendant, spoke Yiddish, didn't he? 

A Yes. 

Q, And at the time of thisoccurrence, how long was he in 

the country? A I don't know exactly. 

Q Well, was it a few days, or a few weeks, or a few 

months, or what? A According to the way he said:, he 

r 



sortie Plaes, 

di-d'he tell you that? A When e-tme en 

used. to come around there all the time. 

q But that is the only knowledge you Rave as,tg 

time that he came to this Country? 

And, in accordance with that, you who understood 

around 
And the reason of your t,king him to the night school 

was that he himself spoke Yiddish, and you spoke English? 

And didn't he say to your brother that one reason 

why he waited to quit his job was -- I understood you to 

he stated he wanted to quit his job, did 'he? A Yeas 

That was so he could attend the night school? 



411 

lan d 

a on1,r dsut 

ard to the extilmt you 'V 

And. .you say you figured up that there was fiv:e 

1 rS due- hiM? A Yes, sir. 

..tind he figured up there was six dollars due hie? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q And that, you claim, was the only cause of differe4cs 

between you? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you also claim that when you left, or, rather, 

when he left on that occasion, that is, the morning of 

October 13th, he raised his arms or hand, and he said, 

"I will do" what? A He said "I will fix you. MY hands• 

are strong endlugh yet." 

"I will fix you; my hand is strong enough yet". 

Did he say that in English, or Yiddish? A In Yiddish. 

Q And was anybody present at the time he said that 

except you and your brother? A Nobody but me. 

Q Nobody but you. Now, you were before the Coroner's 

inquest, weren't you? A Yes. 

Q, And you gave testimony there? A Yee, sir. 

Q And you was before the Coroner's inquest how soon 

after October 13th? A I don't remember thedate. 

You don't remember the date. Yo.IreIm3mber the 

date of this shooting? A Yes, sir. 



You were sworn before the Coroner? 4 (No answer) 

You testified under oath, didn't you? A Yes. 

THE COURT: Now, keep your voice up, and. just 

-er the questions. 

(Question read by stenographer, as follows: Yitiu 

testif:ied under oath, didn't you"?)? 

Q, Now, was this question put to YOU) and. did you give 

the following answer: "Q Did you see anything of are 

shooting? A No, but I was there before. Q You were, n 

there at the t ime of the trouble? A No." Were those 

questions put to ;you, and were those answers given? 

you mean by saying before "I see before"? 

present at this conversation? A Yes, sir. 



On  the 12th of October, 

brother On the wire, He told me he ha 

rolible,w4th his boy. and I came over that night 11 

it was your brother that told you you had some troUb 

the boy that he had some trouble with the boy? 

Q, What was the trouble about? A About going off. 

He wanted to go off at eight o'clock in the morning. 

He wanted to go off at eight o'clock in the morning? 

And that was all the trouble you had? A Yes sir. 

Did you, before the Coroner, or did you at any place 

or. time during the proceeding which grew out of the death of 

your brother, either before the Coroner or -- in your testi. 

mony before the Coroner, say a word about his lifting his hand 

Did. you ever say a word of that 



that pantamine? 

On October 11? A Yes, sir. 

And stil]. you can't remember what you said be,fore, the 

Coroner some daisrs let er. Now, that there may be no qUee 

ion abotii. 

remember tha, 

THE COURT: He has already said he does not remember 

saying anything about that when testifying before the 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I object to that question in that 



oudid nol 

ou Was not there? A No. 

And all that you did see is_What you have narrate 

the jury All that you did hear is what you have narrate 

jury as having occurred on the morning of the 13th? AYes, 0 

Q At that time, did you pay him any money? A offered 

him, and he refused. 

Q Did you pay him any money? 

NCR. WASSERVOGEL: I submit, that is an answer. rt 1148 

been gone over several times. 

THE COURT: No. It has not. You will answer it 

"yes", or "no". 

A No. 

Q Then, when he left you at that time, so far as your 

giving him any money is concerned, or so far as your brother 

giving him any money is concerned, he had none? A No. 

BY THE COURT: 

Q You didn't hand him any money, and your brother didn't 

hand him any money in your presence, on the morning of October 

13th?" "Yes", or "no", now? A No. 

BY ME. CURTIS: 

Q Now, this was the Sabbath day, wasn't it, Sunday? 

A Sunday. 

Q And this was the day on which most of the stores, prob-



know? 

Do yoaknow that, on the Sabbath day, on Sunday, October 

13th, that most, if not all, of the hardware stores ar 

brokers stores were closed? 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is objected to. It is absolue-

ly iateriai. The question is, was this delicatessen 

flees is allowed to answer, "yes", or "no", now. 

(Question read by stenpgrapher, as follows: "Do you 

know that on the Sabbath Day, on Sunday, October 13th, that 

most, if not all, of the hardware stores or pawn brokers storee 

Q Now, what time did he leave you and your brother that 

watch, or clock, to see what time it was? A We had a watch 

hanging right in front of the register. 

Q And you consulted the watch so you could know the time. 



is no attempt on your brother 

.a.nd. there Was no attempt -on his part 

yoUr troth#r, was there? A No. - 

Atid all that was said between 

the jury? A Yes, sir. 

of the defendant 

don't wish to misquote you. You say that there 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Don't argue with him. 

Q (Question read by stenpgrapher, as follows: "Was the 

anything else said besides that at that time?")?, 

THE COURT: Counsel means, was anything .said except 



•  WaS:. rOck, as I understand yoUr tss 

óór  the4eople? 44 /is, sir. 

That- 1,81 to the people around about who had given. 

as I understand you to tell the jury, yoU 

when this interview terminated you offered him five doll4r 

taken before the Coroner's Jury, that 

to yoUr testi 

to be fOun 

"The witness", that is you, did you say this °Whet 

in and took the money we offered him he went off. 

know about it." Did you swear to that? Now, look at 104. 

MR. WASSERVOTn: Now, I submit there is mbthing which. 

MR. CURTIS: Well, that is a matter of argument. 

MR. 1ASSERVOGEL: He should not argue with the 



Y THE CORTI 

The question is, did you say that when you wer 

a witness before the Coroner, and your answer will be el, 

"yeS", or "no", or you don't remember. 

much didhe take? A Five dollars. Who do you mean: by 

he? A Ely Geller". Were those questions put to you• 

were the answers that I have read the answers that yetu gave 

before the Coroner? A I don't remember. 

You don't remember. Do you remember distinotaii 

the conversation that took place in which this discussion was 

had with your'brother, and still you don't remember what .you 

said under oath before the Coroner later than that? A No, 

Q, Was this question put to you, and did you give the 

answer which I will read: Did you ever see Ely Geller?" 

that is, the defendant, "in your brother's place after you saw 

you did not swear to that? A I don't remember. 



ou ever see El Geller'. 

ace after you saw him take the money. 

Did you swear to that before the'-,COroner 

OaAlt remember. 

Q If you did swear to that before- the Coroner 

B. WASSERVOGM: The witness has already at  

he can't remember whether he gave such teat imony•or mOi. 

Will your Honor kindly note an exce 

Q You have said to -day, in substance, that certain 

money was offered by your brother on the morning of October 

13th, in your presence, to this defendant? A Yes, sir. 

You offered it? A I offered it, yes, sir. 

And from where did you get it? A Prom the regis 



Q Do you remember whether it was-- in what 1'oria the 

money Was? A, I think it was a five dollar bill. 

t-S, that your best recollection? A Yes, sir. 

And do you recall what you did with the five dollar 

bill? A Yes, sir. I took it back. He refused to take it. 

Q, When you say you took it back what do you mean? 

You may interrogate him firther, if 

You never saw any money paid to this 

Q Did you ever speak Eng;ish with him? 



Q, And how long did he say to you that he had. been.ii 

New York? A He said about a year. 

Now, Mr. Curtis asked you whether you knew thiait all 

of the pawn brokers shops and hardware stores were closed, 

on Sunday, October 13th. You did not go around to pawn 

brokers shops all over the City to see whether they were open, 

And, you did not go around to all the hardware ftt o re$ 

o see whether they were closed? A No. 

Q, And you don't know of your own knowledge whether 

behalf of the people, being first duly affirmed, testified 

WhttOs your full name? A Steven A. Chilian. 

What is your profession? A Physician. 

How long have you been such? A To yea 



are .an. anae •surgeon- .connec 

‘Yes, atro. 

d'wer'e, •you suah on October lah 1912? 

14, Igrid. Were you connected Icklft at th at time with t 

Lincoln Ito-spital? A Yes. 

Q And did you have occasion to go to premise 2615, 

Third Avenue on that day? A I did. 

Q Pursuant to a call? A I did. 

Q, And did you see a man--

THE COURT: Now, talk a great deal louder, so 

everybody hears you. 

Q Who did you find there? A I found a man lying on 
Or . 
the floor, with--

THE COURT: You are talking in too low a tone. 

Talk so everybody hears you. 

A (Continuing) I found a man lying on the floor, with two 

bullet wounds in his body. 

Q Can you tell us, by looking at this photograph, 

people's exhibit No. 2, which part of the floor he waslying 

on? This isthe delicatessen store (handing people's exhiblIT 

No. 2 to witness)? A I can't tell the floor, tkia because 

it is not shown there. 

The whole floor is not shown? A The whole floor 

is not shown. 

Q Can you tell us his condition at that time? 

THE COURT: Why not show him the floor plan? 



On ten •Us, by looking . at peolaato..e 

W14oh. Part • of the floor he was lying in when  you saw,. 

hall„ and here is the store, and here are the counter  

(indica-atm on people's exhibit Eo. 6) sow, can you te 

us where h.e' wai when you saw him, if you remember? 

A He was lying on the left hand side of the showca 

It must have been about four feet from the 

That is, four feet from the door leading into the 

delicatessen store from the street; is that so? A Yes sir. 

And what was his condition at that time? A 

bleeding profusely from a wound located, in the back of the 



d *here? Where was  t at last 

to, the  clavicle 

BY 3.4R. ppnist 

BY AL WASSIERVOGEL: 

to Stop the bleeding, which I did not suecee'd in, and 1 at 

last made an effort and appliedsbandages. The wound appa 

rently was going very deep in the chest and in the brain. 

THE COURT: Doctor, isit impossible for you t 

hustled him to the hospital as quick as I could. 

after you had him in the hospital did he 



Carl yint• apptOximate it? A It must have 

when& Itaar. ten 0-'clock in the morning. 

Now, when you saw this party still liTzing, WAS it no 

almoett directly across the doorway, or very near it? 

A He was lying parallel to the doorway, with the long axis' 

Q, How far was the door across which his body was ly 

In the way that you have spoken of? A From the counter, 

I should judge it must have been four ,or ,•five feet. 

them, how long, and how wide? A Perhaps five by. seven 

And he had two wounds, one in the olaiiole-- that 



'penetrated the lung? A Yes, sir. 

And the other one was where? Inthe 

Z.  was back of the ear. posterior of the € 

Q, Was that necessarily fatal? A It was. 

Did you perform the autopsy on this body? A Th'e 

Coroner's physician and I performed the autopOy. 

inflicted in a struggle for the pistol? 

Q, At what point about the ear did the us ball enter, 

the ball that you say entered below the ear, what_point? 

A The ball apparently had entered right inside the ear, 

right here, (Indicating) posterior to the canal. 

You are very experienced in gunshot wounds, their 



RIO 

een a, surge 

Th,w long have you been acoustbried*to make autopsi 

or to assist at autopsies? A Three yeartf-4 

Q Now, I put this question. You need flot answer 

I Will take a ruling on it. This wound in the ear, or ab 

the ear, or near the ear, could not that he been inat4 

in a.struggle for the possession of the pistol, the •aUó 

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. it 

does not appear to be proper cross Frxfunination, and 

is questionable whether the witness is sufficiently 

Your Honor will note our exceptiOn. 

RE DIRECT MAMINATIOE BY R. WASSERVOGEL: 

Will you please tell us, when you found this bock 

on the floor, what was the position of the head with respect 

to the door through Which you go into the store? A His feet 

were ,Jointing to the door, and his head was back of the store. 

Q, Was he lying on anything at that time? A T"ere WAS 

Q And at that time his feet were near the front? 



gi*a 

XMtILION'131' AR* VASZPAVOGVL:-..-

Wat  ia yotw name A John rteigelmaii.. 

You ,re one of the Coroner's physielems of the 

of the ,Bronx, are you not? 

And you have beai such for how long? A F3tteen, 

a physician and surgeon, lbd. 

And during the past fifteen years you have had °cod.-

to make autopsies frequently? A I have. 

CI How many would you say, roughly, speaking? A Four 



QU It is stricken from ate record., and 

re 1nstt'uoted to lsregar 

u ever Ales tIle body of a 4eceasederson 

neas who testirked here- in  this case, was present?' 

1R. CURTIS: Will your Honor permit me to sugge0t, 

the case of the peoplegainst EbIlvaney, 121 N. Y., 

where a similar question to that was put to an expert, 

a mental alienist, or an alienist, had he heard the 

testimony of so and so in Court, had he heard all the 

testimony on that subject, and so forth and the Court 

of Appeals said it was incompetent, and they gave a new 



at.deotsion appear* to this -Co 

eBblort now beThre the ourt;, 

I talte an exoeption* 

Did you perform an autopsy" on the body igit 

salia that tlmei When Abraham Sdhwartzmann was preSt‘ 

the stan‘ 

Did he assist you When you performed that autopsy? 

1R. GIRTIS: Objected to. 

Was he present? 

Those leading questions should not, 

Was he present at the time? 

THE COURT: You may ask who was present at the 

Schwartzmann, of 102 Eighty-first stre 



o'se. are no 

our Nonor. 

CaRTI24-I. move td strike that oU 

THE =WTI Strike it, out, and the Plry w 

. regard it. 

Q You were simply asked who was present. 

BY TIE COURT: 

Do you recollect who was there at the time you made. 

the autopsy? Your answer to that is "yes", or "no", or 

you don't remember? A I do remember. 

Who was there? A Two brothers-- two men by the 

name of Schwartzmann, who claimed to be brothers of the de.. 

ceased. 

MR. CURTIS: I Move to strike that out. 

THE COURT: Strike out -"claimed to be rothers 

of the deceased", and the jury will disregard it: 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: May I go on? 

MR. CURTIS: I move to strike out the last state-

ment of the Doctor, "who claimed to b e brothers of the 

deceased". 

THE COURT: It is out already. It was stricken 014 

by the Court of the Court's own motion. Now, if you 

contend that there is aliybody in this Court hpuse who wat 

present, Tito may ask the Doctor. 

BR. WASSERVOGEL: That is what I want to get at. 



if you saw the persona who were there 

theu now, you cOuldidentify them? A I cotild. 

BY 5R.WASSFIWOOlas: 

4, D9 you recognize the two men standing at the 

(Indicating Abraham Schwartzroann and Doctor Chilian)/ 

superficially, and then I performed an autopsy upon it. 

Q And what conditions did you find? A I found the man 



had a.Itirulee0 

put; be had. a brtiee on the bIt1: 

1:11440e. at the root of the nek, and 11 

zide o2' his taco, the .1.ight strie• 

had a pistol thot in the right -par, just posterior 

'external auditory meatus, just behind the hole of t 

fact, had tviiipe the blood away to see it, it 

That is the right ear? A The right 

Another bullet wound immediately above the center 

point of entrance. I opened the head, and traced the .e.durse: 

of the bullet in the head through the Ira cerebral tissue, 

to the base of the right temptiral bone, across the posteriOr: 

You will have to use plain English? A Aerege the 

posterior!. fasticle of the base of the skull, through the brei 

substance, and it waz lodged in the posterior faileia on the 

right side, where I removed it,-- on the left side, at leaat 

Was there anything else that you did? A / tracedV. 

through the second rib, downwards, backWards, and to the 

left, and it was lodged in the body of the ninth dorZal 



You mean the second one; the course of w3iich-. 

tractid? A Yes, sir. 

After you traced the course of one, you then t.r.cèdV 

the course of the other, and the one that you traced in- the 

second instance you are now talking about? A I used it in. 

It its course, it went through the lung, 

extensive hemorrhage in the right chest. 

bullets, which I have now in my possession. 

two leaden bullets to Mr. Wasservogel.) 

people's exhibit No. 7, and people's exhibit No. 8, o 

A What I g0 t inqUiring who the dead 



Doctor, -the same body tiv0 ou saW .n the presentle of 

Abretkain: adlilvarts44444 man who waa at the ra 

moment „ 

.read b. the stenographer as to 

Was e body upon which this autopsy *as .perfOl*, 

'Doctor., the same body that you saw in the presein0.e 

Abraham Schwaitpmann, the young man who watt at 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: • That is all, Doctor. 

Young gentleman, I omitted to ask you a question 

and It is this: When you were before the Coroner, was this 

question put to you, and was the answer whioh I shall read. 

the one yougave: "I was there that morning, and asked the 



sa.ict 'never mind the bre 

six dollars', and I figured i up 
W8, filte d.011ars; I offered him five dollars, and he 

refused and went out mad. Afterwards he eame 

you testify to that before 

You deny that you tegtified to that, "afterwards 

You say you did not say that before the coroner; 

? Talk up? A I don't remember saying that. 

You did not see him come in after that, did you? 

And you remember Doctor Reigelman, the gentleman 

over there (Indicating)? A Yes, sir. 

I thinlryou told us On your direct examination 



improer re direct. 

well, it is not redirect, but, 

the discretion of the Court, it is allowed 

will be given full opportunity to examine on it. 

You were going to explain, Doctor* when 

interrupted you, what you Meant by cerebral and those other 

latin terms? A The course of thebullet, in other words, 

went from the right side of the head, to the left, and some,. 

what posterially, lacerating the brain. Of course, be ha. 

an extensive hemorrhage in the head, KIIE as Well as the 



now to the, wound in the .head , that was s 

Downward, and toward the left AsSUMin 

'body to be sta.niding at the time, the wound in the body 

directly downward, and also to the left, assuming the be  

be Standing.* The cause of death was - 

THE COURT: Your objection is sustained. 

Aas not volunteered before. Proceed. 

Q From the pathological conditions found by you, Doctor, 

MR. CURTIS: I take an exception. 

He died from lasceration of the brain 

cerebral hemarrhage, ..•f. tiem_orrhage tp.gh. eliov4Ao.x) 



led as a mltness 

testified 'as 

tt dt Lillian Sagor4 

There do you liver? A 2677 Third Avenue, 

How old are you? A Fifteen and. one-half. 

When were you fifteen? A In May. 

(I Try and•taik loud, as loud as you can.  

-THE COURT: Don't.be at all afraid.. This roaa is a:. 

large room, and you want • to talk loudly enough so that. 

everybody hears you. Will you do that? 

THE COURT: You will have to say that over again, 

(1 How far is that from 261,5 Third Avenue? 

Q Do you know who kept the store at 261 



chieartz. 

im as -Schwartz? A Yes; 

What kind of a store was it  A Delicatessen 

and grocery store, 

q Were you in that store at any time on the 13t 

October of last year? 

AR. WASSERVOGEL: She knows him as Schwartz. 



qt• 

ou-dari, 1107' s' mr rA4111 At was 

lgOth4nt bwb amnQt:811re 

is first haMe? 11. 

did you remain in the stoie? 

,min1408* 

Q YoU were in the store? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did anybody come in? A Yes, sir, 

Q Who came in? A Geller. 

Q Who do you mean by Geller? A The clerk of the 

cl Did you ever see him there before? A Yes, SIX. 

When he came in, what was said or done by anybody? 

A Schwartz went to the register and put some money up on •1:. 

counter, -and Geller took it, and he walked out and sal& "Go04, 

bye". 

Q That was all? A Yes, sir. 

Q Nothing else was said/ A No. 

You don't know how much money was handed to him., do you? 

A No, sir. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is all. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. CURTIS: 

Q Where do you live, do you say? A 2677 Third Avenue., 

Q Had you ever known Geller before? A Yes, sir 

Q, Where did you know him? A Prom the grocery store. 

Q You had met him in that grocery store? A Yes,otro. 

Q Do you remember what day in the ve* 011twas? A Sunday 



you OaY was in that store Icte040:yo 

Another woman. 

'Do :you know what her name was? A 

OatMan. Have you seen her here today? A Yea., 

She was there at that time? A Ye.s sir 

I went to get some 

And that is the way in which you Fut acquainted with'4r., 

Schwartz, as you call him? A Yes, sir. 

Q And voi„ only knew him by that name? 

While you were there there was no trouble, no ph,yeical 

conflict, or shooting, or anything of that kind? A No, sir, 

Q So fur as /ou saw) the whole -thing was amicable 



the clock. 

Did you notice the clock at the time? A re' 

,And this money that was taken out of the regi.8 

you say, was it in bills? A an silver. 

Q And did sie go out about the time :'ou did? ,A No 

You didn't see -Lhe silver, then? A No, sir 

You only saw Mr. Schwartzmann's 'land pass something to 

Geller? A I heard it  way h pu t.e.Iloney down. 

And that de .-119 A Th-t was all. 

Did uu jo irht home? A Yes, sir1 

Q And du you remember 7-lat time it was you got home" 

Did you look at ;he clock9 

Won't citi kindl', ;ell me how it 

and minutes without consulting a clock? 



MON i 

only' about ten nanu. 0 r'e 

BY R.-145SERITQG 

Before ,17 

you saw some money passed' A Not sir. 



Q Is your her here? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Where" In the courtroom? A Outside? 

Q, `Your mother was not there? A No; sir 

Q I what? A I think I know, My mother went to the 

grocery store when Schwartz' brother opened up again, and she 

spoke to him, and she said I was there the time I paid him 

MR. CURTIS: I move to strike that out. 

MR. CURTIS: I move to strike out what her mother said 

THE COURT: I will tell you, under the circumstancesi 

the Court might allow it to stand, with a great deal of 

propriet, but I will strike it out, because you asked. her 

to give the best explanation she could of, how She haP"Perted 

to be brought here, and she is giving you that explanation, 

Q Do you remember when Mr. Schwartzmann opened 



VIMMI ; 

Ye':As, sir, 

Have  you repeated -this story to anbody9 A Yes, sir. 

To whom? A My mother. 

Anybody else? A No, sir. 

(I Did your mother take you anywhere to make anystateMen 

October 13th that you was there, A No, sir, but I 

Q Did you ever see Schwartzmann at your mother's 

Q Did he pass there frequently? A No, sir. 

of tAe time he stopped in, and he stayed a 



.111111. 

ou• first eak:abol# young Lady*? 

Outld QU1f about the aoident. 

did your brOther suggest that you had 

the store that _morning? A No, sir, but 

g: You told your brother - 

BY ER. ITASSERVOGEL: 

Q Told you, and was that the first time you spoke 

Q Your mother. But all the time that you was there.t11, 

was never any difficulty between the two men? 

MR. WASSERVOGN,: She has .answered that. 

MR. CURTIS: I will take the law from your Honor, 

A There was no quarrel between the two men. 

Q, No, fot at that times Wasn't anything said between 

them at the time the silver passed? A No, sir. 



Q And you say you  rec °grazed' t to be sl.1ver by the xloi8e 

de n the 0 0 tinter ? 

And. was 'it the noise of more than one piece? 

How many pieces,. do you think? 

Tin. WAS SERVO GEL I obj ect to what she thinks on tie 

subject. If she knows, it is quite different. The zi 

has not seen the silver, does not know whether it was in 

silver, or not, but she heard the sound of silver as it tam 

put on the counter. Now, that is as far as she can go, I 

MR. CURTIS: I press the question. 

TNT COURT: I will hear. her in full. 

Q (Question read by Stenographer, as follows! "HPITinally 

trained that you can te11 

denomination of a piece of silver 

THE COURT: I will let tie answer stand. 

Q Did :ou iear an:body sigiTest that this was silver? A Noit. 

Who was present men ()11 first marl 



Q, Mid before the Coroner's Inquest? 

VASSERVOGEL: She has not said she.knottm7whOn: 

THE COURT: Objection overruled. 

Q Do you know what is meant by Coroner's Inquest? "4 1Vie 

We will get the date as nearly as we ea 

Was it before November 7th, 19122 

the deceased, and also of his surviving brother, 

before the Coroner? 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I object to that. 

TH COURT: Objection sustained. 

R. CURTIS: I take an exception* 



COtRT: Weii let the answer stdnd. You have got 

rou know, supposing t3a.e Coroner s In,qUes 

_ , 
en place on November 7th, 1912 your mother 

anybody, so far as you know, in your presence, 

fact that. you had been there that morning, 

41 Did any officer come up to your home? 

q Or di d ,Schwartzmann come up to your home? 

you get that from Scthwartzmann? 



eller c e 

u see him open the door? A Yes, sir. 

at was the first thing that you saw him 

did he do first? A He walked UP to the counter like 

14 Vas that up to the samecounter at which ybu•Vere, 

A Yes, sir, next to me. 

And at that moment, what was the man wherIkyvtl-ce, 

Schwartz doing? A He .was waiting on a customer. 

Q Was he waiting on you? A Yes, sir. 

Q You were the customer that was being waited on? A 

Q And when you sa, he was waiting on you, what do rill. 

mean? A I asked him for a certain thing, and he went td 

for me. 

Q And to what part of the store, if you remember '4id 

Schwartz go to get tie thing that you had asked for? A ;Vat in 

the bank. 

(I Did Schwartz come back with that thing? -A Yes, 

As soon as he saw Geller. He came to the register and opened• 

it, dnd took out the money. 

Q Before he brought you what you had ordered? A No h 

came right with the thing I had ordered. 

Q And when he came with the thing that you had ordere 

what did he do with that thing? A He put it on the coter 

and he opened the register. 

Q Now, did you hear, from the time t Gellor came into ••• 



MIN 

gl3Pken.bY--Geiler 

ohWartz_ t 

you diear any words oken by the Inan 

Geller? A No, sir. 

4 lad you hear any words spoken by Schwartz to Geller 
to the time that Geller passed out of the door of the stor& 

A No, sir. 

ct Or by Geller to Schwartz? A Yes, sir, 

Q Did you hear Geller say anything to Schwartz? AYes, Bin 

Q, Was that said before, or after, you heard the silVer 

A Just as he was going to open the door, he said,"goOd bye. 

Q You heard - who did ;ou hear say "good bye"? A Geller. 

What word did he speak, did Geller speak? A English. 

out. 

He spoke 

And who 

in English? A Yes, sir. 

did he speak to? A SchwartZ. 

Q And what did Geller say? A 

Q, Didn't say anything else? 

"Good bye", and-he Waked 

A That was all. 

THE COURT: Do you want to examine her any further? 

MR. CURTIS: No, sir. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is all. 

MR. CURTIS: Oh, can I ask the young lady one question? 

THE COURT: Yes. Come hack. 

BY MR. CURTIS: 

(1 Young lady, do ,rou speak Yiddish? A Yes, sir. 

(I That 18 a dialect of the Hebrew? A Yes, sir. 





et being fir., 

the official interpreter 

•Villains:la, testified as follows: 

,DIRECT =mann= BY MR. WASSERVOGEL: 

What is your name? 

And your place of business is where 9 A 261 7 

Q, And do you know the man who owned that store 



S store. 

Did you, Sae Rafael Schwartzmann on the day of the 

*hooting? A Who is that Rafael Schwartzmann? 

The man who was shot? A Yes sir. 

1R. CURTIS: I object to that form of question, 

he can ask if he knew Rafael Samartzmann. 

THE COtJ.T: Ask him if he saw the man who he says 

with respect to the shooting? A I went over to deliver some 

coal to one of my customers, In coming back, passing in front 

of this store here, I heard the report of a pistol. I turned 

around, and I saw a man with a pistol in his hand, pointing 

this way (Witness indicating by raising up his right hand 

and pointing). I saw then the man with the pistol in his 

hands come out on the didewalk, and the boss of the store _ 

— go after him, and when he gut near the door the man that fired 

the first shot turned back, fired the second shot, and I 



the same building where this thing occurred., ,on he top 

floor. 

q That is in the building 42615 Third Avenue/ 

the building (Showing People's Exhibit #1 to witness)?;  

Q And the entrance to that building is right next t 

entrance to the delicatessen store, A Yes sir, 

ER CURTIS: That is rather leading, if your 

Well, is there any dispute about 

Q How far were you from the delicatessen store when 

Q Did you look into the store after hearing the first 

locked into the store, what did you 

(1 Did you recognize the man who had the pistol in hia 



ere the proprietor of the store was? Be was 

the counter, near the cash register. 

ct What do you mean by inside the counter? Behind 

the counter, or in front of the counter? A He was behin 

And did you see the man with the gun go out of the 

TER,. TThTIS: I submit the proper way to examine 

the witness is to ask him WLat he.saw and heard. The 

questions of the TAstrict Attorney are very suggestive 

of an answer, and we should not, it -seems to me, be 

subjected to that style of examination. 

After ycu saw the man with the gun going towards 

the door, towards the street, what did you see the proprietor - 

do, if anything" A He went after him. 

CI What do you mean by "He went after him". Did he 



80'414n 

COURT: There is no use arguing 

Cui7t -19.. The objection is sustained to the las 

et the question. 

MR. CURTIS: I think counsel ought to pursue,-

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Now, Judge Curtis, let the, COUt 

run this Court. Don't you interfere. We have had ePoug 

of it. 

MR. CURTIS: I don't think it is right, and when, 

• MR. WASSERVOGFL: Has your Honor ruled on thija.. 

matter. I think your Honor has. 

THI COURT: From this time on, after a question 

has been put by Mr. Wasservogel, before the witness 

answers, if. you have any objection to make, you mAy.ltake 

your objection and the court will rule. 

MR. CURTIS: That will occupy so much time; I don't 

want to do that. 

THE COURT: That is the course to pursue, from 

this time on. Now, the last clause in that question 

is objectionable. The question may be refrained by 

asking the first part. 

(Question read by Stenographer, as follow-81 "What 

do you mean by he went after him?)? 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I press that question. 

THE COURT: That I will allow. 



or, And then this efendan 

second Shot,. Then I saw the proprietor of 

(1 And did you see what the defendant did if anYthing, 

at that time? A I saw this defendant thorw the pistoL in 

the street, I saw some blood there, and I got soared and I 

TH7 COURT: (To tl-e Interpreter) Now, you have not 

translated the question as put by the Assistant District 

Attorney, and you must be careful to make your transla—

tions correct, He was not asked whether he had ever 

said anything about these things before. He was asked 

whether he had testified regarding them before, Ask him 

plain to him, Mr. Derby, by your question, what you 

cl Did the police officer who arrested the defendant take 



Ilow long ,after the shooting? —A About a wee 

(/ Mid be tell you that you would be required to• 

Yes Sir. 

received a subpoena, but I do not know if it 

_here, or Where, but I come here, I couldn't remember the •date; 

Well, on November 7th, did you go to the Coroner's 

Court, up in the Bronx., A I didn't went to no Court. I onl 



BY lEEL D 

Were you standing in front of the store, or in frlin 

of some other store, when you heard the first shot? A 

rigbt in front of this delicatessen store when I heard Abe 

How long did you stand looking in? A About half a 

Did yuu see all the things that you have told us 

about during that half a second? A I saw the first shot, 

and then, after the first shot, they, come out back, and! 

saw the second shot fired, and there elapsed about half a 

Q Was it open at the time that you heard the first 

forr or express Iny opinion thereon, until the same is 

(The Court accordingly took a recess until 2 P. I 



N. 0 3I0ACESTR 0/ resumes the 

CROSS 1X.MI3TATION CONTINUED BY YR. DERBY: 

Will you look at People's Exhibit #1/ photographt 

of .the premises where this shooting occurred/ (Handing sam 

to witness). 'Please indicate Where the delicatessen storo 

belonging to the deceased was  A This is the store (Indilm 

would like the witness to make imark where he was 

standing at the time he saw these events that he has 

related as having happened inside the store. 

At the time he heard the first shot? 

At the time you heard the first shot, where were 

standing? Will you make a mark, please. A Is this the 

next to the delicatessen store (Indicating on People's 

Mr. Derby, you might state it. He has made a mark 

ust about the centre of the front of 



iamBY: Centre of the sidewalk tn frOn 

oatessen stor e. 

see what happened inside the store 

A I looked through the open door, and you 

Now, when you first looked into the store, where was 

the deceased, Schwartzmann standing? A He was behind the 

A In the back part of the store? A No, right in the 

middle of the store, where the cash register ie.() 

And where was the defendant standing. Geller? A 

BY TEN COURT: 



iD•ict the defendant, Geller, move from that positio 

Yee sir, he started to come out. 

Q, Started to come towards the door? A Yes sir. 

Q And you saw that Schwartzmann followed him? A 

Q You went into your basement before 

Now, is it not a fact, that when the policeman came 

In front of the store with the defendant Geller, that you 

stepped up and said "What is the matter, what's the matter", 

(To the interpreter) Your translation 

was not correct because you put in "Step up from the 

THY WITNESS: What should I ask the policeman 

all 
that for, when I saw thatoocurred. 



TIMIWITtESS: 

Q You did business with SchWartzmann previous 

delivered him ice, and he .paid Me f 

Q Mo you still do business with his brbther? A 

he has got one business, and I have got another kind Of buS 

Do you sell him coal,' A Yes sir, and ice and woodt 

To whom did you first tell about this shooting, about 

having seen this shooting? A When T received the subpoena, 

I come down here, and I then t told the Court. 

Q Who was the first person that you told? 

tleman here, through another Italian Interpreter who asked e 

Referring to Mr. Wasservogel. 

Q Did you tell Schwartzmann's brother? A Yes sir, 

the policeman came down to see me, and he asked me something 

about it, but I couldn't explain to him. ffe asked my 

Q And how long was that after the shooting? A A week 



WAS01:0063t: Just one question. 

RE-DIRECT PalrAEINATIM BZB. WASSERVOOLt 

Q. X* lou'aell ice and coal to Schwartzmann's brot 

now? A No sir. 

the second shot, where did you 

I understand you to day, on your direct eV* 

you then came out of your.basement? A Yeom 

it then that the policeman had the defendant 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WASSERVOGEL: 

And have been for how long? A Two years and six month 

Were ycv in the neighborhood of 2615 Third Avenue on 

At about what time? A About 10:15. 



.146 
.anYt4ing. that )74cte4..3rOur attention.to. 

041,e- ieiti440.0 

Q And how far *Obi: •619.- Third Alreriile:*erS..Yo 

.110Ard,,t1:1e- :1407401 4100 A Well I should jUdge.i.a 

f*e 

. q which direction? 

BY TIM COM1T: 

the officer had run across the street a little bit before 

me, and I seen him take hold of this defendant, and I didn't 

bother much then, but I went into the store, and I seen the 



took him and turned him over, and there was a bag ocntaiii 

rice there; I laid that on the floor, and laid his head on 

it, and I ran to the back, extreme end of the store, t* :.& 

sort of little living rooms, a sink, and I took a pan of 

water and a towel, and I tried to stop the flow of blood. 

(;), And with respect to the uptown or downtown wall of 

the store, what direction was his head. A His head wae 

laying towards the back of the store, to the easterly di-

rection---to the west, at least, your Honor. 

Were they outside,the door, or inside? 



.102 
q Row were 412,h4-11d0? 4 Be VAS 14 in orimPe4 

PO.82 l'bUn 1. didn. 

reaU take - notice o where his hands wer 

and straightened him around, and laid his 

rice, and then T went in the room and Imix tried to 

tloodo 

BY R• WASSERVOGEL: 

on the ground? A He was unconscious. 

Was there any person in the store besides yourself 

when you stepped in there, anybody else besides the person 

on the floor" A Vo sir; quite a few people started to 

collect right there and crowd into the door way, but I didn't 

really take much notice of them. I thought more of assist-



• 

 q Wat it nearer ten or ten fifteen? A Well, 

• 
- ten fifteen. 

q When you came up to the store-, did you see the la: 

witness, the Italian—what is his name? 

TH COURT: He may stand up and come forward. 

(Witness Savino Jioacchino stands at bar of court).. 

was cpaite a crowd of people collected 

didn't identify anybody. There 

Q, Did you find the deceased lying in the doorway? 



Ore 

over'the threshold' A 

re was that or goad you  

The front was about eighteen 

about forty feet. That 18 just a roughl, es 

notice of the counter or anything  

Q Did you start to run as soon as you heard the first 

Q What were you in the act of doing at the moment when 

you heard the first shot? A I was, walking back to wua 

returning to my quarters for my breakfast. 

Q, And where were your quarters/ A 125th Stree: 



4t441-#11 

g: And yo.4r address was between what 'tree:tin. 

153rd Street.. 

lz So that you were coming from 153rd Street dOWP 

125th -Street? A Yes sir. 

Q And you were walking on the sidewalk, on Third AVOtt4t 

A Yes sir. 

Q Going down town? A Yes sir. 

And you had gut to what point when you heard the firz& 
A 

shot?Between 140th and 41st Street. 

Q, How far did you walk from the time that you heard  

)ho first shot until the time that you heard the second 

shot? A Well, I don't believe I walked at all. I was con-

fused, and I stood there. 

Q You stopped? A I stopped, yes sir. 

Q How long was it according to your best stimate, 
(, 

between the time when you heard the first sho nd the time 

when you heard the second shot? A I should say about a min-

ute, or possibly ci little more. 

BY MR. DERBY: 

Q, When you first heard the ehots, when you first 

looked towards the store, did you see the Italian standing. 

in front of it. A No, I didn't take notice of the Italian 

MR, DERBY : That is all. 



108 
S S I 3 0 K U N, 041:1ed ae. a witnese on behalf 0; the 

people, being ir8t duly zworn, and ,eXtuained through 

PIlkBat ExAmINATIOi BY MR. WASSERVOGEL : 

Inotat is your name? 

Where do you live? A 2609 Third Avenues 

Q Where did you live, Mrs. Okun, in October Oflaet 

years? A 2809 Third Avenues I have been living there tor 

Your husband has a store there, has he? A Yes sir. 

That kind of store is it? A Shoe store. 

Is this the store shown on this picture, PeopleiS 

Exhibit /72 in evidence, (Handing witness People's Exhibit 

rel Did you know the proprietor of the delicatessen 

0 And where were you at the time of the shooting? A 

Q And after you heard the shots, what did you do if 

anything? A My kitchen is in the basement, and I ran up to 

my store, to find out what ha ppened, 



BY 1R VASSERVOUL: 

q And how far was he at that time from the dplioatetee 

store? A He was nearer to the street than to the store, on 

Q And while the defendant was in the custod X the 

e officer, did you say anything to the -defendant? "Ye 

Q Now, what did you say, and what, if anything, 4id 

say? A T asked him who did it, who did it, and be ahowered 

"He didn't want to give Me the dollar and he went to .the 

"He did not want to give the 
delkhe

 goes to the devil",

 

R. WASSERVOGEI„: No; I beg your pardon. 

ME DJitBY: What the official interpreter says, 

I understand the language. let 



.416111144 Ns'. .64" 

I object to that statement and move to 

What was done after that, if you recall? A I don't 

(4, Did you visit the delicatessen store of Schwartzmann 

Inett I 



.1c was it :between the time tha 

of that deli-cateisen store on that morning, and t 

when as you say, you saw an officer have hold of thi'd040, 

ant? A I cannot remember exactly,, because I was busy. 

arrest? A He said "He didn't want to give the dollar; he 

him in the hands of the police before you saw him in the 

hands of the police" A No, I did not. 

Q Did you see him at any time while you were in the 

delicatessen store on that morning? A No, I did net. 

Q, When you were in thc delicatessen store that Morning 

who were in that store? A Schwart;„ 

Q Did you see Lillian Sagor in the delicatessen store 



a that.#010411 

when she entered the store 

11:0114008 of the other WaittM 

do not know. 

BY KR* DERBY: 

I took what I wanted, 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WASSERV0(1FL: 



..t.imteaq,"••••••••••••• 

-hat store at all, or ifl the neighborhoo 

ore, that morning? A Yea sir 

At about what time  A Well, I had. passed 'nisi* 

twice previous to ten o'clock. 

At or about ten o'clock were you in that neighborUo 

A About five minutes to ten I passed it. 

cl And after that were you again in the neighborhood? 

near as you can recall? A We 

of this address, which is 2615 Third Avenue, and at the 

same time I saw a man leaving that crOwd, going north. 11 



at away Were you at that tim 

be one hundred an-• 

seen thitt one man leave the crowd. 

Vhich man do you mean? 

Q, The defendant, Eli Geller. 

He went north on the. 

Did you at that time go into the store? 

Q Did you talk with the defendant then? 

A He said "I did"; I placed him 



• "'" 

Did ymhaVe ,,Box other talk with the defendatt 

Mien the pistol was handed to me, I asked him if it wa 

1*11,i$* and he Said it was. Then I took him back it front 

2615 Third Avenue/ where the deceased was lying, and aske 

ant wouldn't take that so he told the deceased if he, did 
, 

....16.000u4"*essweswootasestaanognaracasexAm..vnr,
 

not he would shoot him, the deceased; 

said, told him to go ahead and shoot, which he said he did . 

do  

Q. Did you theh take the defendant to the-station 

house? A Yes sir, 

Q At the station house, did you have any ather talk 

with'him1 A I asked him where he got the pistol. He said 

THE TENTH JUROR: 



10A have it". That was at the station house. And I retase - 
to do SO. 

Keep your voice up, please? A I refused to do so. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I offer the gun in evidence. 

Objected to on the ground there is nO 

al proof that is the weapon with which the homicide Was 

(Received in evidence and marked People's 

found two empty shells. 

Q, Are these the 



Q1 When you took the shells out of the gun what* 

anything, did youdo with them? A I marked the Shells  

and. marked the gun at the same time, and I kept the gun IA 

my possession, until it was turned over to the property 

MR. WASSERVOEL: Now, if your Honor pleases, RI 

if they want us to produce the property clerk down here* 

I will do that, if they insist on it. 

MR DERBY: We insist on nothing. We object to 

MR. WASSERVOG1L: You don't dispute these were in 

the possession of the property clerk9 

MR. DiRBY: We uc nothings Our objection is on 

We don't insist on anything. The pi 



THE COURT: The Court is satisfied, 

irogel-that the evidence sustained the admission 

Ipistoi in evidence. If you want to have these:1AX 

(I Do you know Who else was there upon that occasion? 

A I know his two brothers were there. 

Q, And who el8e? A Anu the doctor, the Coroner's 



I first Sa 

in Ors English language, you-say? A Yes Sir, 

.44 Did you make a memorandum of what the defendant said 

to you and what yell said to him at the time? A No 

You did not ever put it down in writing? A No -o 

Was your recollection of that conversation as 'good At 

the time you testified at the Coroner's Court as it is to 

How long after you placed the defendant 

did you say anything to him? A Well, I 

exact words? A The exact words were, mut 'I did it'. 

A Yes sir. Q Is that all he said? A Yes sir, 

Is that correct, that that was 



aLL the defendant sai0 

4r9nert 

"Tare t 

tiarrec A 

answers that I have just Tea 

think so, if I remember ri 

Q, Were youotelling the truth when you said that 

1 the defendant said to you?- A That is what I 'tuts 

You now relate a number of other things that the defena 

ant said tp you? A I have related more in the Coroner's 

, when you were before the 

Coroner, you said things which 

What did you mean when you made the answer "Yes sir" 

to the question "'Is that all he said?"? 

tell the Coroner znykktmg, in any part 

pf your testimony, that the defendant had told you that he 



deb.easedi that if the deceased CILd not pay plin the money, 

,ettify in the orone 

Are you. sure? A Positive. 

Q I show you your testimony in the Coroner's Cbgr 

and I ask you to pick out for me the testimony you gave 

in the Coroner's Court to the effect that the defendant 

told the deceased that, if the deceased did not pay him, 

he would shoot him? (Handing Coroner's Minutes to witness: 

A Well, there might be a mistake of one word or so. 

Q W111 you look through your testimony--

sir 

THY COURT: Will it be conceded by the people tha 

this is a correct copy of the minutes? 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Yes, there is no question . 

about that at all. We can save a lot of time here. 

(Witness examines minutes handEd to him by Mt/. 

Derby.) 

Have you read ycur testimony through, officer? A Yes 

Q Will you point out that testimony to me (Stenographer 

reads question as follows: "I show you your testimony in the 

Coroner's Court and ask you to pick out for me the testimony 

you gave in the Coroner's Court to the effect that the 

defendant told the deceased, that, if the deceased did nett 

pay him he would shoot him. U) Can you find that, officer? A 



; 

VASSEilVOCTIn! That is objected to. The minit 

speak for themselves. 

TH COURT: Objection sustained. 

Q You confess after reading the whole of your test±asn 

that you are unable to find that? 

Q Do you state, after reading your testimony thr 

can't find it here, no sir. 

0 And yet you swear that you gave such testimony to 

the Coroner's Court? A I think befere I came to that,. I 

Q You think new you did not testify? it When"I read 

The obA,ection is sustained? 



In there, That is, I 

Chair afore came to that part of it. 

Ali Don't you think the testimony that you gave 

eeke  *tea" this shooting is more reliable than the testiM64k 

you are giving to day? A I don't think so. 

(1 You think your recollection is just as clear o day 

as it was then? A It seems to me so, yes sir. 

MR. DERBY: That is all. 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, WASSERVOGXL: 

Q You looked at minutes a short while ago,' A  

Q, See whether this question was not put to you in 

the Coroner's Court and this answer given by you: °M.,. 

cer, kindly tell the jury what you know about this case/ 

Now, see whether you did not give this answer "I was patrolliAR 

north an Third Avenue near 141st Street, at 10:15 October 

13th, when I heard a pistol shot, and just then a car was passi. 

ing south. As the car passed, I looked back to Where I 

heard the shot, and I seen a small crowd collected, and the' 

defendant here was the only party I seen walking away from 

where the car was." Did you say that part9 A Yes sir. 

"So I approached him, and both met about 140th 

Street, and at the same time I seen a 32 calibre pistol 
and seized 

right near the gutter, so I approached this man , tansy* him 

Did you say that? A Yes sir. 



Q d took him back to the scene of the er 

ou say that, officer? A Yes sir. 

Q That is, before the Coroner, "Where there Was a man 

lying in the hallway with two shots in-the shoUlder and ti:e 

to pay him four"_. Did you say that in the Coroner's Court? 

(4 "And that this fellow" referring to the defendant, 

"would not take the four; he wanted to be paid in full." 

Did you say that in the Coroner's Court? A Yes sir. 

.Q And when he would not pay him in full, that is the 

reason he shot him". Did you say that? A Yes 81r 

Q, "Then I took him to thetirration house". You did not 

notice that, when Mr. Derby handed it to you? You were a 

little bit nervous,probabiy? A Yes. 

RE-CROSS EXAMIYATIOY BY MR DERBY 

threatened to shootmif he did not pay him? A When he would 



,01..engoley.se 

asserVogel rss 

breat to the deceased to Il 
• 

R. USSERVOGEL: Objected to. The testimon 

speaks for itself. 

MR. DERBY: It certainly does. That is all. 

MOMW01.4..e. 

• 

THE PEOPLE REST. 

MR, DERBY: Your Honor at this time, we renewall 

tIe motions we made at the opening of the case. I don't 

want to go over them again--the motions for the dismissal 

of the indictment; and at this time we make a further 

motion to dismiss the indictment, or direct a verdict 

of tkm acquittal on the ground the people have failed 

to establish a case. 

TE7 COURT: I deny your mcticn Mr. Derby, and you 

have an exception. 

MR. DERBY: Fxcepticn. 

T.HE DEFEWDANT'S CASE. 

Mr. Derby then opened the case to the jury on 

behalf of the defendant as follows: 

Now, gentlemen of the jury, in this case the 

defendant will himself take the stand, al though, 



under 'the law, he is not ccmelled t give tetiinønyk,a:H4cl' • 

although 

$1.1a.33i no  74. 

4;10• tinildezttgit: 

tlio.d...agailist 

going to take the witness stand and teU 

Yva the story of how this shooting occurred.' 
The deIendant is a young man, about twenty years 

old. He comes from Russia. He had a very good education:. 
other 

on the side. He is a young boy of intelligence well 

brought up and before he came to this country was 

working as a clerk in a lawyer's office in Russia. 

At the time of this shooting he had been in the 

United states for less than six months, and had a very 

superficial knowledge of the English language. He knew 

practically no English at all. 

He worked at several places in New York before he 

ber 23rd, as the Witnesses have testified, he went to 

work for the deceased, Schwartzmann, and it was arranged - 

at that time, or shortly after the defendant went to 

work for Schwartzmann that the defendant was to be 

permitted to get away from the delicatessen store at 



cotzld 

night, as the deceaSed w 0 

herefore, he would have terminate 

miont and. get a job elsewhere and that he wante 

paid off. 

The deceased Schwartzmann, told him that if 

left that evening there would be nobody to deliVer 

the orders on Sunday morning, and' told the defendant 

to come back and deliver the orders in the morning And 

then they would settle up, and the defendant could leave. 

The defendant came back about six o'clock on SUndNy 

morning, October 13th, and got the parcels to take to. 

the various customers and 'deliver them, and got b ack 

the store about 8 o'clock. 

He then asked SchwartzmAnn to pay him off, and 

Schwartzmann wanted tot\know how much money was due 

him. The defendant said $6. 

He was working for p12 a month, and in addition, 
4000 

1,3 was paid for his board and lpdging. 

He had worked 20 days; that is two thirds of'a 

month, two third of thirty days, and he was entitled 

to two thirds of $12, that is, $6. He had been paid 

$2, and he told the deceased there remained $6 coming 

to him. 

TWIN ; 

6 



yOU want 

The defendant said "Where is your conscie4C0 

Schwartzman says "Well, in this country, nobody  

lay 00neCience. You can sue me". 

The defendant refused to accept the four dollars, 

and he went out and took an elevated train down tewh, 

where his aunt lived, somewhere on the East side, some 

where in the neighborhood„af grand Street, I believe, 

or Madison Street, I believe it is. It took him, I sup-

pose, the larger part of an hour toget down town and be 

went ul into his aunt's home, and saw the little boy 

playing around. ;His aunt was still in bed, just woke up. 

The defendant wantedher advice as to what he should do to 

get the proper amount coming to him, but when he found 

his aunt still in bed he decided to go out and he 

went cut to a little restaurant on Grand Street and had 

a small meal; and then he determined not to bother his 

aunt with the troubles, but to go back uptown, and, 

if he couldn't get any more,to accept the $4, and let 

it go at that. 

He went back up tcwn, and gct to the store about 

ten o'clock. He found Schwartzmann there and went in 

and said, if I remember rightly, that he would take the 

$4 and Schwartzmann said that, as he had not accepted 



• 

11)0110YA.-

2he deceased Schwartzmann, there upon•We 

the back of the Store, and returned with a gun, Teturne 

With a pistol, and started to make an assault Uptrit he, 

defendant, and the defendant, whom, you will see if 

you observe him on the stand, is a very powerful young 

man, tremendously strong arms and chest, grabbed the 

arm of Schwartzmann and took the pistol away from him. 

Schwartzmann retreated behind the counter, went near 

where the cash register was, and the defendant thought 

. 
that he was going to open the register and pay him the  

money. He did not do t,hat, and the defendant learned 

over the counter and said to pay him this money. 

Schwartzmann then made a sudden grab for the pis-

toll and in the struggle over the pistol the first 

shot was fired, and Schwartzmann was hit. 

The defendant didnot know at the time that Schwartz-

mann had been hit, or seriously hurt, and the defendant 

started towards the door, and when he turned around to 

look back before ht went out, he found that Schwartzmann 

was following him, and he believed that Schwartzmann 

was armed with one of the cheese knives that they 

use in the delicatessen stores and he fired a second 

tkat time, as he says; to frighten Schwartzmann, and the 

Ms, 



second. shot was fetal, 4iPCI$$ 011iarti44nri '4ropp 

If warumital was puruug0:040 

the people s own wi sfi4 

f he Was after this Man With a 

argued to you quite properly,. that 

was not going after him for any innocent pUrpose. 

GELLE R, the defendant herein, called as a 

ness in his own behalf, being first duly sworn, 

examined through the official interpreter, Edward J. 

Rosenthal, testified as follows: 

(Through the Interpreter) Grodn0 



was.t 

TsSl.f. :and other)31embirS or Your 

ather and. Mother, 

useian, and with the'friende, we spoke 110e42 

nd in the school that you went to what lah 

Npoken? it Russian. 

THE COURT: Well, he may be more familiar wi 

Q And the questions that have been put toyou by Ow. 

Court have been interpreted to you in the Yiddish Language, 

and your answers have been given in that language? 

R DERBY: I.object to Mr. Wasservo7e1 examining -

THE COURT: It is a fact that questions have been. 

pt to him in Yiddish, and the answers made in Yiddish, 

But I consider it is possible that TIV may speak the 

Russian language somewhat better than he speaks the 



bur last name? A Ge 

Ou say you Were born in Grodno, Western Riss 

ii the City of Grodno, in the Western part -of 

Q, Previous to 1903, you were in school, too, were you 

not? A At first, I went to a Hebrew School, and then 

had a teacher to prepare me for the school which I entered 

Q How old were you when you entered school? A 16 

How were you employedbefore you came to this countr 



Of 'last year, l9124. 

Q, Did you sail to New York? A Yes. 

Have you relatives in this country? 

steamer is President Lincoln. 

q Save you got relatives in this coun 

Where does she live? A In Grand Street. 

Can't we come right down to the 

A I found a position through the papers for a man by the nane 

of $hinkofsky,638 Kelly Street. 

Q And What business was he engaged in? A 1e had a 

store, a fruit and fish store. 

Q How long did you work for him? About five months,. 



another 

uncle tb look for a 

4111412 lby-the naftte of Schwartz, thrOUg 
- o 

Schwartzmann? A  Schwartz. 

q to you Mean Schwartzmann, the deceased?. A. T 

brothers, as I read it in the papers. 

Q When did you go to Schwartzmann? A On the gsrd. 

The 22nd was a Sunday, and I star tedon the 23rd, Monday. 

Q Of what? A Of October. 

Q No, September, yo u must mean? 

MR. WASSERVOGhLi He means September. 

Q What was your pay with Schwartzmann? A 12 a 

month and Board. 

How much was to be paid for your board? A As 

far as I know, I ate at his table, and he paid 4,3 a month 

for my room. 

And wItere was your room situated? A In the same 

house, on the third floor or on the fourth floor. 

You mean, in the same house as-that in which the 

delicatessen store was situated? A Yes sir. 

When you were employed by Schwartzmann, was there 

anything said about school A Yee; this was the main point• 

with me. 

Whatwas said between you and Schwartzmann about that? 

A The agreement was that 'should start to work at five or six 



should be enabled to attend school, therefore, I was to 

af every ay at Seven or half past seven o'clock. 

lrow did you enter school? A Yes, I did. 

Q How long before Schwa4itzmann was shot did you èfl 

ten school? A I registered two weeks before that, and 

started to go to the school-- One week after I registered 

I started to go to t}e school, That means that one week 

before he was shot I went to school, 

witness)? A Yes sir; this was given 

Q At the school, you mean? A Yes sir. 



1111141/1;; 

and. I told him I liked the sehoL 

and that the teacher was very good, 

9, Was anything said on Saturday, October L2th, be 

and. Schvvartzmann about school? A Not in the 'evenin 

but in the morning, at 10 

A Saturday generally was my day of rest, Before 

o'clock, or 10 o'clock, is the earliest that I can allow you 

as early as he wants me to come, but in the evening I cannot 

stay in the store until 9 o'clock, not because I am capricious 

but because I want to go to school, and I would not be able to 

go to school going away at nine o'clock, 

. (I Did he say anything else? A And he said he could 



A Then I said "You can pay me- as much 

me_, and I will leave 'you". He said he' _cOuld 

remain alone in the business now, as he had orders to be 

carried to customers on the next morning, on Sunda  morn 

that I should come Sunday morning; and in the meantime he 

look around f r somebody else. I agreed to that, and 

orders to the various customers who had ordered anything, 

and to put things in order in the store. 

Where did you sleep on Sunday night, October l2th*.

Do you see this lady standing here at the rail? A Yes, 

That is Mrs. Goldberg Do you recognize her? (In' 

Sophie Goldberg)? A Yes sir, I lived in her apart** 

What time did you get to the store on Sunday morning? 



AboUt half 

ae Shwartimann there when you arrive 

brothers wer 

em? AAree, he asked me whether I had changed mg 

erhape,, 

(4. Which one asked you that? A The older brother. 

Q The one who is dead? A Ye8. I said that I would 

be willing to teMain and to work there under the original 

the orders to the customers he askedme 

You went out and delivered the orders, did you? A 

what hafpened? A The older brother asked me 

how mach was coming to me and I told him "That is very sim-

ple figuring." I had worked twenty days. $12 a month means 

40 cents a day, and twenty days multiplied by 40 cents 

would make a gall= 08. 02. I had received before One 



ji1vitte eqMin$ te no. He Said he 

asked him ICY. At first, he said that he 

expenses 1ei  printing in the newspapers, looking or an emp 

so I told him, "This doesn't mean anything; T an willing, to 

remain working for you under the conditions gam made wheU•I 

He said he also paid $3 for the place where, 

I was sleeping, so I said that I had slept there enough times 

for that money, and if you want to deduct something for that 

you may deduct something for it, but not $2. So he said, if 

I wanted t take 4 all right, and if not he would not 

give me any more, and I told him I would not accept $4 

cause I cannot understand Why he should make $4 out of 

Q Wat anything else said that you can remember? 



1110431 

When you: left the dialeateteen , 

, And what station did ,you get the train a 

etat.,ion at 14'3rd *Street. 

Where did you get Grand Street. 

Q And then you went to your aunt' e home? 

• Q And that was between what streets, if you know? A TheA 

numbers are on attorney Street. She lives at number 17 •and 

Not Grand Street? 

BY MR. DERBY: 

(1 And what is the day of the week you and yo 



Saturday 1.tin 

$&bbati of the GenUl 

Asppv.0.04.4,. 

y:ou .1tOtitih your 

eit o'clock, I• think 

• .Q; Did • you find your aunt at home? A She slep 

A This I don't know; I don't 

remember. He is a more distant relative of mine, he is the. 

You knew knew him, did 701,1 

(I Was your aunt sleeping in the room in Which you 

MR. WASSE1WOGL: Is it material? I object 

MR. DERBY: Ye8, it is very material, or I 

wouldn't ask it Mr. Wasservogel. 

TH1 COTTRT: I will allow it all. 

]VER, WASSERVOGEL: All right, 

in the next room, 

Did you speak to her before you left? 

That was your purpose in going to your aunt's b 



That is objectionable 

The District Attorney 

ow motive on his side', why shouldn't we show 

"MR. VASSERVOGEL: Motive for crime is ona.thi4 

is is something entirely sifferent, 

gur exception,* 

Didn't you say anything to her before you left? 

Oh, I didn't tell her anything, because she was asle 

IQ, Did you say "Good morning"to her? Did she wak 

A I said "Good morning" When I came in, but the boy answered 

Q So.that you left your Aunt's home without being able 

to tell her that Which you came down town to tell her? A That 



dowri town, 'without Stopping 'On tiV: 

;Stop atlyWherte between the station and your Aunt's house? 

only Stopped in front of a photographer's, to look at the 
photographs. 

Q Al]. the money you had received the month before that -

was the sum of $2 from Schwartzmann, wasn't it xx? A A204 

intention? A I had the intention to go back to the delica-

tessen store and ask -my boss to give me 135, z at least, 

so as not to have any more dealings. 

Did you have a pistol with you When you went back to 

Schwartzmann's? A Until that time I had never seen a re-, 

0 Did you have a revolver on your person at the time you 



elevated railroad statidn up town andget a.reve 

Or did you stop anywahere between the station, on 

Grand-Street and your Aunt's house and get a revolver/ A, Xo. 

q Did 'anybody give you a revolver, or did you get one 

whil you were in your Aunt's house? A No. 

Q Did you have a revolver in your possession When you 

went to Schwartzmann's delicatessen store, about 10 o'oloOk? 

Q, When you entered Schwartzmann's store, on your return; 

who was there? A Only the boss. 

Did you see the little girl, Lilly Sagor, who testi 

I think we will reserve this for the 

in the scale; but I thought if 



1#0: ntre.n0;',:v0 IcUr..1! 

04.-*Itge o the jury. 

• .The-14.0.11:reaStIt for an early iidjour 

ment n a murder case, in a case where the charge ie 
gives 

-murder, is that it is the Stenographer, after 

merit of Court, an opportunity to write out the minutes, 

and they are of great service in the sunmation the 

case by counsel on both sides, the Court generally. lende,* 

ing 1copy to the Defendant' s Counsel, and that is 

something you might not be able to have in the event 

My only object is the on  I tell 

for me until 2 o'clock tomorrow. 

MB, WASSRVoGi: We couldn't finish by 2 olc1-00 

tomorrow, anyway, with the summation, and everything 

else, and, I understand your Honor has an appointment 

TH1 COURT: Now, unfortunately, gentlemen, because 

I consider it unfortunate, I have an imperative en-* 

gagement which I shall be olliged to keep tomorrow afterft. 

noon and therefore, the summation in this case, in all 

probability, will have to take place some time on Friday, 

Well, I will abide by your Honor's 

ruling, of course, and I know your 4ffonqr, would help me 



to Wtelf for another hour, if that is :more a 

o you gentlemen, only tomorrow, at half past 12 

shall be obliged to adjourn court. 

MR. CURTIS: If your Honor will kindly sit valt 

As long as the case cannot be 

finished altogether, until Friday, I don't see What will 

Gentlemen of the jury, you are ad.. 

monished not to converse among yourselves on any subject 

connected with this trial, or form or express any opin-

ion thereon, until the same is submitted to you. The 

Court stands adjourned until tomorrow morning at half 

(The Court accordingly took a recess until tomorrow 

Thursday, January 30th, 1913 at 10:30 A. U.) 



TEE DEFENDANT IS ARRAIGNED AT TEE BAR 

DIRECT EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR. DERBY: 

A I don't know exactly. I think it was about 

Now, when you went in, who did you find there? A When 

I entered tne Store,'nobody was there except the proprietor. 

Q Did you have any conversation with him? A Yes, when 

I entered I told him, "What are you going to do? 'Are you 

Q Relate the whole conversation as accurately as you re- • 

member it? A And then he said, "What, did you COMB again 

I told AiM that I don't want my relatives or friends 

to have an,thing'to do with courts and lawyers; I would rather 

take five dollars, instead of six, and have the whole matter 

settled. So he said "Now you come and :ou are satisfied to take 

less. Before, you .wouldn't take any less; before, you wouldn't--

take -four, now you want five." Then he said that now he 

wouldn't give !ne anything, k..nd I said I wouldn't leave the store 

until he would pay me; so he said "If you don't want to go dX" 



A There was another room, On 

Just as you 

Exhibit No. 

like, gentlemen, 

THE COURT: Pardon me. You better first ascertain 

that he understand the diagram. He may not understand it. 

THE INTERPRETI:R: No, he does not understand it. 

(indicating on diagram)? A (Witness indicates the r 

right behind the other countr 

cl Put a small mark there, a cross? A There is -a room 

after the store, and after that room is a kitchen. 

which is just adjoininp the store. 



147 

The rook that you have mar ed With don't 

of the ro•ok with a revolver in his hand, and •said 

will shoot you", and I said "I didn't come here to o1 

you. I only came here to ask for my earnings." 
that 

tell you", he said, "ii you should get out, or else %ill kill 

Then I got frightened, and I got hold 

right hand, in which he held ti-i.e revolver, and got the revolver 

(1 What happened after that? A This was near the corner. 

Prom this corner he went to the register. 

A I thought that he was going to the regi 

in order to take out money and pay me, and I followed along on . 

the other side of the counter to the place where the register 

was; so he said, "Wht do you want now?", and I said, "take your 

revolver, and give me my money, five dollars. If not six, give 

ale five", and I said, "Now, the revolver is now in my' hands; 

hand. At this moment, he got hold of my right hand, and pot 

hold of taat revolver which was in my hands, and in that second 



1011110111: 

Dd you intend Shoot of  the 'revolie 

lqihether anybody was struck or not. only sa.w that, 

-tight fitft* that, he got hold of a knife. Near him tiro 

largeAtniveswere lying on the counter. 

Q Mat were those knives you saw in the store? *. tl.) 

• You did not know at that time that Schwartzmann had.bpd 

shot? A I did not know, because I saw that he was running *W.4Y 

nd the door was closed 

Q Well, now, after e shot went off., what did you.410?-.: 

BY THE COURT: 

You say you saw that hp  

running away? A He was standing right opposite. me and after.,  

that shot he grabbed the .knife and ran along the counter in thi 

direction of the door, to the door. 

Q And .1/hen c)12 say the door, what door do you mean? Al 

mean that door which leads out into the street. 

q As he was running along, was he running behind the counter 

or on the outside of the counter? A From behind the counts 

Q What did ruu du after ,uu heard the shot? A :When I S647 

him grabbing the knife and coming at me, I thought I would not 

be able to get 'iay from him before he reached me, so I took the 



At. the, littae thet:econd shot was fired, where  you 

--Standing? A. When the second shot was fired, I didn't 

any place, but I was running towards the doorlat the sale,time 

opening the door, to get out. 

q Were you in the doorway at the time the second  shot was 

fired? A No, I was about a step or a step and a half from.  

Q, At the time the second shot was fired, • did you believe 

that you were in danger of your life from a knife that you saw 

in the possession of Schwartzmann? A Yes, I was afraid, andrth 

is the reason Why I fired the shot. I fired the shot thinking 

that with the phot I will Stop him from coming at me. 

What was your intention in tking the shot? Did you aim 

at SChwartzmann? A No, I fired the shot without4aiming at any-

body, because at that time I didn't see anybody in front of me. 

Q What was your purpose in firing the shot? A My aim 

was that he should get frightened from the shot und remain at 

the spot where he was, and not follow me. 

Q, From the moment that you first got the pistol in your 

nand, as you say, until the time that you fired the second shot, 

was the pistol at all times in your hand? A All the tin in 



U havO'PreldclAW at-SChWartp-

wuIeretan 

and on the  Pietoi9 

e other side 

'TB COURT: I think there is no dispute -about tha 

MR. WASSERVOGEL:- There is a dispute. 

TBJ COURT: The witness used an expression a few 

moments ago from which an inference might be drawn that he, 

the defendant, put the pistol down somewhere, and I Merel7 

asked him in order to make it plainner on the record. I. 

understand him to say that there was a struggle for the 

dition of your mind? Were you excited? A After the first shoti 

the first explosion I heard, I didn't know where I was. 

After firing the second shot, what did you do? A 

' ran out of tie store, and -,,rew the revolver into the street, 

with anger, and nobody was near the store at that time. 

Q Did you see the Italian', A And that Italian was not 

tne room into ./hich Schwartzmann uent before he came out 



be,man Was near, 

Do you speak English? A In the store, 

tew words, aa far 'as the names for the various articles 

But beyond that you had no knowledge of English? A,No. 

After you had thrown the pistol away, aid you run, or 

ion. I walked up the sidewalk. 

or downtown? A I can't answer  

I went left) to the left side. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Is "uptown" El Russian word, Mr. 

THE INTERPRETAR: I asked him first whether he knew 

the meaning of "uptown" and "downtown" i at first I said the 

northern and southern part of te City, and afterwards he said 

he did know the meaning of "uptown" andmdowntown". Then I 

used it in the Russian language. 

Q Was all :our converstion with SiFhwartzmann in the 

store durinF tnat morning carried on in Yiddish, or Russian" 



A Xi dclia 

hapend up to th of Yipur axfrSO? Ann. 

44isgmail was wf4 

and. the )oiice-

mn we met n the middle of the street. 

hat did you do with the policeman? A Ie came up ta 

me arid Irsk took me by the arv and led me back to the store. 

Q Had you seen Schwartzmann fall before you left the store 

Q, VThat did you say to the policeman? A I was about -0 

tell - I wanted to tell the -policeman that a disturbance had. 

happened there, because I couldn't tell him that anybo4Y vaS 

killed; I didn't know it myself. But I saw that, the.Poliae 

man was not a Hebrew. Sometimes I know that policemen are, -

Hebrews, and can talk the Hebrew language, but when I saw he 

Did you say anything to him in English? A No, nothing 

Q Did he ask you whose pistol it was, and did yousay 

it was your's? A He didn't ask me anything, and I didn't 



Mann refused to pay Wire.' 

that.  

Did you tell- him that you had told the •-decea',S 

Aae.4iid not pay you You would shoot him? A I didn't 

thing of the kind, because I am not a professional murderer, 0, 

. anYthing of that kind. 

Q Did you tell the policeman that Schwartzmann told y-ou 

go ahead and shoot? A Nothing of the kind. 

Q And did you tell him then that you did go ahead and - 

shoot? A No, I didn't say that. I say now, the second time I 

did shoot him. 

Q Now, 'then you went out of zhe store earlyJin the morn-

ing, leaving Schwartzmann and his brother, did you hold up your 

hand and say "I will fix you, my hands are strong enough yet"? 

A No, I didn't say that, and I, didn't do it. 

Q After your arrest did you huve a conversation with the 

witness Bessie Okun, who testified yesterday? A Yes, after the 

policeman had led me back to the store, she came up and said 'Thy: 

did all this happen"? And I answered hernall this happened, 

perhaps, only on account of one dollar". 

Q Did you say to her, "He did not want to give me the dol-

lar, o..nd he w(;,11t to tile Devil"? A No, I didn't say that. I 

didn't use such words. 

TEE COURT: The Interpreter calls my attention to what 

he says is -an error in ,ne Stenographtac minutes. The In-

. terpreter eaye that the qurd "went", where 1' occurs in Ole 



I4 
brass'to which the witness teatio4 was qa/led 'sbould be "Vet 

URTI hat is and4 àrt 

rery strongly of the impression - , 

TIICOURTI Pardon me, now is 

WASMIRVOGSL: In one place the Interpreter has 

'did not want to give me a dollar, and he went to the dev 

another place he has it "he aid not want to give me a dollari-

goes to the devil." Either one will suit the prosecution. 

MR. DERBY: I don't see that it makes any difference.. - 

THE .COURT: Do you want that changed? 

MR. CURTIS: I only want.it changed to what is right..What 

THE COURT: Then, where tie word "went" occurs, the word 

"goes", will be sub6titUted. 

having used any such words. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WASSERVOGB;L: 

Q, You told us yesterday afternoon that you went to school 

in Russia for three years; is tfat correct? A Yes, sir three years 

Q And the language w_ich you 

and mother was the Yiddish language? A Yes, sir, Yiddish. 
Q In school, the only language Which you were taught was 

the Russian language? A Russian language. 

(1 That was the only language Which you v7ere taught there, 
is it not? A The only language. 

Q, And .iou learned to read in write in Ritssian9A Certainly. 
(1 Will you write your name in the Russian language (hand'. 

ing blank aheet of paper o witness), in Russian? A (Witness 
writes on paper. 

MR. WASSERVOGEI: May this be marked in evidence" 





after you az'ivecl in thisc Puntr Your friends, 

in what laflguage9 

co lQng after your arrival in this  ccUiltrY did, you 

0146 tp htschool? A .About five monthit 

here, al acl. 

And -what school did you go to then? A It s 

it is Rd, 43, High School, Evening. 

q How long did you attend that school? 

Q, Is that all? A Only one week. I registered there be-

fore that time, but I actually went to school only one vireek,_ 

(1, Do you remember when you appeared before the Coroner, on 

CURTIS: 

place before the 

If your Honor pleases, as to What took 

MR. CURTIS: I beg your pardon - 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I object to his arguinp on an ob-

jection which is improper. 

MR. CURTIS: I am not arguinp. I am stating a point. 

THE COURT: Do you object to the question as put? 

CURTIS: I am statinp a point, and it is this: 

object to anything that took place before the Coroner, 

cause the record shows that this person was not examined. 



TAR. CURTIS: I wish you would not anterrut 

WASSERVOGEL: But what is the use of wastin 

TB A COURT: Pardon me, Mr. Wasservogel; I will listen 

to Judge Curtis., uninterruptedly. Now, proceed. 

MR. CURTIS: I object to asking any question with 

reference to what took place before the Coroner of this 

witness, because the record shows that he was not examined' 

there, and, furthermore, that he can't be bound by any-_ 

thinF, that took place before the Coroner, unless it was 

in the nature of an admission, something of that nature. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is conceded. 

MR. CURTIS: That is nay point. I make very few ob-

jections, and I want them, if not listened to with re-

spect by the counsel, I respectfully suggest they be con-

THE COURT: The objection Aces not appear to relate 

the question that is before the Court. So far as the 

question is concerned, i,ti question is allowed. The wit-

ness may anser it.  your answer is either "yes"-, 

or "no", or jou don't remember. 



MR. IEBY: The Word 

He 4L not appear.. An inquest was held. 

THE 'COURT1 You object to the questioli* 

sustained. 

Q, Were you before the Coroner at any time? 

THE COURT: I will sustain the objection. You may adk 

him whether he was present in the Coroner's Court at the 

time there was an inquest in this case. 

THE WITNESS: When I was in court. 

MR. CURTIS: That is objected to, on the ground 

this does not appear on its face 7 that it does not appear 

on the face of this paper that he appeared before the 

Coroner or the Coruner13 court.. It seems to be an examin," 

ution by some subordinate in the clerk's office. 

THE COURT: He is merely asked whether that is his 

THE COURT: The signature alone is offered. 



R. Tip; Brother Derby thinks we will  

the objection. 

THE COURT: There being no objection, the sigria 

is received in evidence• 

and marked People's EXhibit 

IR. WASSERVOGEL: Now, may I show the jury the signat-; 

ure made by the defendant in Russian and the signature Made 

THE COURT: Covering up everything on the paper, so 

that the jury will see the signature alone. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Well, we can tear that off, if 

R. CURTIS: No, I will trust the jury not to read 

the other. We may offer the other part ourselves. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Well, do you want to offer it? 

MR. CURTIS: Oh, no, I will save that. 

People's Exhibit No. 12 to jury.) 

Q Now, this night school that you 



You had. better identify whieh one. 'there 

e two brothel* 

lact. VASSERVOGEL: The Schwa.rtzmann 

R. CURTIS: He testified, if your 

who testifie 

Honor 

Mr.Sohwartzniann toOk the witness chair because he col4d 

T}E COURT: Please do not interrupt, Mr. Curtis. 

MR. CURTIS: I don't interrupt. 

THE COURT: Yes, that is an interruption. 

MR. CURTIS: Your Honor will note an exception. 

THE COURT: It is an interruption and an improper ...(me 

MR.. CURTIS: Your Honor will note an exception. 

As far as I can remember, there was no school on Saturday. 

Q And there was no school:1Sn Sundays() A No, not on 

October 12th Was a Saturday, wasn't it? 

the morning, about five o'clock* 



YoU r-etUrn the same daY9 A I 

not to the Aare to work but to my room, to go to bed. 

Did you go back to the store at all that Satarda 

Was it at ten o'clock in the morning that you had the 

discussion about the night school? A Yee, that was ten o clook 

in the morning, about; I can't tell exactly to the minute. 

Q, You always wo±ked Saturday nights, didn't you? A Satur-

Saturday night is the busiest time in grocery and.th 

essen stores, is it not? A I don't know about that, but. w 

an agreement that on Saturday Rigk I should work until nine 

o'clock, and Saturday should be the day of rest. 

cl And was it at about ten o'clock on Saturday, October 12th,.' 

that you asked for this money and that he refused to give it to 

A Yes, that was t-ie first time that I asked, and he 

refused to pay, and when he also asked me to come back on 



q At that adth4 amount whch *r.P143 Ldue you been 

14140#0o, nothn about that. 

07:::lagbt.‘.. October 12th, you slept in t 

om w1uch.140$';,40,0ighed. 'to YOU by your WitalViarT A Where 

slept, yes. 

YOU didn't go downtown to your 

.an-SatUrday.at all, did you? 

q And you returned on Sunday morning, October 

about se.#4n o'clock; is that right? A, Returned 'where? 

aunt in Attorney‘,8 

At the store, to the store., A From the roo ,where. I 

slept I went to the store in the same house. 

And that was at about what time? A I don't know exactly' 

Was it about seven o'clock? 

Q At the time that you reached the store on Sunday morn,-

ing had you already had your breakfast.) A No, I had never 

any breakfast before I had done my work in the morning. 

(I Well, did you do any work that morning? A Yes, I 

carried the orders to the customers; I poured out the mil into 

bottles, and the brother who was a witness here, he even blPed 

me, and I carried the orders away to the customorb. 



When got  d.own t, the- s ore t at mOrning, did you 

'find it *en, ,or did "YOU open 119 A It seems to Tali that 

after you delivered these orders in the Mori 

ou •then go  upstairs to get your breakfasts? 4 

geaerally had my breakfast in the stare, but that morning 

had no breakfast at all, 

q When was it that you first had a discussion about the 

amount which was due you that day? A Aftet-1 had done my Ivôr. 

and after I had carried the orders to the customers. 

Q. And it was then that you said that you were going awa 

A This was already on Saturday. 

(4, Well, Sunday morning, yol, came back, and then you 

told him you were going away, didn't you? A I didn't say that. 

Q Well, did you tell him on Sunday morning you were going 

to continue to work for him? A I said that, on the former con-

ditions, I would remain working there. 

Q When they refused to accede to your conditions, did 

you say you were going to leave? A This was already on Saturday 

that I said that, if no furtriel' conditions, then we will 

have to separate. 

BY THE COURT: 

Did you say anything on Sunday, in your first con-

versation in the store, about leaving? That is to say, about ' 

leaving your work? A Nu, I didn't say anything. 

p. 



u had your ta 

s was on• Sunday marilirlgi  

q .And then you did tell him you are going away nO\11:, 

A No  I didn't say that. 

q Were you coming back to continue your work the next. 

day, or the same day? A Why, there was already an un4erstan4 

ing on Saturday that we were to separate. 

Q, You did not repeat anything of that? Ana, I didn't re.-

And they finally offered yau how much? A Pour dollars.-

And this you would not take? A I didn't take it. 

And you walked out of the store? A Yes. 

And you were mad, weren't you? A I was not mad. 

You were feeling very - had very pleasant thoughts of 

your employer at that Moment, didn't you? A I was quiet. 

(I That time was this? A I think it must he been about 

eight o'clock, perhaps a little before, or after. 

ct And then it was that you say you went downtown to At-

torney Street, and came back again? A Yes, after some time I 

(1 And you came back at about ten o'clock? 

know exactly, what time it Was. 



to 

see that girl 

the little girl? A Yett 

ore cOming to the store. 

Ita4an 1 -

And ,you have spoken to her, too, haven't you?•AL• IT 

did4lt speak to her, She speaks English. 

Q You can only write English, I suppose? 

MR, DERBY: I object. There is absolutely no evi, ence 

of that. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: All right. Question withdrawn for 

the present. 

MR. DERBY: The question is asked for the purpose of 

misleading 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: The question is withdrawn for the 

pres,ent. 

(1 When you came back to the store, was the door open, the 

door leading to the street? 

. THE COURT: You mean at ten o'clock? - 

MR. WASSERVOGRL: Yes. 

THE COURT: Or about ten? 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Yes. 

A It was closed. 

Q You opened the door, didn't you  A Yes, I opened the 

door, and then closed it again. 

.(1, And when you entered the door of the store, and after 

you ulosed the door,. you and Raphael Schwartzmann were alone in 



there.? A Alone.' 

Raphafp., Sc1iwart2Mann Was 

.s his brother, Abralla24-'-Sohwartzmann 1V4S he mit, 

soeassd:weM a little bit even shorter. 

Abraham Schwartzmann comes up to witness sten 

ands alongside of Interpreter). 

Q Stand up a minute? A (Witness stands up). 

Q, -Ybu may sit down. At that time Raphael SehwartZmann 

was behind the counter, wasn't he? A He stood near the corner-

where the ice-box is. 

Q And the ice-box is in the rear part of the store, isn't 

it? A Yes, in the rear part of the store. 

Q And .the ice-box is behind the counter also, isn't it? 

A yes, behind the counter. 

Andyau were in the front part of the store, weren't youl 

when you came in? A No., I went up to him. 

Q You were not behind the countt:r at any time, were you? 

A No, not behind the counter at any time. 

Q And the first thing you said after you closed the door 

was "give me the money", or words to that effect? A No, I said 

"what will be now?" 

Q You asked him for money, didn't you? A Yes, I asked, 

requested. 

Q And he would not give you any money? A No; after the 

conversation ne didn't want to give any. 

Q up to that time, you had not laid hands on him? A No, 



Nos at first he warned 2fl 

shoot mes d then he went into the rear 

the store• 

And you remained in the mainpart of the store wbile 

nto the rear room in back of the store? A 

was standing near the counter. 

On the outside of the equ nter? A On the outside. 

And he was away about a minute or so? A He came o 

Q, But he went right behind the counter agairi, didn't he 

A No, he didn't go behind the counter. He was just standing 141t 

inside, wasn't it? 
at 

but just/the corner 



TiE INTE'RPREtgff: Interpreter or st nogt4p. 

Eonor? 

THE COURT: Stenographer. 

Q As near as you are to the Interpreter? 

at that particular moment,' A Mat do you mean by saying 

(4, And in which hand did he have the gun? A 

MR. DERBY: It calls for a matter of opinion. 



With both of your hands? A With My right hands E gah 

his hand in -which he held the revolver, and took it away frQm 

and with the left hand ,I pushed him away. 

Q And you took the revolver from his hands? A 

Now, in the struggle to take the revolver froM. him, t 

revolver did not go off, did it? A No, no shot. 

cl And after you had the revolver in your hands, you re-

mained outside of the counter? A Yes, near the counter, out-

between the table and the wall. That means inside the counter. 

ct Well, the counter 

you two men at that time? 

or table, as you call it, separated 

Q We are talking now about the moment after, as you say,. 

you took the revolver away from him and had it in your hand'? , 

A No, the counter was not between us at that time. 

as I took the revolver away from him, he went to 

By the register you mean the cash register, is that 



tbe cash register was on the coma_ 

oXi.. the table, but it was fixed to the Wa 

And the register was behind the counter? A Ye 

Q So, in order to go to the register, he had to go behin 

the counter, isn't that right? A Yes, sir. 

So that, at that particular moment, he was standing a 

the register, behind the counter, Whereas you were standing in 

front of the counter? A Yes, I was then standing on the out-

hand was there, wasn't it? A Yes. 

Q And at this time you say your boss was at the cash 

ere standing at the counter, this way (illustrating)? A Yes. 

And then, as he tried to get the gun away from you, you 

say it was discharged? A Yes, sir, at that moment there was an 

You didn't see any blood? A I didn't see any blood 



q The gun ±emained in your right hand, did it? 

ght hand. 

Q The stoxlalmas still closed, wasn't it A Still close4, 

(1 You say that you saw him going from behind the counter, 

toward the door witaa knife in his hand. Is that what you 

said? A I only saw him grab the knife and start to run. Then 

the spot, not able to move, he ran towards the door, and he 

Q But you are the one that opened the door, aren't you? 

A After the shot, I started to run, and I opened the door.-



the door opeited cr closed, at the time that you 

fired) as You say, the second shot? 

DIRT'S: I o 

z.n the drIal that it is Put. The witness doesn't s 

he fired a second Shot, ITe says the first shot wa 

result of an explosion, and I respectfully submit t 

form in which the question is moulded conveys the 

THE COURT: The question is withdrawn. 

Q At the time that the revolver was discharged for the 

second time, was the door opened, or closed? A Closed. 

MR. CURTIS: It conveys a wrong impression to the jury. 

THE COURT: The objection is sustained. 

So you were still standing in the store with the door 

closed when a second shot went off? 

MR. CURTIS: I beg your Honor 's pardon for my ob-

jection my interruptinn. I object to the form of the 

in the opinion of the Court, is proper. 



outside. 

And your Ifoss was standing inside of the counter-

that time) wasn't he? A I don't know in what spot he wa 

Q You did hear this revolver go off? 

THE COURT: Now, there is BOMB conversation between 

aim at him, but I aimed at a place where he was not as yet, 

so as to frighten him. 

(1 You saw the man's knife, you saw the knife in his hand, 

but you didn't see ne head? 

MR. DERBY: I object to that. That is not what the 

witness stated. He said he saw the deceased talks pick up 



said S'rola did see a knife in this ran 

you say that. s", or "no"? A Yes, I saw it at the 

middle, of the table. 

q And you saw the position in which that knife was held9 

Nb, I didn't see the position 

Q How did he hold the knife? Just like this, this way.: 

I only saw him bend down 

Q You saw your buss fall down on the ground, didn't you? 



in the head 

dd nøt fall to the ground? A In all prQbabi 

ave fallen after I was out of the door, becaus 

he failed beforel had opened the doors I wpuld not 

open the door at all. He was lying just across the 

I came back. 

IQ, You were still mad, weren't you? 

THE COURT: Objection sustained 

Q You were very angry, weren't you? 

THE COURT: Objection overruled 

I was not angry., but I was excited, dazed. 

And you went out on the street, and the first thing you 

as to fire the revolver away? ,A Yes. 

(1, You had no more use for it, did you? 

THE COURT: Oh, I think I will allow it. 

MR. CURTIS: Your Honor will note an exception. 



'ER:* Y1, IS that a question or a stateMen. 

AA:Strict-AttOrneyi 

Nis MAWERVOGEL: All my questions are questions:..,  

MR. DERBY: That does not sound like a qUestiOn4 

BY TB. COURT: 

(1 Is that revolver which is now shown to you the re-

volver, which, as you say, you at one time had in your hand 

on the morning of October 13th (revolver is handed to witness)? 

A I can't remember that, I can't say, because I hadn't noticed 

that revolver very much. 

THE COURT: It will appear on the record that the reia, 

volver handed to the witness is People's Exhibit - 

MR. VASSERVOGEL: People's Exhibit No. 9, your Honor. 

THE COURT: In evidence. 

BY MR. WASSERVOGEL: 

Q And ,c)t1 say when you got out on the street you were still 

very much excited; is that right? A Yes. 

(1 And jOiA walked on up Third Avenue? A Yes. 

Q And you nad gone until about 140th Street when a police 

officer came from behind and spoke to you? A No, that was not 

so at all. 

Q, Well, a police officer did come up to you and speak to 

you, didn't he? A No, we met in the middle of the street. He 

came from the sidewalk, on the opposite side of the stree, and I 



h:i4ijjeó:e up." to u at same time, 

wn 'way. A Yes, we Vet in the middle of the stee 

A And the Officer said to you, "Did you do the rshoo 

inen/A Maybe he may have asked such questions but, 

didn't answer anything* 

(1 And you know what "I do" means, and "I did", what• that 

the meaning of it I know, but "do' 

Q, At any rate, the officer took you back right intent 

the delicatessen store? A Yes, sir. 

Q And there is quite a Jewish population that livvs_up 

MR. CURTIS: I beg your pardon, Mr* District A 

Do you mean, by Jewish, Yiddish, or HepreW? 



id d. you say to her at that time "He _-iroul 

theme  -money; he goes to the devil", or words to tha 

such words I did not use at all. 

THE? TENTH JUROR: May I ask at this time whether 

can repeat exactly, in Yiddishl.what he did say tO- her? 

THE COURT: Is there objection to that? 

(The witness speaks in a foreign tongue). 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I think that is all. 

Q Now, when you signed your name to the paper the DistrJ4 

Attorney showed you, People's  Exhibit No. 12, were you in a 

courtroom, or somewhere else? A From the Tombs I was taken tb° -4 

place; it muy have been a court, and there was a lawyer named 

Sachs, and he told me I should sign it, and I signed it. 

Q Do you know where that office was you were taken to? 



)BR]3Y T1at is all. 

IR. CURTIS: I think we don't wisil to a 

question 



IXDIBITICIALiNATIog 13•Y 04 DERBY: 

watJs your full -name? A Sophie Goldberg.. 

'Where do you live? A 314 Madison Street'. 

q Will you pleame speak up so we can all hear What 

In October, 1912, did you live on Third Avenue? 

that the building in which Schwartzmannis 

A No, that was the next. 

Do you know the defendant, Ely Geller? A Yes sir. 

Did he board with you at aay time? A Yes sir. 

When did he come to board with you, and how long did 



MIMI 

Slinday or, gonday remm 

was boarding with me about two weeks 

And he• left there after about two -weeks? 

tø weeks and two days. 

And, his room was part of your apartments 

a part of the front. 

And when you say the room, which room do you mean? . 

oom he was sleeping in. 

You know other people who knew Geller? 

Your husband? A 1Jo. 

Wh.t? A If my husband knows him? 

Did you know some other people who knew this young 



R. WASSERVOG know him two 

HE lynas never talked 

B. IIRBY: I did not call 

Did you know anything about Sohwartzmann? 

Did. you go into Schwartzmanne s store frequently? 

CROSS EXAlurlIT.ATION BY MR. WASSMVOGiidi: 

The rent for hisroom was paid by Schwartzmana, 

wasn't it? A Schwartz paid my husband for it. 

G OLDBERG, called asawitness on behalf 

of the defendant, being first duly sworn, testified as f011oVitals, 



14r. G lier lived with you for a while before 

Zth. aid-he not? A Yes, sir. 

Had a room in your flat? A Yes, sir. 

Q Did you ever see a pistol in his possession? 

R. WASSERVOGEL: I don't think that is — 

How many rooms -"ere in that flat? A Four. 

Q And in which room did Geller sleepy, if you know? 

Q Anybody else sleep in that same room with Geller? 

There was an old man sleeping, but he moved out about a 



ow elan was- er 

ink about fourteen ot. 

Ibauf fourteen or fifteen 

A But I am not sure how many days exactly*. 

Q What *as the name of the old man who slept 

eszile room during a part of the time that Geller slept 

A t kdontt know the name. 

never came up again. 

And you don't know hi+ame? 

behalf of the defendant, being first duly sworn, testified 

Did the defendant, Ely Geller, ever work for you? 



ut where? A He wor. 

ork, in the Bronx,.. and in Hunter, New York. 

q.

 

What store, what place, what umber? 

for IS; ill 638 Kelly Street, Bronx, and. in Hunter, New YOr_k*: 

BY MR. MOST: ,---

q That is, before he went to work for this man 

Schwartzraan.n? A Before that. 

Q How long did he work for you? A He worked for us 

about four months in New York and about three months in 

Hunter. 

Y u knew him well? A I knew him vuell. 

Q, And other people who knew him? A Other people. 

Do you know what his reputation was for peace and. 

quiet and for truth and. honesty? A Peace and quiet, found. 

Yi.im to be a very willing worker, never had to wake him in the 

morning; he *used to be up at the right time in the Morning, 

and never argued when he should go to bed, never went to bed. 

before his work was done. 

Q, What was his reputation for -peace and quiet and not 

getting into trouble or quarrels? A I never found him to 

be anything but peaceable. He never had axr arguments with 

anybody, always did what anybody told him. 

Is he honest? A Honest, yes. One case of 

hone sty i s--

WASSERVOGRL: I object. 



I have not objected 

questione and answers, which were clearly objettiona 

I think: your Honor has been very tolerant of this witnesø 

MR. DaBY: This man is oh trial for his life 

MR. WA$S1RVOGEL: I know all about it. Another_ 

MR. DERBY: And there is something very valuable 

as to reputation I want to bring out from the witness. 

TH] COURT: It does not bear on the traits of 

character involved in this matter. I will sustain the 

cl Will you please relate the case of hispersonal 

honesty which you have in mind, which you started to tell us 

. that, because the riourt considers it objectionable. 



Kelly Street is in the Bronx? - A 

-Worked for you there for about five months? 

Yes sir. About four months. 

Did. you know, when he entered your employ, bow long 

he had been in the Country? A He entered about week after 

He wanted to go to school, but he was not able to at 

a witness 

t estifi 



Ny. vrhat his reputation 

•-very. goods as far as I know' hinu 

his reputat ion for honesty? A Very goo 

Xar as I hare icooini 

q Has your attention ever been called to Ge lerls 

knowledge of the English language? A Yes, sir. 

Q, Or want of knowledge? A Not to want of knOW1 

Q Has he a knowledge of the Sngligh language? 

Not that I know of. 

-Q /lave you aver spOken to him in English? A No o&r4. 

Q And,- to the best of your information, is he able t0 

speak English? A No, sir, he is not. 

Q He is not able? A No, sir, he is not able to 

speak.Ehglish. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. WABSERVOGEL: 

You don't speak Russian, do you? A No, sire 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is all. 

••••• 

M ORRIS SKLARINSKY, called asawitness on 

behalf of the Oefendant, being first duly sworn, testified 

as follows: -

DIRECT EKAMINATION BY MR. DERBY: 

Q What is your name? A Morris Sklarinsky. 

Q Where do you live? 536 East 135th street. 



ness•are you' en 

(The 'balance of the testimony of this witneEm 

given through the official interpreter, Edward J. Rose 

thal) 

q

 

What business are you engaged in? A Printe 

Q Were you born in this Country? A No. 

Q Where were you born? A In Russia. 

Q "What town? A Grodno. 

Q You coma from the same town as the defendant? 

Yes, sir. 

Q Did you know Geller in Grodno? A Yes, sir. 

Q And you have known him since he came to New York? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q Do you know other people who know him? A Yes. 

Do you know what his reputation is for peace and 

quiet? A Yes, sir. 

Q What is it? A A very good boy. 

Q And for honesty and truth? A, Very honest. 

Q Truth? A A very orderly boy. 

MR. DERBY: That is all. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is all. No questions. 

MR. DERBY: Your honor, I want to offer in evidence 

certain testimony taken in the Coroner's court, and 



Ilikect transcript.* 

TAR.rASSFAVOGBL: I hale no -Object CO-e. 

-T3E. COURT: Either counsel can read- Suc 

ey deem competent. 

DIR. DERBY: No, I simply want in evidence the 

parts of the testimony which were read to the witre Saes 

here. All I offer at this kb= is that testimony to 

which I called their attention, and that .is all there_ 

is before your Honor at the present moment to rule on. 

If the District Attorney wants to offer the rest of the 

testimony later, that is another question. 

THE COURT: I understand there is no point made 

that the testimony was not as read when the questions 

THE COURT: That part is received in evidence, 

and will be defendant's exhibit, whatever it may be. 

In other words, I will receive in evidence the questions. 

purporting to be questions put in the Coroner's Court 



11041141.1' 

in he case, 

IMUSERVOGEL: I think we 'can' save muth 

hAvtag the entire'testimdny of the witness Abrahath 

SChwartzmann taken in the Coroner's court received in 

monished not to converse among yourselves, on any stbject 

Connected with this trial, or to form or to express any 

opinio# thereon, until the same is submitted to you. 

You are also cautioned not to visit the prenises where 



attention. t the ±aet thatwe, had opt -:vat novo es 

• THE -COURT: You 11.alire 

1. etaaids adjourned until to-morrow morning a 

(The Court accordingly 'took a recets Until to.-morrow, 



New.. York', Priday, January 31 
10:30 A. 

.11 I A CONTINUE D. 

Me defendant is arraigned at the bar) 



MOH I 

nd will yoU do that  A lc 

know that /person who does not tell the 

may be punished ff he tells ihat iiuntrue, and isaw 

the time he is telling it? Do you understand that  

Mr. Wa.ssenrogell I think I will al 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY .MR. DERBY: 

I didntt hear that? 

When was the ld.et time you saw him efore that? 



On' a Sunday? A. Yes, sir. 

Was it on Sunday, October 13th? 

exaot date. 

I didn't hear that? A She was in a different room. 



•Vitere were you when he !poke 

dressed? ..4. No, I was awing in bed. 

And, where was Mrs. Simon? A She was in a airfare 

I don't know if She W40 

You will havd to talk louder, my bolilo 

And Geller did not speak to her, only to you? 

Now, your Honor, I offer in evidence 

certain portions of the testimony taken in this case in 

the Coroner's-  'court, which I am going to read to the 

The only part I offer i s the part I will read. 

I have received in evidence those por. 

tions of the testimony said to have been taken in the 



ertain answers said to have been given ty.thaSe W 

nesses in the 0Ornnierls court. 

I believe it is conceded by the Re-Op 

that these are the correct minutes of the proceedings in 

i1-. WASSJiHVOGEL:. It is conceded that they are tile 

I don't know whether they are correct or not. 

MR. DEJ3Y: Thtt they are the minutestaken in 

the coroner's court, , made by the official st en&grqpher. 

H COURT: Were they not marked in evidence? 

MR. LRbY: "Abraham,Schwartzmann, a witness, 

Called mild sworn, testified as follows: -

"I was there that morning, and I asked the boy what 

is the matter, and he said he wants to quit the job; so--

I said to him go ahead and eat breakfast. He said 

he said six, and I fig 
the 

offered him five dollars 

I don't know whether I should read them or not, your 



e.nd took the money we offered him and he walk 

hat the man? (Indicating defendant)? A Yes• 

Did you speak to your brother before he died? 

Did you ever see Ely Geller in your brother's 

HI was patrolling North on Third Avenue, near 141st 

Street, 10:15, October 13th, when I heard a pistol shot, 

and just then a car was passing south; as the car passed,* 



small , crowd collected, and this defendant 

-seat walking away from where the ,Ordw• 

I approached him, and both mat about 140th Street, 

at the same time I seen a 32 calibre pistol right near 

the gutter, and so I approached this man and seized him, 

and took him back, and picked up the pistol which he. 

admitted was his and took him back to the scene of the 

crime, where there was a man laying in the hallway with 

two shots in the shlulder and right ear. I asked the 

prisoner if he did the shooting, and he said yes, that he 

owed him six dollars and was only willing to pay him 

four, and this fellow wouldn't take the four, he wanted 

to be paid in full, and when he wouldn't pay him in full, 

that is the reason he shot him, and then I took him to 

,How long after you placid the defendant under 

arrest did you say anything to him? A Well, 1 said it 

must have been about half a minute. 



Your Honor we have sent for certain additional c 

ter witnesses, who have not appeared this morning, So W 

will be compelled to rest the defense. 

I don't think that is a proper 

e not here.*The peoplehave SOMB rebutp-. 

und, if their witnesses COMB ai that Uni 

MB. WASSERVOGEL: I offer in evidence, if your Honor 

please, all of the testimony given by the witness Abraham 

Schwartzmann and officer Northrup, in the Coroner's court. 

1R. DERBY: Any testimony that was called to their 

attention when they testified as witnesses yesterday, I 



testintony. 

lqalc 

and. rule' after I have seen it. 

at the proi)oSe 

(The Court.04 

record handed up by Mr. Wasservogel) 

MERBY: Anything that Mr. Wasservogel 

important enough to call to the witness's attention' yles,. 

.terday me don't object to. 

THE ODURL: I am going to look, Ar. Derby, at this 

proposed exhibit, and I will-rule after I have looked at. 

it. (The Court examines the proposed exhibit). 

Mr. Wasservogel; if you can point out any portion of 

this testimony notreceived in evidence Which modifies of 

explains any part received in evidence, I will consider 

the reception of that part. 

MR.WASSERVOGEL: Well, there was one part, your 

Honor,that counsel for the defense did not call to the 

attention of Schwartzmann yesterday, but I notice that 

Ir. Derby read it this morring. If that is included 

in his offer, I will not press my offer any further. 

• 4E. DERBY: Certainly, it is included, I read it. 

WASSERVOGEL: And also the other part of the 

testimony that I called to the officer's attention while 

"he was on the stand, referring to the time while he was 

patrolling on the street; and heard the pistol shot and 

all that. If thdt is included, in the offieer, I won't 

press the offer any further. 



IroASSWOOM: That is all t 

REBUTTAL TESTIVIOBY. 

• J 0 H B McLOUGHLI 11, police officer, attei,ched t 

the Sixty-first Precinct, •cal3e d as a witness on behalf ajthé 

people, In rebuttal, testified asfollows:-

DI RECT EXAM IT 1 AT ION BY MR. WAS SERVOGEL: 

Q, What is your name? A John McLoughlin. 

You are a desk Lieutenant of police, are you? 

A Yes, sir. 

Q, And were you such on the 13th of October, last year'? 

A I was. 

Q, A little louder? A I was. 

Q, Talk as loud as you did on the telephone this morning. 

And what station were you at? A Alexander Avenue police 

station house, Sixty-first Precinct.,,. 

Q. Were you pr'esent behind the desk at the time the de-s 

fenda.nt Ely Geller, was arraigned? A I was. 

Q, Did you have a talk with him? A 'I did. 

Q, Did you speak to him in -- withdraWn. In what 

language did you address him? 
-1 

. D ERBY : I object, as not proper rebuttal. 

THE COURT: I will receive it as bearing upon the 



htm on the defense..4 

.I,take an exception. 

Mha language did you speiskto him in? A 

language. 

Q You dogOt speak any other -language, do you? 

Q And what language did he answer in? A' X0. Eh 

Q And did you at that time make a record of what h 

‘ said in the police blotter? A /did. 

• Ct 

Have you got that police blotter here? A Yes sir* 

Can you refer to the record whidh you ma4e? 

(Handing book to vitness) A There it is (Indicating on 

book). 

Q, Lieutenant, can you tell us, without looking at the 

blotter, what was said by yourself and by him? 

AR. CURTIS: That is objected to. 

(Continui,pg) In B.nglish? A I asked him--

THE COURT: Not, Wait d moment. 

Uh. CURTIS: It is not proper rebuttal, your 

Honor. It was not called to the defendant's attention 

on cross examination, and no foundation was laid for 

THri] COURT: I think it is not proper rebuttal Mr. 

Waaservogel. 

Ah. WASSERVOGEL: I am inclined to agree that 

that is correct, your Honor., I do not want to call the 

defendant back. 



DIRECT EXAMINATION BY AR. WASSERVOGEL: 

q Was this gun at any time in any part of the delica-

tessen store) cr the rooms behind the delicatessen:store which 

you had at No. 2615 Third Avenue? 

Don't you answer a question until I 

have ruled. You keep perfectly quiet until the ob-

jection is taken and the Court has ruled.. 

(question read by stenographer as follows: -

"Was this gun at any time in any part of the delicatessen 

rooms behind the delicatessen store 

at No. 2615 Third Avenue?")? 



your brother? 

;11)-. tba,e,dt ed to. 

•'TU.E• COURT': Objection. overruled. 

• THE WITEESS: No. 

NMI. DEBBY: Exception. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: That is all. 

MR. DERBY: No questions. 

°I,rea° 

SAVINO JIOAC •C,"- H I Li' 0, being recalled on behalf 

of the people in rebuttal, testified, through the official 

interpreter, Diadato Villamena, as follows: -

DIRECT EXAMINATION _bY dR. WASSERVOGEL: 

On the day of the shooting, when you saw, or when yo 

say you aaw, the defendant shoot the proprietor of the deli—

catessen store at No. 2615 Third Avenue, did you see a knife  

in the hands of the proprietor of the delicatessen store? 

AR. DERBY: Objected to as not proper rebuttal. : 

TH OURT: The objection is overruled. 

411. UKRBY: We take an exception. 

A No, sir. 

h. 'VASSERVOGEL: That is all. 

COURT: Do you want to interrogate him? 

DERBY: No, sir. 

BY THE "CURT: 

At that time, were you in a position where you 



• did he have in his hands? ANothin 

CROSS BXAMINATION BY MR. DEBBY: 

Wasn't Schwartzmann behind the counter & 

4 Did you take particular notice of what was in the 

WI L LI AI K I EN AS T, being called on behalf 

of the people,in rebuttal, testified as follows: -

DIRECT HIKAJIIJATION BY IR. WASSERVOGEL: 

Mr. Tienast, you have already testified that you 

And how far did you say you were from, that particular 

dlinute between the first and second shots. 



Did you have occasion to use a knife for any part1—. 

For what purpose did you need a knife? 

CROSS EXAiEN AT ION BY AR. DERis Y: 

Did you make a search of the premises? A No sir. 

Did you look around the floor, or-behind the counter? 

n't go behind the counter. 

Didn't, you notice there were still some knives sn the 



MR. WASSEIRVOGELtTe 

BY THE 001=1 JUROR: 

IQ Did. you .al; that time 

his ear -or his shirt front? A 

blood was squirting out. 

I don't know whether, as an honest 

expert, a fireman can answer that question. 

Yes, we object, because it_is improper.. 

You heard Abraham Schwartzmann testify, did you not,. 

Did you see any powder marks on his face at all? 

No, sir; it was all blood; you couldn't see anything. 



•answer. ueetions they object'ed t 

THE COURT: Obj ect ion sust a.inect. 

TIER13Y: We take an e xoeption.44 

made at thr.e opening of the case,  for the dismiss41-0,f 

indictment, and also wive for the dismissal of the 

dictment and the direction of a verdict of acquittal 

• on the ground the people have failed to establish a 

upon the further ground there is a fatal varia4.00 

between the indictment and the proof, in that the indict 

ment alleges this 'crime was committed in the City and 

County of New York, Whereas it appears from the testimopy: 

it was committed in the County of the Bronx. 

indicate to me how long you consider it desirable to 

sum up. I only say that 
long 

About how would you like for the 

Take any length of time you want. 



,.may not USG that timel but X would no 

e hampered, or limited, because, as your Honor kno 

in Your practice., very often the other side will ,ee 

o your omission in speaking in reference to certain 

You can take all he time you wish 

o'clock, you are in a position to tell the rOurt that 

you will close, say, in a matter of fifteen minutesl'or 

half an hour, so that your slumation may not be inter-

longer than half an hour, we will have to take a recess.. 

iR. CURTIS: Yes, sir. 

R. WASSERVOGEL: I might say, your Honor, I think 1 

cai get through within hour. 

THE COURT: You may take all the time, Mr.Wasser-



• 

up 

j.f 0 f the- defendant aafolloWs 

ICay it lease the Court and Gentlemen 0i 

Vhansver a man is arraigned before the liourt 0 

with a grave offense, and he states that he is unable 

to employcounsel, the mourt, in a spirit of generoti 

and a asire to administer properly justice in its tribu-

nal, appoints counsel from out of the body of the Bar tO 

defend the rights and to protect the interests of the 

accused party; and so it is with my learned brother Derby 

and myself were appointed by the Court to see to it that 

no advantage should be taken of the defendant by reason 

of any unequal combat on his part with the astute and - 

vigilent,Dist,-ict Attorney, with all c) the power of the 

, 

Commonwealth awaitinj, behind him. 

Jowl so,far as Jay learned associate is concerned, 

you have seen how well and truly he has discharged the 

sacred function, so regarded by our profession, add in 

what signal arid able a manner he has attended to the 

interests and protected the rights of this defendant; 

and I have only one standard of ambition in this case, 

and that is that I may be able to equal Ws zeal, his 

ability, in the, conduct of this case. 

I say the law protects the interests of the defendant) 

and I have given you an illustration of the way in phioh 

the court administers that law in assigning counsel. to 



the Ob0U0e44, w gobs. rap 
• 

mall,. hear as blear an exposition of the '14u. • w1.en the 

-Court comes to charge this panel, as was ever. 

by a nuMber of laymen; and I remember the fact thai: 

this very room) two or three days ago, I heard a'eharge 

a homicide case which recalled to me the golden days 

the bar and the bench, ' When the Bench did not detobrid to 

join in the prosecution of the defendant; and in that. 

'most ;Ilarvelous charge, and I say marvelous because so 

conspicuously different from the hundreds that I have 

hea;d, not one expression, of Opinion as to the ti rite of 

the case was indulged inby Lhe Court. 

Now I know how fallible is human nature; I know 

ho easily influenced the minds of the jury are by the 

slightest inti.qation from the Nurt s to its view upOn 

the facts in the case; and that is verj proper y so, be-

cause the jurors say to themselves, the counsel for the 

people, the learned District Attorney, the advocates of 

the defendant, will present their views from a partizan 

nut the judge who sits in the trial, and 

law on all questidins that .aay arise during the giving 

o: testimony, the law says that the Judge shoal not 

express his personal vi-tw one case. 

NON, I say that calls us back to the golden days 

115 Us DoiCk to the time whT grgat - 



men i-emed the legal PrOfesiOidn and whi he ]w wa 

4liministered:by great Judges and great 

Now, I venture to my the Court will _ellarge 

asit is elementary law, that you must not start out 

your investigation in this case with the assumption ttY 

the defendant is guilty of the crime charged in the 

indictment; but you must start out with the presumptiOa 

ever in your owl minds that he is entirely guiltless of 

the offense Charged against him, unless it appears af-

firmatively by the proof that he is guilty. 

Now, I wish you, gentlemen of the jury, to keep that -

1 principal of the law clearly in your minds. 

Let it be as a beacon light to guide your deliberations, 

Now, it is conceded in the proof that this is a young, 

He was born in the Empire of Russia, 

in t;144t p,rt of the Russian Domain thdt was the share 

he mpress Catherine in the spoils Of Poland. lie 

Moscow, wheryth,, campaign of 1812 was waged by the French 

and all that country is historical land; all that country 

rings to the recollection of the historical student those 

gread contests that were waged.in Poland for supremacy, 

not only in that 14.nd, but, incidentally; in the German; 

It is now ,,art of Russia. 



Tlus but man wag born 

I. want you clearly to understand, not fro* 

men whose lives are given to violence, not 

homicides, but he comes from a race of men, and every 

line of his case shows it -- he has spent same of his 

life in the criminal courts-- will tell you that t1e 

people from who he is descended are among the most order' 

law abiding people, in this or any other country, and. 

that is why it is that, in recent times, the fact that 

:he names of certain Hebrews were identified and connected 

with a conspicuous tragedy excited such attention and 

They are not a homicidal race. They are not a race 

that violates aystematically the law, but they are 

race that., In pursuit of their business career, have 

country by their allegiance to the .law, by 

their lives as good citizens, and I start out with the 

proposition that it is known of all men that they are the 

last people, as a people, as a race, as a nation, to be, 

Now, there are some things that are conceded in this 

case, and let us address ourselves for a few moments to 

those things that are conceded, and the first matter in 

concession is there ism() evidence that there was any 



quarrel or difference between the decease 

fendant Until that matter of the wages arose. 

It seems that this boy, coming to this land 

his fortune, did not ally himself with aseissine tr 

robbers, or thieves. He went to work as modestly as 

did Moses Monteflore, when he accepted a position in the 

City of London for a pittance. He did not break into 

people's houses. He did not assail the lives of the 

people -in this his adopted land. He went and secured 

work. And, among other things-- now, mark you, this 

is very important in some features of the case to which 

I will call your attention hereafter. He sought to 

perfect himself in the English language, and he sought 

admission into our schools for that purpose; and the (-

admission drops unwillingly from the lips of the brother 

of the deceased that he took him to the school because 

he could not talk English, and .he desired, did the de—

rendant , to secure that accomplishment. 

Now, so far as this evidence discloses, it does not 

a.par tiat he had an opeortunity o:. attending this 

ni lit school for over a week. 

Ard, rene,a1H,ir, , geutlaen, if, in the course of this 

argumen I misstate `,11,, i_roof, of I mistake the proof,, 

either one or the other, yo'u will correct me by your re—

collect ion, because it is no easy task to carry in ones 



nind the recollection of all the wof tha 

presented here; but, as I remember the testimon 

chief object in going to that school was to acquire 

English tongue, so that he cuuld make himself AgePil 
k, 

as a citizen in the land of his adoption. Now, thO. 

no question about th6t. 

My learned friend  with  a dramatic air that seem 

at times to be pectaiar with himself, asked him to 

write his name in Russian, and then he introduced the 

signature of the defendant to some paper in the Coroner's 

clerk's office, and wished o.1.1 to compare the two. 

Now, my learned friend must know, because he is a 

practical and a bell letter, as well as a legal luminary, 

I have been informed, and I have no doubt it is true, 

that his ability has been required to try causes in 

other states, 

to tne law. 

in order to convict men of deeds oftoxious 

Those are his qualifications. That is why 

ne is here. He is not nere because he is ignorant 

of the law. He is not here because he lacks the art 

of tne advocate. He is not here because he is incom-

petent, bpd an imbecilq, but ne is here because nature 

ilas clothed nun with the power to bring guilty men to 

justice. So that you must remember, wnen you via the 

work of wucn a man, you must in your minds say what was 

tne guiding wotivp of :Ile sentiment that dictated the \  



truth, Or -was he seeking to add new laure 

tatiofl9 You must think of all thOse thing. 

And here is one thing that the learned COur 

the charge the other day, which ought to be printed o: 

painted or written on the walls of every Court house 

in this country, the learned Judge saidto you that, 

while he applied the law, your sacred province Wars the 

testimony, and the law did not dare to invade it. In 

otner words, under our government, under our form of 

government, the Court applies the existing laws 

even the daring of a judicial officer would not meek 

to usurp the powers which the constitution of the country 

and the State have placed in the hands of the Jury. 

No man can put his foot into your domain. No man 

argument, as my learned friend and I may do. 

Now, then, with that clearly before you, let us go 

bacb:•to this matter of the English. 1y learned friend 

will argue with you tnat tie talked English. 



five r.e 1(0:7, perhOt VO*111 months in the country, 

-d0 YMICbelielre that boy, who was ;melting 401.YA 

to escquire knowledge of the. English tongue in the night 

School of the City of New 'York, was competent tA MOO 
ho 

language in English that it is claimed uttered? 

To Me, it is simply preposterous, and I again 

you to' remember that the brother of the deceased upon: 

the stand, in answer to a question eIther of mine or 

Mi. Derby, said—that he took him to this night school 

for the purpose of abqUiring the EngU.sh language. 

gentlemen, I shall speak of that, perhaps, 

further on, when I come ,o distuss the testimony of the' 

officer; but before I approach that subject I want you 
are 

to understand that there some things in this case not 

only that are conceded, but they cannot be contradicted; 

and I intend to treat you with the utmost fairness, and 

and that you are the without any prejudii.” against 

race conditions, degree, or history. 

This man Was done to death, it is plain, by two 

bullets from a certain pistols and I wish to say at this 

point, and I shall request the learned Court to charge 

you to tilat effect, that there is no legal evidence be-

fore you gentlemen of the jury in this case that the 



at. my • .±17..tend 

the -Ear :it the pittol that wat Uteit :On 

and I Will tell you why, and this may be t;ques 

will be left to you by .the Court. rt -usually 

believe, Where that, question is at all in doubt. The 

law prides that there must be a continuous line Of 

identification between the weapon presented in evidence 

with the weapon used in the commission of-the-offenee, 

and so careful is the law on that subject that it it 

necessary for the prosecution to prove that the pistol 

presented is in the same identical condition as it Waa 

when it was used in the commission of the felony; that 

is the law; and I call your attention to that inciden-

tally to show, to my mind, the exceeding laxity of the 

proof, the vital proof, or some of the vital proof in' this

case. 

We nave a weapon picked up in the street. None 

of the evidence required by the law, that is, none of the 

controlling evidence requi,.ed by the law, is presented 

for its identification. But let that pass. 

Here is another thing we must concede. Unless you 

say trAe Spaniard, or Italian, I think it was, saw this 

occurrence, as he narrates, no human eye witnessed tiie 

final meeting between the defendant and the deceased. 

That which occurred in that place, outside of the 



eistinony of this Italian, was witnessed 012 

e ôf the aal seeing one, of the Judge w o 

Let us see is that true 

Now, the first witness they produced was the brot 

of the deeeased. In his testimony before the Coroner', 

and I challenge you on this point to disprove my kaseriloh: 

in his testimony before the Coroner, he said not a w4gd„ 

about the uplifting of the hand, the threat, veiled or 

otherwise, "You shall suffer for this", or "I have the 

strength to make you suffer for this", or words to that 

effect; the exact words I don't remember. 

How and why do those things occur in the presenta-

tion of a criminal cause I will tell you how it seems 

to me they occur. You would naturally suppose that, 

before the Coroner, immediately after, comparatively 

speaking, the occurrence of the homicide, that the facts 

in the mind of the witness would be as fresh and verdant 

as they would be in the trial of the cause perhaps 

months later in a Court of justice. But, in going 

over the case, the astute mind of some one discovered 

that there was no motive, no sufficient motive, and 

there was no premeditation, because there was a lack 

of b threat, there was a lack of any expression of a 

desire or intention to do harm to this defendant. And 

how was the memory of the witness jostled. That we 

; 



anima t 

aid that up to the day of iu4g4ent.-

Re,was asked Upon the stand, did you testi'y 80 

and so before the He seemed to be confused' 

or staggered in his recollection, and the learned Court 

said that he could properly make the answer "i don't 

Be sought refuge in that suggestion, and 

he who nad testified before the coroner, but not a word 

about a threat, not a word as to a menace, not a word_ 

as to the uplifting of the threatening arm, replies to 

the question put to him "I don't remember about it"'. 

Now, the fact stands out, and that can't be controverted, 

che fact sti,nds out that he did not swear to it before the 

Now, gentlemen, let me ask you, would you not, in 

the transaction of your daily business, if you came in 

contact with a man who made a statement on a certain day 

solemnly as to a fact, and then, as his caprice or inter-

est dictated, change that statement subsequently, would-

n't you naturally have a suspicion of the entire statement 

made to you  Now, that is the condition of the law; that 

I believe the Court will charge you, and-I shall 

ask the learned Court to charge you, that if any person 

on their side, or ours has stated wilfully any matter 



easel any •matte.* that ± a un 

of the learned Court the Other cloy in that 

I havereetred, it will be your duty to re ec 

dence4 except it be corroborated on material points' 

/low, was it vindictiveness thattpromptea :Yon 

must account for the natural feeling that a brother would 

have upon the stand in the pursuit of the one that *let 

his ktnsman. We don't object to that. That is human 

nature . But you are here under your oaths, and you are 

to do exact justice. You are not to be swerved by a 

sentiment of prejudice or 4 burst of passion. You are 

not, because the District Attorney in that sonorous voice 

will ask you to put down shooting in New York. You are 

hot to give a verdict against the evidence, the probved 

testimony in the case. 

Now, in this Coroner's Court, the first scene:, so 

far as a legal investigation is concerned, was enacted 9 

and there they were sworn, the witnesses, to tell the truth., 

the whole truth and nothingbut the truth, and to suppress 

nothing , to conceal nothing. The man who is guilty of 

suppresio veri is guilty of moral if not legal falsehood, 

Now, of course, it may be said that this Coroner's 

-Court is more a subject of ridicule than of interest to 

the people. That has nothing whatever to do with it. It 

is a sort of survival of the old Common Lau. it is a sort 



drunken man amid the miTamente of 40,14za 

The Coroner,s Court has been spoken of in -00 

has been spoken of in jest, has been spoken of in 

but, although the Coroner,s Court diles not posses per-

haps that dignity which surrounds the tribunal in Whidh 

you sit, a man is under his oath at that place, and a man 

who testifies at that place is bound by his evidence, if 
A 

in harmony with the testimony given on the trial of 

the case in a Court, then he can be justly criticised and 

Now, I want you to examine it and see how this evidence 

as to motives, see how this evidence as to premeditation 

will appear. The learned District Attorney will stand 

before you as the Officer of the People. je is vested 

with the dignity of a legal-avenger, and he will tell you 

that you must find this young boy guilty of murder in the 

first degree. Why'' Because there was premeditation, he 

will argue. Why' Because there was an intention on his 

part to consumate in that violent mannat the 
lbatOitHISnv

 that took place there. 

O trAtio-

That will be his contention. 

Now, I contend this at the start: Thmit there is 

not, properly viewed, the slightest evidence to show that 

that boy 1 at the time he retuned to tkie. store, return-

ed to that store with an intention to take human life. 



- 

4,1 

And Want. yOg to remember another 

this Italian, there is not any evidenco •ells4 

took place in that store at the time this trage 

• acted. Iteep that in your minds as you go along. 

Now, if the decedent had not been killedft-idfthe, 

deceased had not been killed, and if the characterS of-the 

two men were compared, if they were put side by side be  
a 

fore you, would you arrive at the donclusion that the 

character of the deceased was in any way superior to the 

character of this accused person9 

Suppose this tragedy had not turned out as it did, 

have they proved that this defendant is unworthy of belief'  

Have they proved that, on the record of his life, there 

is a smudge or a blemish Have they proved that he was 

ever engaged in any dishonest action' Have they proved 

that he did anything while in this country save to raise 

himself in the social circle and the business world, step 

by step" 

He went to work, it seems, for a man who is a fruit-

LAx../u. He went to vrork for Schwartzmann. He went to the 

night school, b.s I have told you, all evincing not only 

the existence of thrift on his part, not only a desire 

to get an honest living, but a desire to lift himself 

into the civilization of the people among wh am 'he had 

come to dwell. Isn't that true" And can the'? Claim, can 

". •0 
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grY more tool' dgmeasee' 

I 'am not here to maligniideceased but I 4iLls here 

shaw4 if I can, that the character of this direildeh 

to this unfortunate hour, was equally good wit  that 

Now, my learned friend, and it occurred to me at thI 

moment, and I will ndttice it, put a question that a lit.. 

tie surprised me, and, of course, in this .profession of 

ours, we are the victims of constant surprises; we are 

stimulated by human genius and legal ability. He asked 

a witness, that was Schwartzmann, how old he was, how 

much do you weigh, and I think he asked him how tall he 

was; and on one occasion he compared the relative stature 

of the two men. Of course, the defendant was lifted a 

little above the others, being on the witness stand; an4, 

while he did not tell you his object, I thought I perceigem 

ed it, and it was then that he will argue to you that this 

defendant was a strong man, that he was an active, alert 

this defendant was the superior tf anything, in physical 
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Uient 

cure of the deoeisø 

dati•iMatine thsHfer 

Preeent" tO yoUi 

Rows let us see about this but a moment. oUlsa 

them side by side; that is, the brother and-taiskultheOPS,r 

boy. To my mind I thought that Sdhwartzmann was phyti00.' 

ally the more powerful man; he may not have been quite as 

tall; perhaps he don't weigh as much. It is mainly not 

weight that constitutes physical strength; and the impres.. 

sion was irresistible in my mind that, if the departed 

brother was in any way a counterpart of the one who is 

presented hare as a witness, that this defendant was in no 

sense the superior in physical power. I dot know any 

other object for which that was introduced. 

Now, let us go into this case and see. Was there 

any human motive for this boy to kill this man prior to 

this transaction about the salary and about the employment9 

Now, this boy is impulsive 1 this boy is impression-

able; and when my learned associate put the question to 

him as he sat on the stand there,"Do your Tather and your 

Mother live over there in Brodno" He burst into tears. 

That is not the sentiment of a murderer. It is the most 

noly sentiment that can animate the breastiof man. 

"Honor thy vather and thy Mother", is the only command-

it 
ment that curries witn1

 
a promiee,‘"That thy days may be 
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that commandment came front Sipa 

mandMenthas witbstOOd the assaults of paganis2 and.. heath 

eniSm/vand that commandment is embodied in tie' principal 

of love which exists throughout the educated and civilized 

world, the religion of the Christian Redeemer, 

. That boy's mind went back to the home across the 

Set.; and if there is one trait in the ewish character 

that I admire it is the love of parents and the lyre of 

home, and it is known of all men that in the Jewish home 

That boy burst into tears when he thought of his 

rather and Mother, when he thoughtlperhaps, how great was 

their affliction when they heard of his trouble and his 

despair. You can't blame him.That is not a cold blooded 

Well, is there any question that he went to work for 

Schwartzmane None. Is there any material question snout 

the cause of None. And I want you to remembo: 

arid the Court will tell you, that you are to judge of a 

witness by his manner, his appearance, his bearing. 

I want to ask you honestly, as honest men, did that 

boy falter once under the reldhtless cross examination to 



zotad j leaerted associate withStOod an addata, 

obaracter and came off victoriously, as he did, ith 

contradieing himself in the elightest degree') 

It is ,AgreeAL, then, that the argument was ubOUV. 

wanted Saturday to himself. Saturday was his sabhath. 

Our Sabbath is the first day of the week. And it showed, 

gentlemen, that from his standpoint, as he was brought 

up, he was true and loyal to the religious belief that 

had been inculcated in him; and so he said, "I want the 

Sabbath for rest", and that is the Holy day for the 

Hebrew, as the first day Of the week is the Holy day 

for the followers of the Redeemer. You know that. 

in his recollection in regard 

that it did. He said he wanted Saturday for a day of 

And I submit that in every point and every part 

of the case where the learned counsel sought to entrap 

Now, I ask you, gentlemen of the jury, in speaking 

of this first witness -- he is really the first witness, 

the brotner -- if this case rested on his testimony would 
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under the principal 

this "tang m" og. any grime whatScever 

our stridean him to die a shameful, violent death 

scaffold. 

You leave this place, you go away, time will soon 

rSnder your account with eternity. There is coming an 

hour, before the narrow bed and the long sleep, when 

every important act of your life will come in. review beio 

fore your memory, and perhaps, in the spirit, the Oiety 

may ask of you, "what did you do with your brother" 

A human life, a human soul, is passing through while 

speak to you twelve breasts, and do you realize all that 

Attorney will stand up here, the officer of the common-

wealth, he, with all the sentiment of society behind 

him, he, with all the resources of the state at his 

command, and tell you you must put this boy to death 

You can't put him to death on this proof if you 

look at it, not with the eye of prejudice, but if you 

look at it with the eye, the clear eye of a cal* 

call is that little girl, that meet budding flower of 



hint •that arrived it a ca 

.thtngs IverY often point to you the .solution .0 

Did anything occur while the little girl was -there, 

Was any altercation indulged in betWeen the two/ 

Did the defendant show, as the learned District 

Attorney remarked, did the defendant show that he was 

mad, or angry "No", came from the sweet voice of the -

child. "That did you see"" "I saw nothing except 

Not a word about the arm being raised, and the 

Now, that little child is mistaken, because there 

has never been any contention here on either theAlvside, 

or our side that there was anything but paper Ailey talked 

didn't seethe denomination of the coin. 

oounded, it had the noise of falling money or coin. 



element in the oa 

tbly Oggetts that that girl Was M-iStaken• 004 the time 

she was  there. It was Some other time that ahe

 there., if that occurrence took place. 

You must rameMbei that that child has been more 

or less in the companionship of the brother of the 

deceased and of tilose immediately about him. You must 

remember ta.t. And the human mind is so constituted, 

you know that yourself, that when a suggestion is made 

a thought is suggested, that it becomes a part and parcel 

of the mind, so to speak, and people believe, even adults' 

grown people, that an occurrence took place that never 

Tile defendant came up to the counter, not in 

any bellicose mood, not in any spirit of antagonism, and 

she heard a noise as of the falling of coin, for sooth, 

an d that he went out, and as he went out he said 

Now, you must Leep in mind, as I said before, in 

discussing that question, because your mind will probably,_. 

by exciting not your reason, but your passion. 
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t at, militates against this -de 

VDU gentlemen that question" I ask you gentlebi 

question in all seriousness. 

Now, the next witness. The next witness ..ha 

Shall refer to is the police officer. I will come 110 

the testimony of the _Italian later. on. Of course, it 

will be idle for me to say that there is not a feeling 

of unrest in this community, of suppision in this.com-

munity, in regard to the police, and if I should stand 

up and say to you that, on proven records, that the 

police of this County were men zealous in the discharge 

of their duty, zealous to preserve the rights of citizens 

zealous to protect their property, you would laugh at 

me. 

But you would not be wholly right. I have no  

doubt that there are in the police department to-day men 

who are as honest as you, but this I do know, and I have 

seen a great deal of it, gentlemen, in my experience, 

which nas been one of many years and has covered a great 

deal of territory, I regret that in many instances I 

must agree with the judgment of that Magistrate who 

recently said that Lae testimony of the police was not 

to be received with the weight that the testimony of 

otner pr)ople should be received. 

„4. 

MAP 



Now why le ths:t"Why it it'v 

pravity/ Is it a condition of moral inturrele 
are 

is it that in all criminal transactions they cal 

to fill in any hiatus that may occur in the case, and t0 

'supply the ppoofs necessary to establish the legal eat: 

urea of a prosecution' Why is tt/ 

My conclusion is this: that their course of life

their associations render them reckless as to the power of 

an oath. 

You must remember that they are not dealing with pow 

erful men; they are not dealing, as a rule, with citizens 

of actepted worth; they are not dealing, as a rule, with 

men like you. They are dealing with the poor 1 the out  

casts, the oppressed, and a snort of contempt comes from 

the nostril when they contemplate the small game they 

pursue. Why do they do these things" 

Now, this man Northrup, it occurred to him that 

he must supply a motive, he must supply an intent, because 

L...... 
through all this terrible web woven by the hand of fate 

is stealing this thread of intent, of motive, -first degree 

of murder, witich is death, second degree of murder, which 

is captivity for life, worse than death, manslaughter, 

all this has a legal object, and of course the learned COUitt 

will cnarge the Jury in this and all other cases, that 

tnose degrees are so and co in phrase, those degrees are 
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applidation's; 

stied that a-tTMLOZtwas Made, it the ur.Y 

that a menace was uttered if the Jury are sat 

an intent -- and do you remember how cunning I. 

cunningly because ladeludes the minds of men, the mOtiVe 

and intent ran thrqugh that case that was read by the- ErAfkt 

in his charge the other day. Very often lawyers have co*. 

founded the two, but the argument on this policemants 

testimony will be what' 

Why, gentlemen, you have the fact that this man per-, 

ished. You have the fact that this man was in the street, 

you have the fact that he fell into the hands of this 0P* 

ficer, who immediately interrogated him. It is a wonder to. 

me that some of these policemen don't clbAlmi to have a 

knowledge not only of Yiddish, but Chinese and all other 

languages. He examined him, he said, in English) and he 

says that, among other things, the defendant told him that 

ne had stated, in subetipicelto the deceased., thstt  

not pay him this money which was in dispute between them 

he would kill him. 

Now, that was a formidable man that eat in that 

chair. He had a hardy physique, he had a quick mind. He 

had an indomitable purpose, and a good deal like Javert in 

Lee Mieerables. He may have been one of those extraordi 

nary cnaracters ttat saw no evil in the destruction or in 
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of _the clestruction 

ile61,04. there- are  intoh men, • and  they 

the  Polion* 

•To that man sitting in that chair,' to my land,. 11.; 

man life, very little notice taken Of it. But he forgot, 

.and they all forget that at some time or other, he had 

sworn directly oppositelbr had omitted to swear to that, 

fatal testimony which the District Attorney seeks' to tack 

to the web of this proof. Whatvamit, 

My learned associate handed him the minutes of the • 

Coroner, and he said, "Read through that, and if you can - 

find the slightest trace of any such testimony given by 

you before the Coroner, say it now." Deliberately, and 

don't believe his pulse moved out of its accustomed way, 

he said -- he read that testimony through, and without a 

quiver of an eyelid he had to admit it was not there. 

That was very important. 

Now, I ask you as honest men I lay by this question 

ablaut the English for the present. Do you, as twelve bus-

mess men of the City of New York, believe that he ever 

had the extended conversation which he says he did with this 

defendant" Now, be fair about it. No latter what you 

may think about the rest of the case, be fair on that. 

Would you taiike a. man's life on that" That is the way to 

reason these things. It is not to the storm of denun-



tjin f 'My learned friend, Ut ailon 

is a :we singular story. 

y, we zaie one of their witnesses SWeaiing 

took the defendant up to the night school. For what,-

Wiy, that he might learn . And then we have another of 

their witnesses , that is this policeman, swearing to an 

extended conversation , and the rendition on the part Of 

himself and the defendant of just that English which a man 

beginning to learn the English tanguage would not know. 

we know another thing, and I suppose, while the 

learned District Attorney had some 

is Eli or Ely Geller. I suppose, in the Hebrew, it is 

Elias, the same as was the name of the Prophet. They made 

a great outcry, or will, about that. Every man on this 

panel knows, or can inform himself, that there is the 

greatest similarity between the capital letters of th* 

English tongue and the latin language, and in many in.» 

stances whole words are BO committed to that fact that 

they are the same in the two languages. Now, I can't show 

that to you, because it is not in evidence. The Court 

would not probably have permitted me to put it in evidence. 

Now, would you hang that boy on the similarity in the 

Russian name and the English name, as it appeared by the 
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Uret 

p id he hesitate to write th# ItiVis • 

es are senSitive on that point 1 and vito  

int; the truths will always show, when called in that 

way that my friend used, will always show an averrion•to, 

writing their names. Now, that is all there is in that* 

It is the tragedy of great trials, and the tragedy of 

great trials is very often worked out By the most ineig.• 

nigicant tatters of fact. 

Of course, my learned friend, who goes everywbere.to 

prosecute the zrialefttotor knows that he had some object in 

introducing that evidence, and will probably tell you 

but T want you, When he does it, to remember what I have 

now said to you on that point. 

Now, to come back. I intended to shorten my address 

to you—

ths COURT: Judge Curtis, may we suspend just now 

for a moment, 

MR. CURTIS: Now,4enlemen, before I leave the tes-

timony of the brother, I want to call your attention to 

a very important piece of contradiction in the evidence, 

and I challenge any answer on the other side on this point.,. 

Schwartzmann swore, that is, the brother,' that he saw no 

money paid the defendant; he swore that. In the Coronerts 

Court, he testified that five dollars was p41., him, and 



4 want to censure 

but X want to ask you, if a witness is SO tau 

recollection, if he makes such contradictory etatimtn 

as that, is he a reliable witness, more particularly 

he is a Nemesis and an avenger on the trail of one wha 

elew his brother I understand his feelings, and to a OeS 

tam extent, I sympathize with him, but we must remembilr 

that this is a matter that is to be decided by the 

donee. And remember another Ching. If you are carried 

away by slander and prejudice if you have persistently, 

and I know it is impossible that you should' be in that 

frame of mind, if you have persistently set your faces 

against the truth, and you want the blood of this boy, 

why, of course, this contradiction, grievous as it is, 

and I believe that, in some way or other, perhaps unknown 

to us who skend our lives before them, unknown to us they 

get a sort of habit of coming pretty near the truth; and 

I now will resume what I have to say, or was about to say, 

I am not one who denounces whole people, or, as Ed. 

mund Burke phrased it, would indict whole people, and 

have said to you before that, in common with other 
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town, I belieVe thare,:et*aig 
1 

men in the pvlice Department, and that that .4 

, later will appear; but that there is an extraordlnar 

gdneracy relative to cases in Court„I think I am juatified 

in saying that that is the fact . 

I don't say that they are at times conscious of What 

they say, but , from long practise, they have an intuitiV. 

knowledge of the weak and the strong points in a ease, and 

they know just the spot where the bolstering of a state... 

ment, the coloring of a statement, the change in a statemeat, 

will either liberate a man 1 ot leave him a dangling 

heap of clothes oil the scaffold. There is no question 

about that, I think, in the mind of any man.who has ever': 

had much experience with their evidence. 

Now, I have not the minutes before me, but if -- I 

won't stop to read them to you, because I know that you 

have been very patient here, and you have listened to all 

this evidence with great deal of attention, and I have not 

the slightest doubt that its salient features are in your 

minds; but bear with me a few moments when I analyze the 

testimony of this officer. 

Now, this defendant said, did he not, that when he 

got through this terrible experience in the store, he 

went out in the street, and he walked up the street, and 

I am not quite sure 1 but I think in answer to a question 
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f the Asarned court, 121., said he" Wiiked tOirart 

northi. r am not aware that there is any t(sr 
•oantentioi between him and the of  until the tiMe 

they met. He walked away from the south. He was 
• 

dazed, to use,his own agonized expression. He was 

dazed. We will come to this transaction further on. 

He did not run away from arbor. He threw the gun, 

or the pistol, or the weapon, in the street. That 

proves nothing. And it has been held in courts of 

law that flight in itself is not evidence of crime. 

The learned Court will charge you about that. 

But, so fas ai3 I can gather from the conceded tes-

timony, after this awful calwnity was over, he walked 

out into the street. He did not try to run away. 

When he saw the officer, did he flee from him, as to a 

city of refuge' He walked toward him. 

Now, what is the conversation, according to this 

officer' He nad not seen the gun when he arrested 

him. He saw the gun after he took him into custody. 

He said, substantially, and I hope I. get this as nearly 

as he stated it as possible, and you must remember, as I 

told you before, never to forget the intelligence of 

that officer, tne conscious knowledge of what his 

position demanded, his ability, -- he says, "Is this 

your gun"', or something of that sort. 
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flatUraI3r an -eprean. 

•used •a Underdtood by the dOfend0;iit9 Et s 

Skiffht ha.• *aid it, but he don't understand Engl. 

and he didn't hear it. 

Then he goes into a description of the conversation 

that he had. For instance, that there was a dispute 

about the wages, or salary. Nowt that is information 

which could have been known by this time to a score of 

people, because it was open and notorious that, whatever 

difficulty there Was between these two men, arose out of 

the wages, and arose out of the request to quit and 

leave the employment. Everybody knew that. There 

is nothing so serious in that. But the point that 

I wish to make with you is this: That he glle here an 

account which he never gave before, and he gives here 

an account which brings, as he believes, this boy 

within the Shadow of the scaffold -- intent -- motive. 

*1 told him that, if he did not pay me my money, I •• 

would kill him." That is premeditation, murder in 

the first degree. "1 told him that I would kill him". 

Do yo% se, thk t comes in" How like a mosaic 

that fits in" 

If the defendant Lad been a Hottentot, and had 

never spoken any English to an English or Irish or 

Scotch person in Ais life, he would have told that; 
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and in 7Ceklr hearts, down hire, you know it. e never 

in his life bad that conversation that, he 

have had with this defendant. 

Don't you suppose that, with this relentlesa 

pursuer in the Disiirct Attorney's office, who has seit 

so many men to the fatal chair, don't you suppose that, 

if he could have proved by any evidence outside of the 

police that this boy spoke English that he would have 

done The resources of the office he represents 

are immense, and, as one famous criminal pathetically 

because they would nave got me anyhow". And there isit 

spot where the arm of the District Attorney does not reach, 

an there is 'no hemisphere on this planet to which he 0404; 

not track the man he wants, andj.f he wants evidence, if 

it exists, he will get it; and it was of the utmost im-

ortance to show motive, intent,to prove that this con-

versation was had with this policeman. Now, let us see. 

We put on the stand a very reputable citizen, a 

fruit merchant, I don't know whether it Was one of the 

jury, or whether it Was the learned District Attorney, 

put the question, "But how did you always address him" 

Now, you must remember, and you probably know, that 

the grand old hebrew tongue, as the forefathers understood 
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-Vrie gebpw, nat in popular Usep I•t in tin 

aro It ie used in seats of learning. t is Ude 

of conclusive reference by the Historian, perhaps in re 

erence to the works of one of the greatest MIM who O'er 

lived, and that is Josephus, who wrote the Institution 

of the Jews. But you must remember that , since Titus 

encamped upon the hills around Jeri/sale* , those people 

have been wanderers on the face of the earth, compelled 

so by the tyranny of their oppressers, compelled to be so, 

and in ever land that they visited, in every land that they' 

have visited, in every land that they have traded in, in 

every land where they have been identified with the Conner-

cial life of an Empire or a Republic, this grand, magnif-

icent, original tongue, has become, as it were, corn:tinted 

by idiom among the people, among the people with whoa 

they dwell. That you all know. 

But there is not doubt that he spoke the truth when 

he said -- T am speaking of the defendant; he was examined 

quite rigorously by Mr. Wasservogel on his early life---

I have no doubt he spoke the truth when he said "At hme.I 

spoke Yiddish". 

Now, the Yiddish spoken in Poland is not the Yiddish 

that is spoken in Hungary, or in Spain, or in Pvrtugal. 

It is, as I told you, tne grand old Hebrew that has become 

corrupted by the adoption of certain dialects and idioms 



of the people =one wbolm it is Slaoksn* 

Speak Yiddish". Why wouldn't he speak Yiddish 

wouldn't he, That was the tongue of his fathets* 

was an adaptation of the Hebrew language, which is the 3.all-

sUage of prophecy and poetry and immortal history. 

There is_no man living who can say that there is 

-such a work, or can be such a work in the whole history Of 

the world as the bible, and you know as well as I that ' 

a great portion of the old Bible is filled with grand lit-

erature of the Anole world. 

But he says "At school, I spoke the Russian." Why9 

When those three robbers, Frederick the Great, Kath-

erine of Russia and the Xmperer of Austria went into 

Poland and made the partition of Poland, they even issued 

in Russian Poland a ukase compelling the people to abut. 

don theirpeotaiur national dress, and I always use the 

word national in regard to the Jews, although they have 

no country. The whole world is their country, and they 

have stood upon it against oppression for centuries. They 

issued in Russia tne ukase-21 You must speak Russian" 

that is wny it was taught in the schools. 

Re told the truth. Why should he talk to this po4. 

4.ice officer' Was he insane" Why should he disclose to 

tnis police officer what he knew about his awn affairs' 

Was he insane' Tney don't explain that. 
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ask you Gentlemen„ as honest, 

410 in this case, whether you eollaten thisr boy 

for what I shall presently demonstrate to you he' no 

reeponSible for, whatever may be your outoome, I want you 

specifically in your own minds, to COM4 to a conclusion 

in regard to this matter of speech, because it is simply, 

from our view , preposterous. 

As I said before, you hear O these Police , in 

order to secure a conviction, talking with Hottentots, 

with Arminiansv or Greeks. I have never known one of them 

that did not swear that a man spoke pigeon, or broken 

English that they interrogated and in many instances I 

knew it was impossible. 

Now, let us see. There was a little boy introduced 

into our testimony this morning, and before he was allowed 

to give his evidence he was examined by the Judge, and you 

heard that examination. Have you any doubt that that 

little boy told the truths' I don't believe it will be 

contended by my opponent, or that it will be asserted, 

that the leprosy of falsehood has descended into the soul 

of that young and gracious boy. What did he say, 

- I will show you in 4 minute why it is important, 

and I will show you that the astute eye of my learned 

friend last sight of nothing. His comprehensive mind takes 

in all the features of the case. • 
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If 'We prOlei  

tenant was at 4is AUnt's house that laming, 

in slimming up to you, would have said, "Gentlemen,: 

have only the Word or the defendant as to that, and :he 

within the shadow of the gibbet he is swearing for his 

life." 

Comes the sweet voice of this child"He was at my 

Aunt's house, or my Grandmotherls house", ftatever the 

relationship was , you remember it; he did not awaken her; 

he went away; and he fixed the hour at about nine' o'clock, 

I think, showing that his story in that respect was COY', 

rect. 

Now, there was nothing happened there on Saturday of 

a tragic nature, was there, There was nothing happened 6' 

there before he went out on Sunday morning with the pack-

ages that he had to deliver, was there" There was noth-

ing happened there, certainly, until somewhere in the 

neighborhood of ten o'clock, perhaps ten fifteen, and 

want you to keep your mind on this . 

Now, Mrs. Okun, she was called to prove what the de-

fend ant said when arrested. I will go to that in a no-

ment. She swebrs on her re-direct examination that ) am 

she left theplace, she saw the little girl come in. The 

little girl swears that she was there during this occur-

rence about the silver. 



qtzrrew lie :3(r5. pkan, wee, th.rel 

wa there', 

matter  of 

•'601111 wi Ch i5e)rtremely inprOhable, and * 

think. 4:Otits1 of . discussion. So when Mr. 

- nothing 

must be, it seems to me, a sort *Jetta* 

the exact time, but the evidence 'would 

both sides that it was somewhere in the 

ten o'clock, from ten to ten fifteens 

kun's testimony is impoitant only in $4, 

serpent of the motive, crawling its slimy way throng. .the  

theory of this. case. You see how artistically- thitie 

all grouped together, what 4 Mosaic it is. 

Mrs. Okun, who was asked on Cross Examination, "id 

you see the defendant when he was arrested`' 

" In what language A In Jewish." 

Now, it depends all on the construction that the 

jury may place on what she said he said and what he said 

she said. They are ,right together. She says ;She asked 11E4 

in substance, what the matter was; I don't give you the. 

exact words; I haven't the minutes; and I wouldn't take the. 

time to read them; but, as I said before, if I mistake the 
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too. She said.  "What is the aiatterl 

"he whole. thing was caused by at. tiOna 

to the devil," or adzething like that, 

Well) now, the whole trouble was caused 'by 

between the defendant and the deceased about the money 

was due him that precipitated the discussion. Solar, that 

is right. I am assuming now that she got his language 

correct. "He goes tot he devil", or "It goes to the devil"; 

knew then of his death Did he mean by that that controi. 

vorsy about dile dollar finally appeared in the tragedy* 

There is no question about that. And whether he meant 

"He goes to the devil", or "He goes to his death, "we don't 

know, except from the recollection of Mrs. (Win. 

What does he say on that point', He admits that he 

said to her "It all grows out of a dollar". I think that 

was correct, too, and I think 1 if I may be allowed to 

say of a deceased man, that the uncontradicted evidence 

here shows that he was rather grasping, that he was not 

treating his help as the Holy ecripture inculcates, or 

as the duty of an employer to a servant dentindii-C• He , • 

was rather grasping. At any rate, there Was a dollar be  



^ 

- 

HO Says• he told her that he 

de!. Bu, conceded that he did, i tbere Itny 

cultarky significant in that"--,"He goes to the  

It might have meant he was killedlor he was injured* or 

some calamity happened to him. Would it show any intent* 

would it show any motive" Is it like the menace of Uplitt1 
It 

ed arm and the threat "I am strong yet, and you will suffer: 

Be fair, now. Nothing like that. It is anything like 

that which is in the testimony of Northrup, -I think that 

is the ,name of that officer. That is something new in the 

whole case. "1 told him if he didn't pay me I would kill 

him". Anything like that" Nothing. 

Now, Gentlemen, we come to the discuss very' brief--

ly, and I feel this'way. about this cage: I have been ap-

pointed in conjunction with my learned friendl and he has 

been drawn not only from his professional duties, but from. 

his labors in a seat of learning as a lecturer in a College/ 

and I can say myself that I have sufferecippro.. 

fessiona4y, by being compelled to come here, but I have 

been appointed by the Court, I have been appointed by the 
regard to 

Coutt, and if I neglected to do anything inithis case, 

if I omitted anything, it would be a subject to me of 

ltfe long regret. I consider an appointment of the /rind . 

made by the Honorable Court in this case as a distinction. 

We are the servants of the officers of the Court, and it 
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ty a all timAs to respond w 

416.'selection and requires OUT servioeS, 

that, perhaps, I am taking a little more of your 

I otherwise would, because I want to go to bed tOnight'a 

believe that I have done what I could. 

Now, we will come directly to this --

THE COURT: Judge Curtis, it is now one o'clock' 

Would it be agreeable to you to have the Court take a re.. 

cess at this time 

NR. CURTIS: Yes, sir, if it is agreeable to the 

Jury. 

THE COURT: I suggest it because , apparently, you 

are at a point now in your address at Which you might be. 

interrupted .without any inconvenience to yourself.. 

1WIR. CURTIS: Yes, sir, your Honor is always et 

to the Bar, and I appreciate it very much. 

THE COURT: Well, suppose we take a recess I then,. 

for half an hour. nentlemen of the Jury 2 you are admon-

ished not to converse among yourselves, on any subject 

connected with this trial, or to form or express any opin-

ion thereon, until the same is submitted to you. The 

Court takes a recess for half an hour; that will be until 

half past one. 

(The Court acCordingly took a recess until one thir. 

ty P. 16.) 
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Mt. CUTtis resumes his snwMation t '2ha. Ju 

half of the defendant as follows: 

Your Honor, and Gentlemen of the Jury: 

Gentlemen, I 7al1ibing to hurry on, and I will only 

detain you asihort time. 

There is one thing at this point I would like to 

call your attention to . I suppose the learned District 

Attorney will argue the proofs in this case shows that the 
in 

pistol belonged to us. I shall demonstrate to youla mo 

ment that the evidence AzgnIZ is all in our favor on that 

point. 

Now, I am asking you to believe that the defendant 

has told the truth in his story, because there is no evi.. 

dence in this -case that warrants you in believing that he 
we 

is an untruthful man. Now, to open up that question,,Ipur-

posely put upon the stand two or three people to swear to 

his good character, his reputation anong men for truth 

and veracity and honesty and for peace and quietness. 

Now, as a law student, even twenty five years ago, 

it was the general custom , I think, among the learned 

gentlemen on the bench, to charge the Jury that where no 

evidence Was submitted of good character it was assumed to 

be good; but we have gone further than that, and, gmt0P-

under the eye of our powerful adversary here, we boldly 
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challenge them tia prove that hjichatad 

the one that We proved here. You will remelot. 

nd therefore, I can assume that, so far aw 

kuputation is concerned, this unfortunate calamity' is 

the only instance in his life that causes tears of latter• 

regret. 

Now, in regard to this pistol, I will demonstrate to 

you, so fur as it satisfies the purposes of the law, that 

that Was not our pistol, but was the pistol of the dectiasii, 

ed• 

Our man swears positively that he had no pistol when 

he returned to that store. 

Now, to controvert th at, and to controvert the other 

testimony in the case that leans in that direction, the 

learned Oistrict Attorney puts the brother of the deceas-

ed back on the stand, and he stated that he had never seen 

a pistol in his brother's place, and, that while he, made 

no search for a pistol, no such weapon ever came under his 

observation in that store. 

Now, listen Et minute. When the brother of the dei= 

ceased Was on the stand the other day, the question was 

asked him, if you remember, and now I want to repeat whElt 

I said before the recess, that if you find me misquoting 

evidence, or mis-stating evidence, in any way, correct 111e, 

it is not intentional, I am speaking to you entirely from 
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C ase an I ask no 

to the minutes, but I thitire- in a enral Way, 

the. testimony as it was given. He was asked t 

if he had ever seen a pistol in or about 118 brother/; 

or in or.about his brother's place of business and he 

Now, gentlemen, that is what the law c* negative 

idence, and it is only important where it is corroborated 

in some very essential particular by the other testimonyi_ 

and then it does not have, as I believe the Court will 

charge you, it does not have weight and igAllengV Rt44Meot 

testimony. 1Por instance, a familiar illustration of the 

whole general term, in a very important case was that one 

man who swore that he saw an object was to be believed 

against fifteen men who swore they did not see the object* 

draws between affirmative evidence and negative evidence. 

Now, the affirmative exidence is all with us. The de-

fendant states that it was not his pistol, and what I had 

to say about its being introduced into the testimony I do 

not repeat, because it is not necessary. 

Now, we will come to discuss this defendant, Or 3 

rather, before I come to discuss him, I want to make a 

slight allusion to the Italian who was a witness in the 



Re certainly was not before the Coroner,'and we rnd no 

knowledge, Of course, that he wouid Ise exaMined her., but 

am going to ask you , and I am going to ask the Court to 

say, that in a very important matter he entirely oorrObo!s 

rates this defendants and in a matter ,about wh ich there 
can be no dispute whatsoeVer, because it comes from the 

lips of their own witness, and it is this: He testified 

that he saw the defendant coming out of the door, or thrcugi 

the door, into the street; and behind him he saw the de.. 

Now, you must remember, and perhaps the learned pis*. 

trict Attorney will illustrate this matter more thoroughly 

by his charts and Oagrams but you must remember that i 

is conceded in the evidence that the deceased was lying 

across the threshold; he. was not back in the roam; he was 

not back behind the counter; he was not under the dielter 

of any article of furniture in that room; he lay as he 

fell in pursuit of this defendant. 

Now, my friend spent considerable timelit seems to 

me, to snow that some fireman 2 I forget his name, did not 

see any knife in the place. Well, he forgot, of course, 

that the brother of the deceased swore that the business• 

was that of a delicatessen, and that, in the operation of 

the business, there were two knives used in the store; 

there is no question about that; and, of course, they were 
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harp', to be used 

fore3 the loWAT that point on their s34e is ye 
09,04. 

meagre, and on our side is. full ,(.:conclusiTe. it is 

testimor4 of their own witness. 

Now, the question presents itself to you ft this 

It nail's testimony, if my memory is correct, he •does 

swear very clearly whether he saw what he says ocourdit 

the store through the window, or through the door, and f 

as I remember his testimony -- if I am wrong, now, corroa 

me -- he was standing away from the door, some feet, and 

forget the exact number. Do you remember, Mr. Derby, dkl! 

the foreman fixed 

kR. CURTIS: 

it as eight feet. 

I am very grateful to your Honor and to 

I want you to keep this cardinal fact in your mindlana 

that is this, that when the body was found it was found 

some feet removed from the counter. It was found some 



theho1d. I think that fireman SWOre it ws very neD1y, 

aer.00Wthe threshold, juat within it. 

Newt the body must not be there, cAarlY* unlees h. 

was pursuing the defendant; and we come to that part of 

the cats which 1 after all, the one that I think challengeS 

I have already said what I desire to say in regard 

to the pistol. I have already said what I desire to say 

about the cause of the quarrel. I now come to discuss the 

Now, Gentlemen, the law used to be that a man in this 

State could not go on the stgnd and testify in his own 

behalf, but some legal reformers got- a law passed by the 

Legislature of the Commonwealth that gave the accused that 

privilege, and I need hardly say to you that the sagacity, 

individual in entanglement with the law. 

He was not compelled to go on the stand, and the 

Court would have been compelled by the law to charge you 

that his failure to go on the stand could not be taken 

against nim, and he in no way sacrificed any of the leggl 

rights by remaining off the stand , hut it seemed to us who 
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h*.ve been entrusted by the Court with. 

it seeeted to us.- that we could not discharge •: 

the defendant and the People without the Jury kh.:0*:thef:. 

whole affair from our standpoint; and I have a right to  

argue on the evidence that if he had been kept off the . 

stand,- in the channel of review, it might have been a 

very serious question whether the State had made out a 

prima facie case. 

We discarded all that; we put this boy and his destiny 

into the crucible of your belief or disbeltef. 

Now, what is his story, He roes on and tells you 

I won't repe at that part of it, where he was born, and 

hi8 experience in the old Country, and his relatives there, 

and his coming to this land, where he sought employment 

and where he sought to lift himself in the social scale 

and to become a business man, like all of his people. 

Now, I repeat to you , don't forget it, if thiBoalam-

ity had nct happened to that boy, if he had been entan-

gled in that most unhappy business, is there any gentle-

man on this panel that would hesitate to have employed 

him, on the recommendations of his life, his record and 

his service to others') 

Now, that is 4 fair question. And, therefore it is $ 

are you not rushing at a conclusion, taking away from him 

the sacred presumption of the law, his innocence, until 
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fitegtablIshed when without 44 

4011tvAl7Zto thC-actlia4 f4ots4.ou saY thW 

tb,Y. 9-fOretlence because he is swe4ring. fOr"bi'0:1. 

Weill of course, he is swearing for his 

Course, he cannot preserve his life lintW he tells. the. 

facts, and unless he tells the facts just as they 060Utai• -

red. Some eye in the Jury will discover the error, some 

voice in the Jury will be raised against him, possibly, 

and the result would be that his testimony Would not be 

credited. 

Now, let us look at it. I said to you before the 

recess that I have never seen a young person or an adult 
or 

personAany person whosoever withstand the cross examin-

ation that he endured. Now, you may think, nentlemen, that 

that -is a very slight thing. ;.t is not. You know they 

say our profession are the worst witnesses in the world. 

I donyt know of many lawyers in my acquaintance that 

could sit there and withstand the combin ed assault of 

the District Attorney and tne Jury and all the questions 

that were put to him, and I failed 1 and I watched very 

closely, I failed to see where he at any time was incon-

sistent. 

Now, let us think. There is no question that there 

was a difference about this money. It was really two dol-

lars, and when he usea the language one dollar to Mrs. 



He bad no money. He went away from there 

this evidence disclosed, because the little girl says he 

exlai*ed "Good by", amicably.. Now, a man with the latent 

intent in his heart tocteatMIF his neighbor does not part 

with him under circumstances of that nature, with an ami-

He says that he wanted to see his Aunt. Now, his 

. Aunt lived in this City. Perhaps she was the only and 

itary relative that 1 in this friendless and forlorn con.-

dition, Providence had left him. Here was a manla stran-

tongue. Here was a man that believed that he was in con-

siderable trouble, and so he was, and it seemed in the 

some conversation with the deceased, the deceased refused 

his request to pay him the money that he AlamwaWWV, and 

said "If you don't like this", or "if you don't adjust it 

in this way, you can bring me in the Court and sue me." 

Now, perhaps the deceased had had more experience 

about our Courts than the defendant, and perhaps he had 

that peculiar inevitable influence that some men jr bus 
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flask )1,9-514irtrtrOxa political machinery+ that 

flUenCe and power; in the land. We donit know anyt 

about that. But here was a helpless boy 1 here watt a,  

to whom even that six dollars, or five dollars, or what*. 

ever it was, was all he hadirepresented all his little 

fortune. Ahd you could see upon the stand that he is an 

intense creature, he is a man of deep feelings, as the 

burst that he exhibited when he thought of those dear ones 

in the old land shows. Now, just follow that. Analyze 

the character of this boy. 

He says that he went up to see his aunt, to get her 

advice about it. Now, witness the innate delicacy of the 

boy. The Aunt was asleep. lut didn't desire to wake her, 

and his purpose crystalized in a desire to go back to the 

store , to have no trouble with the law, and to accept 

what this merchant or this deceased would give him. Now, 

thqt is frankly what he said. Was any flaw picked in that" 

You remember those most certain questions put by the 

learned Court in endeavoring to trace any possible pur-

chase on his part of 4 pistol. In the first place, it 

4) was the r4abbath day; that is, it w.s the 5abbiith day of 

the Gentile and the stores and pawn shops, where articles 

like pistols and other weaponI efts:Ise are purchased and 
,to-cl  

sold. How deep was the scrutiny of the learned Court. 
A 

He aexed him every possible question in regard to the 



was answered with the frankness Of the trUth*-

'What wall he to buy a pistol with', He had tot.hi 

money then, and it WhS shown that he had only been J;11 the 

employment of the deceased for about twenty dayS; awl 

know there was a great figuring in that delicatessen •Wirs. 

there besides the cheese box as to what was due for leidt 

and what was due for this and that and the other. Very 

a pistol with, if all these store's 

had opened there doors and invited him within. You see 

he goes into a resturant, to get something to eat. 

He goes to his un' s house.ne comes hack. And the qUeo-

tion was put by kr. Derby, I thought it was 

tinent question, and, Gentlemen, it covered this whole case, 

he came back, he says, in answer to Mr. Derby's questions, 

"With what purpose did you go back'  



Here is the Whole thing* No 00 'bust that if the 

Creator knows what took place in there except the eye of 

the .man who undertook to tell you on the stand. the hzatory 

of that occurrences If the man had not died, if the man. 

had lived, the one who perished, I mean, he could have .to. 

yob., but outside of the great day of Judgment probably no 

one but this defendant can tell you exactly what took place 

In the second place, he said that when he returned that 
o( 

Instead meeting him in a conciliatory spirit, why, the 
P 

deceased reproached him and threatened him. Now, is that 

And he said he was there to effect a sett101* 

merit of the matter and a reconciliation between them. Then 

'Why shouldn't he have had a pistol" He slept, that 

the deceased, slept in a little room off the store“ 

don't think it was a large room, and, therefore, he 

describes it as a little roam, he slept there, perhaps, to 

protect his property. Every now and then we read of these 

street attaches entering , stores Quite recehtly, corn-

down in Flatbush, they entered a jewelry 

store and killed the man at his window,- No, at his coun-



Mk 41t* 411 fairtailikr with that.. 

very daring; and in those little del catesSela etore that 

do an extensive trade, you know very well they have 

siderable cash 'on hand, and that much of their businetle is 

done at night, and much of the money that they take in is 

taken in after the bank has closed, at three o'clock. 

for the sake of protecting his property, what more natural 

thing in the world than to protect it by a pisto19 

)on't you know that, if, in the vast wilderness 

of this city , this gun had been purchased that day at 

eye of the Police would have been as. searching as the mind 

of the learned Judge today', . And they would have tr aced 

that pistWto this boy with unerring instinct. 

You examine that pistol. There is no mark on it par-

ticularly. There is the matk, perhaps, of the maker, c4, 

of the kind or character of the pistol. That is my recofloc-

tion. There are thousinds, thousands of such. 

Was any attempt made to prove on this trial that 

those bullets that were displayed so obtentatiously even 

fitted that pistol' Not at all. Not an attempt was made. 

And in the light of all the law or the subject of identifi-

cation, why it struck me with surprise that you were en-



trusted with the considerati of 

But 80 3.tis. 

Now, I ask you gentlemen, is the story of his iimprO 

ble, If he told the truth about the first explosionie 

first shot, my learned friend will probably present it to 

you in that shape, but if he told the truth about the fiDst 

explosion, that ends this case, and I will tell you whj 

the deceased for this gun. Very likely. Nothing unusual 

about that. As they wtood face to face, there was the 

struggle; that struggle Was renewed when he returned back' 

to the counter. Then that pistol explOded. Singular if It 

had not. And there is nothing in the nature of the wound 

-inflicted that presents the conclusion that the wounds 

were received • exactly in the way that he describes they  
, 

must have been received. There was a wound in the clavivle 

WhiCil penetrated the lung. The description of th4)ther 

ws not 80 perfect as of the first, but that of itself 

wasexceedingly simple. Two men struggling for a gun, . 

face to face, He said he got possession of it. That 

showed that he was superior in strength to the deceased. 

That is all that showed. But in the struggle it went off. 

Who can contradict hie You can't assume 4 thing against 

You can't presume a thing against a man, unless 

it is supported by proof. You would not take a man's life 
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110w, the learned District Attorney will ,aruto you. 

thisway., see if be don't:' There is circumstantial eir* 

idenc.e to Show that the description of the defendant is 

not correct about that explosion. Now, what is that cir* 

cumstantial evidence/ Evidence of that officer that he 

said that he, in English, asked him the question. "And was - 

it replied to you by this defendant in English also," See 

Mrs. Okun said this, that and the other. I discussed 

What other possible testimony is in the case about 

the nature and character of that explosion' 

You calet take the Italian's word 1 you can't take the 

estimkte, his opinion, of the character of that 

struggle. Why on earth shall -you disbelieve what the boy 

says, and believe the theory whicil can't be uttered by the 

dead man, and which no living eye can support" That is 

the most extraordinary position in which a case can be 

I think with Am4ttconfidence that it could 'be argued 

before the Court that there is no such circumstantial evi-

dence here that corroborates the thetbry not the story of 

the prosecution, hut the theory of the prosecution; 

is one of tnose cases in widch 7 Gentlemen, you have cir-

cumstantial evidence to support a theory. 



VOW, 'let Us See What the cireUmStantial Wr4; 

believe it, has been said by a very great jUdgeel.. 

most dangerous evidence on which a conviction can be 

predicated is circumstantial evidence. Why" Because 

from circumstantial evidence the human mind, always falli-

ble, must deduce certain things in favor of and consist. 

ent with the theory of the prosecution. 

Now, in this case, you have not 1 with the single exm. 

caption of the dictum of the Italian that he saw what he 

states he saw, you have not a word in this case as agidnat 

the story of the defendant. 

Now, listen. Tt explosion occurred. Whether the 

wound in the clavicle was the first wound, or the wound 

in the head was the first wound, does not appear in the 

medical evidence in this case, and the medical testimony 

in this case is very hazy, misty. It was not for us to 

develop. It was for my learned friend, who certainly 

makes no error, 4nd if he had not been a little suspicious' 

about the quality of his testimony in that direction, we 

might have had a. clearer idea in regard to the medical 

testimony. 

Now, what does he say' He was dazed. Why wOUldtitt 410 

be' He was excited. Ey friend may contend to 

was not a knife in that store. inre said that the 

picked up a knife, or put his hand upon a knife. 

you there 

aficeas5P4 

He start-



•ed to go. He fired, not with."'" Oitioil 0 

the man, not with any intention of maiming the 'man 

ply is he said and as I believe truthfully, to ins 

him with fear, so that hemould cease pursuing him, 

Now, Gentlemen, let me say a word to you about thatip 

You cannot escape the fact that the deceased was pupating 

the defendant. If all the theories of my learned oppOnent 

be correct, how can you reconcile that fact with the other 

idea that this defendant was the agressor' It is impos-

sible. 

Why, it reminds me Of a story in the books of a. 

celebrated trial, in which Sir hontifiorri was a jurovii,. 

and the evidence in the trial seemed to be overwhelming and 

convincing. They had what they have not had in this case, 

an actual eye witness to the affair. That great man, 

one of the gre:atestilthat ever lived, man who gave to eve47 

race, creed, religion, every one of God's people over the 

earth, charity, from the accumulation of a successful and 

prosperous life. He was on the Jury, and something struck 

him that there Was o. weak spot in the case. He went out 

and he disagreed with the others. He wa a reproached by 

tne Judge, I believe. Everybody thought he was wrong. Time 

went by, a very short time, comparitively , and before the 

man was tried again it turned out that the robbery had 

been accomplished by a PinnIsh burglar. 



man' VhatinalOweti4mwi 

ition to see into that thing/ We don't know 'Whit 

a special act of providence, or wh t it was, bUt•the' ±ac. 

remains. 

Now, then, here is a case where, on the very Slight 

circumstarcti4Vidence in corroboration 1 you.are asked to 

destroy the life of this boy. Are you not nearly as guil-

ty if you do that as was Cain when he slew Abel, and the 

Lord asked him"Where is thy brother," "Am I my brotherts 

keeper" 

YVS, you are your brother's keeper. And the law has 

put you , and Providence has put you, in this place, to 

stand between the people and the defendant, and you said 

upon your oaths, wnen you consented to act as jurorst; that 

you would give a fair trial to this boy, that you would not 

condemn him in the absence of proof, that you would not 

destroy him through the weapon of prejudice. 

Yes, and I am very much obliged for this suggestion 

from my learned associate, to whom I owe so much in the 

trial of this case. To what purpose was the deceased pur-

suing the defendant, who was armed, Was the deceased pursu-

ing the defendant, who Was armed' What was his purpose, 

Their own evidence shows that he was pursuing him. 

If the boy was not responsible for the explosion, 

lie should not die, and if, when he fired, believing in 



answer SO the query of.my learned aaeoct1 thaj he 1t 

that his life was in menace, without an intentio 

but to inspire the sentiment of fear, he Should not 

an yougiTe back 11±1 e' Can you restore to StreOgth 

and beauty the form of the departed' After your fiat has. 

gone forth, and would become embalmed in the records of thi0 

Court, this boy goes to his death, how can you answer for 

Now,,t!As suggestion has another point, and it is 

very valuable. Could he have had any other purpose than 

For instance, the defendant says he didn't know until 

he got back that this man had been wounded in the manner 

described in the testimony; that he saw no blood until 

then. This man's body when found indicated that when . 

life left him and the spirit went out into the world be-

yond, that he was pursuing this defendant, either tor re,4 

venge for the explosion -- he might have attributed it to 

him -- he was pursuing for revenge for that injury_ and 

the law says distinctly, and it is a principle 

old 48 Chief Justice Shaw, and it was 

e dominant doctrine in all this 
who 

I believe the learned Court will

charge you in this caselwill not forget it, if a man 



honestly believes thait he is in peril Of hi*,life-or oX 

bodily injUrytt he has the right to use such mithkis,.nd 

*violent* even as will protect himself; _much mor 

this case, where the evidence really points to 

Conclusion, that the deceased, when he met.his unfortu-

nate death, was pursuing this defendant, who was flying to 

There were knives in the place. Yes. Used in the 

business. The defendant said he pursued him with a knife. 

He lay across the threshold, feet away from where the first 

avlosion took place. Can you Eet awy from that' 

But is it sufficient for you to say, "Well, the man 

is dead. It is true that this; deceased was not exactly 

just and right about his treatment of aim, that is all 

true, but the man is dead. Now, wno killed him. 

We don't want any positive. evidence as to who killed him. 

We will assume that the man with whom he had the difference 

killed nim." That is 1 you can say in this 

Would you destroy the life of your worst enemy on 

the testimony 15f that policeman" 

Now, tnose are questi(.ne youmust ask your conscience. 



Ou;- 447 b:*'' indif'ferent, perh4P34of the li2e of this 

individual. He 4isappears from the surface. 

sound. Mut if he is wrongly convicted) and if 

tk perish, remember there is noi,time and there is no ete: 

nity in which you can satisfy your consciences. 

He is in a strange country. He looks appealingly to 

you as the embodiment of the law of this land, and he says 

to you, as .).e said upon the stand, "I am no murderer"; and 

he has not been proved so. You can't argue logically and 

Are yoU equal to the task of declaring the truth and the 

law when the truth and the law are not popular  

Now, rrentlemen, I want to keep my word with you, and 

I simply leave this case with you, and let not the histons 

ian nave it to record at some future Ume tha a stranger, 

an alien, a mere boy, was taken in your midst ,and tried 

under the forms of law convicted agai nst the spirit of law, 

and condelped on circumstantial evidence, very slight in 

its character, condemned to death for a crime which he 

THE COURT: If, before the District Attorney begins 



15-

• u es. 'Gentlemen f the jury, you ate 

conVerse aMong

 

yon selves on any sUbject Con 

this trial, ortgalk or express an opinion thereon  

the same is submitted to you. The Court takes a reoets 

until half past two. 

(The Court accordingly took a recess until two thi t 

P. Li 

AFTER RECESS, 

Mr. Wasservogel then sums up the case to the Jury on 

behalf of the people, as follows: 

May it please your Honor, Mr. Foreman and Gentleman 

of the Jury : 

In spite of the eloquent and most interesting address 

of the learned Counsel for the defense, wherein he dis.. 

cussed everything from the religions of the past; ,the re 

ligions of thejQresent to the conquests of the Russian 

Empress, wherein he discussed everything except the real 

the vital facts in this case, in spite of that, Gentle-

men, the question that you are called upon the decide is 

a simple one. 

It is conceded in this case that at least one of the 

shots wilich strmck Raphael Schwartzmann was fired by this 

defendant, and it is from the surrounding circumstances a 

from the circumstances which preceded the Shooting, from 
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the Zact which DO-3-0Wed" frau the relations 

the partieS, that Of employer and employee, 

'Ulnae given by this man himself, that you can Withou. 

any difficulty at all determine the motive Which astlra 

him in the commission of his crime, and come to a canclU, 

sion as to what degree of the crime charged against hiM 

he ought to be convicted of. 

Now, it may be, Gentlemen, that a dollar or two to you 

or to me may seem nothing. I am free to confess there was 

a time in my life when it meant much. This young man here, 

Raphael Schwartzmhain, twenty two years of age, just start*. 

ing out in life, opened up this little delicatessen and 

grocery store. To him a dollar or two might have meant% 

a !hole lot. You or 12 if we had a quarrel with a clerk 

over a few dollars might say "Oh, take the money, get out 

of here", but s there any reason that has been urged here 

why Raphael Schwartzminn should have paid one penny to this 

defendant if it was not coming to him, 

And it was in this small delicatessen and grocery 

store that this defendant was employed, at a salary, I. 

believe it was twelve dollars a month, and he also receiv-

ed nis board and lodging. Those fagts you already know. 

On Saturday morning, October 12th, he worked until 

about ten o'clock. It was not a day whilth he observed as 

the Sabbath, because ne worked Saturday until ten o'clock 



it the morning. 

lhere Was some dispute aa to the time w-
as 

titlxtd to be ititf and the result of thtt disivm a 

decided that the defendant should leave the employ Of 

Schwartzmann, and it was agreed between them then that 

he was to return the following morning, at which time the 

amount which was due him was to be determined. He was to. 

be paid, and they were to quit, once and for all. 

Now, the testimony of Abraham Schwartzmann, the bilotbot 

er of this young man, is attacked by the learned Counsel 

because it Was not quite as full in the Coroner's Court as 

in this Curt. 

Now, I don't know, Gentlemen, whether any of you at 

any time were in a Coroner's Court. My friend calls a 

Coroner's Court, or speaks of a Coroner's Court, as strug-

gling on its feet like a drunken man. A Coroner's Court iS 

very much like a Police Court.In &Coroner's Court you only 

bring out such evidence as is absolutely necessary to 

determine wttether the man ought to be held for the action 

of the Grand Jury, or whether he ought not to be held for 

4D the action of the qrand Jury. 

The Coroner, as you Knovv, is not a lawyer, as a 

Judge upon the bench is, and the mutters are not gone into 

deeply at aLl. As a matter of fact, we only produce such 

evidence as we absolutely need. Time and time again in 



the :CoroneI s Court we will call the POlice IQ 

or one or two witnesses, and when the trial 4self OonAill0 

on in General Sessions or the Supreme Court, we have ten 

or fifteen witnesses who know all about every little de*. 

tails as it is necessary when a man is charged with the 

commission of the crime of murde#, 

This young man has told you, Abraham Schwartzmann 

that On the morning of October thirteenth, that is, Sunday 

morning, at about seven o'clock, they were figuring out the 

amount widen was due to the employee. They said there was 

five dollars due. He said there was six dollars due. They , 

refused to give him six dollars.' There was an argument 

about it. He left. He wouldn't taxe the five dollars 

which they offered. He went out, and he promised to get' 

square, or used some words to that effect. He was mad. He 

went away. Re came back. 

The next time we see him in tha'-. store, a little girl 

is present. Now, in the presence of that girl he didn't 

want to start a discussion, he didn't want to start a 

quarrel, he didn't want an eye witness, so when he saw that 

little girl tnere, and tnere cannot be any dispute in your 

mknds that that little girl was there, because Mrs. Okun, 

the other witness for the prosecution, told you that she 

saw tne little girl go into trl, store when she, Mrs. Okuns 

went out of tne store; there can't be any dispute about 

that. 



He :came Sohwartzmann saw him, bamditti 11111'1040 

money, and he walked mkt. He bided his time; PrObb343r 

waited somewhere in the neighbcr—ihood; he Waited 

he knew there Was no one in that store but the proprietor. 

He goes back, and then,when he goes back, we find 

upon the testimony of the Italian Coal dealer just exact/7 

Let me react it to you. It is short. 

with murder. I want you to decide this case 

facts alone. This Italian is asked : 

"Tell us all you heard and that you saw that morning 

with respect to the shooting" He says, "1 went over to 

deliver some coal to one of my customers. In coming back, 

passing in front of this store here, I heard the report of 

a pistol", and he indichted on this piCture with a pencil 

mark the point where he was at the time when he heard that 

pistol shot, 4 point from which he could see all that was 

transpiring in this delicatessen store. He says, "I turned 

around and I saw a man with a pistol in his hand, pointing 

this way", and he indic4ted how that man was standing with 

tol in his hand come out on the sidewalk and the boss of-

tne store go after him, and when he got near tne door the 

Alan that fired the first shot turned back." 



Mind :tibial s.walking Wtxt of the store: W 

Pisto1 in hie band, the pistol that rem4ined in 

"He turns around, fired the 

The man, referring to the proprietor, "He came out 

by coining around from behind the counter".. 

He was behind the counter all the ti; he went near 

"He ,went near tne door, and tnis defendant fired 

down in my basement. After a little while I came out, 

ana I saw the defendant in the custody of the officers." 

And so there we nave the defendant coming out of the 

store mad, mad as can be, threw away the  gun; he walks off 

A police officer, having nearo tne shots, goes after 

The defendant did not come up to him and meet 

The police officer testified that tie came from 

behind and walked up to this man and grabbed him by the 

shoulder and spoke to him, and h4uestioned him, and the 

defendant ii a' ' iim that he was tne one tat committed 



this: crime.  

fri,end asked why, why would this man ma 

an admission. o you know why He was Mad clean 

through at that time. He didn't care who knew it. 

He wanted every-bne to know. 

wouldn't pay me; I killed him because I had the right 

to kill him. That is what was going through his mind 

at the time, and that is why he told the police officer 

He may nat.have told it in as good English as you 

spe, but ne did tell it to him in broken EngliShr 

sufficient for the officer to understnand; and upon the 

defendant's knowledce of the English language,.•I will 

refer to that in a few minutes. 

The officer brings him back in front of he deli-

catessen A crowd of people gather around, 

all Jewish people, because most of the people in that 

neighborhood are Hebrews. 

Dia he say to a single person in that crowd, 

"this man that is shot there menaced me with a knife" 

Is ther-i a single person to whom this defendant said 



answe...ed heri She adked him lviYhY, did MA* 

this 41. or words to that effect; I don't reken 

exact words; and you know what he said, according to 

testimony. "1 asked him 'Who did it, who did it,  a* 

answered, 'Het, referring to the man who was shot totdn 

want to give me the dollar, and he goes to the devil." 

An ambulande surgeon was called. He was taken.- the 

man was taken to the hospital, and died almost immediately. 

We have shown you by the testimony of the positions 

that this man -- listen to this -- "Had a number of bruisi• 

es on his face his lower lip Was Cut, he had a bruise on 

the bridge of his nose, he had another bruise at the root 

of the neck, and he had somS'bruises on the right side of  

his face, the rignt side." 

What does it all indicate to 10 He probably puncb,, 

ed this man first, gave him a good beating, before he 

used the gun. 

In addition to that, there was the wound in the left 

Jr right side which penetrated tihe right lung. There was  

the other wound which entered the right ear. There is no 

question about that. 

They say the medical testimony was not clear. They 

say there Was no proof that the bullets came from this gun, 

that the bullets fitted into this gun; but I say to you 

that the bullets did fit into this man4s _body, and the 

bullets were taxen from this Man's body, and tne bullets 
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bUllets which Were taken from this poor boy's 

They talk about this boy(defendant). HOW a1tt t 

boy. that was killed' 

Here are the bullets. There are two of them. Ther 

another one there. 

Now, what is the defendant's version of this affair, 

.1 promime you, gentlemen, that I will not consume near as 

much time as my friend did % has been very ably defend-

ed by two lawyers who were a signed to him by the Court. 

In a murder case it is pr ided by law that the Court 

may appoint Counsel to defend. Such an appointment is 
Its 

considerea a great honor, and lb much sought after, for 

two reasons. My friend remarked that he suffered griev... 

ously in being compelled to come here. NuT, the two rear 

sons are these; In the first place, as I have said, it id: 

a great honor • In the second place, the State pays fiVe-

hu#dred dollars, so that you see this is an honor that 

even such eminent gentlemen as these, will seek. And they 

were doing no more than their duty in coming here dnd de4t19 

fanding this young man, and tnere is not a lawyer in the 

City --

MR. DERBY: Your Honor, I take exception to the.re-

marks of tne District Attorney that this honor is sought 

by Counsel in this case, as he well knows the rules of 
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The toUttt There is no evidence in this nothj 

inctioate that either of the Counsel sought it. 

MR. DARBY': That is absolutely unjustified* 

THE COURT:. There is nothing ta dhow that either Or 

the gentlemen appearing for this defendant Sought the api.; 

pointment tram the Court. Proceedlnow. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: I say to you gentlemen that this is 

an honor which is much sought after, for the reasons Which 

I have already stated, and that I repeat. 

Now, what is the defendant's version of this affair'' 

He realizes that it is encumbent upon him to make some 

defence here; he has got to say something; so he tells you 

a story which is a ttssua of lies. 

Surely , gentlemen, you will not say that a man who 

is able to commit murder will hesitate When it comes to 

committing perjury. 

He produces several character witnesses. He produc.-

es two witnesses with whom he lived for about two weeks, 

who teU_ you that, so far as they knew, he had no gun* 

now, while it is usually very difficult for the 

State to produce one witness who actually saw the commis-

sinn of a crime, you can always get a hundred or more peo.i. 

ple who will say"I didn't see it." That is easy. 

So, these people who were called here as character 

„ 



•'witnesses', as witnesses who told you that 

gun ilrhis vmmetitigni, they know nothin 

th*, facts, 

compel a defendant to take 

is the oe who committed the crime, where it is put Tight 

up to a mai, that he used a gun, where it is put right up 

to man that he discharged that gun at a man who is now 

dead and buried, it is absolutely necessary for him to go. 

on the stand, and these lawyers would not have done theiT 

duty by him if they had not put him or +h stand. 

He tells you that he speaks no English. That, at home 

with his Father and Mother he would speak only Yiddish; 

that he went to school in Russia, and there was taught cn 

On the witness stand here, he decided to speak in 

Russian, in spite of the fact that all the people with 

whom he haa any dealings in the City of New York spoke in 

Nov, it may be thwt this defendant knew that there . 

were some men on this Jury that understand Yiddish; it 

may be that re knew that I would understand him if he spoke. 

tn Yiddish; it may be that he wanted more time to think 

over a quet3tion when it was put to him, because, no matter 



low faithful the Interpreter may be, there. is 

thing which is lost in the translation, and that is wby he 

preferred to taik in Russian. So you see he is more' 

shrewd than my friend would have you believe. 

He says that in Russia he was taught to read and WriW 

in the Russian language only, and you will recall that I - 

had him write his name in Russian. 

In the Coroner's Court, he signed,his name, in what I 

tors in the Russian language which are exactly similar' to 

our own lettere. I challenge him to pick out any of the 

important letters in the name Eli Geller as written in 

Russian; and point out in what resepct they are similar 

to the name as written in English. 

This man learned how to write Englip17. Mien be learn 

ed how to write English; he must have learneditaly.to spe4.0 

He spoke it sufficiently well to tell the officer what the 

officer has testified to; and there is absolutely no rea-

son in the world why you should come to the conclusion that 

Officer Northrup cane into this Court, took this witness 

stand here, swore by the Almighty God to tell the truths 

the Whole truth and nothing bu the truth, in a case where 

. man's life is at stake, and deliberately to perjure him,-

self. Will you put such a stain on an officer's name. 

Do you believe that he came here with any such foul pus-
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c. # nine It is ridiculous4 

What does the defendant claim', In the 0110ila 

of the learned Junior Oounsel for the defence,  

this is what they were going to prove "The deceased: 

Schwartzmann, thereupon went into the back of the store, 

and returned with a gun, returned with a pistol, and start-

ed to make an assault upon the defendant, and the defend-

ant, who yop will see, if you observe him on the stand, is 

a very powerful young man, tremendously strong in the arms 

and in the chest, he grabbed the arm of Schwartzmann and 

took the pistol away from him. Schwartzmann retreated be-

hind the counter, went near where the cash register was* 

ana the aefenaant thought he Was going to open the regis-

ter and pay him the money. He dia not do that, and the 

defendant leaned over the counter and said to him, 'Pay 

me the money". And then afterwards -- and he fired a 

second time, to frighten Schwartzmann. The second shot was 

fatal, ana Schwartzmann dropped . 

in 
Then he arguesithis way:If Schwartzmann was pursuing 

the defendant, as testified to by the People's own wit-

nesses, if he was in pursuit, if he was after this man 

with a loaded gun", now, the gun was in this man's hand 

(indciating defendant), not in the dead man's hand-- "It 

will be argued to you quite properly, that if Schwartzmann 

Was coming after the man with a loaded gun, ne must have 
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had only one purpose in his mind.! 

-There is no proof in the case at all thatelWartOrf, 

mann .wram going after this man with a loaded gun. 

MR..DERBY: It is perfectly clear what the meaning 

was, your. Honor. 

I. WASSERVOGEL: I didn't interrupt Counsel through” 

out three hours. 

THE COURT: Do/pt. interrupt. 

MR. WASSERVOGEL: Now, this is what they did show: 

the 
He says that on this Sunday morning after disputelabout 

the payment of this money he wanted six dollars. His em-

ployer, the young boy who owned the delicatessen store, 

would pay him only four dollars. He went away. He says 

that he came back at about ten o'clock; that at that tinad 

the store d&or was closed; that he opened the Opor and 

went into the store; that the boy who owned the store was 

aloe at that time; that he demanded some money or money 

from him, and that he refused to give him the money; that 

he said,"Well, I will stay here until you give it to me"; 

and that Schwartzmann then went into the back of the store, 

came out and went up to him with a gun in his hand, 

and held it near him, and that he; the defendant, took 

the gun away from him. 

Now, there you have it. The gun is in the possession 

of the defendant. No claim at all that in the strug-
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gle by the defendant to take the gun avtasy from Sob*art 

that it exploded at that time. There is no flud4 aaim 

Take his own version of this affair, and you must. 

come to the „conclusion that he is guilty of -the crime 

charged against him, because at that time the gun had not 

exploded; and we have the defendant with the gun in his 

hand. Schwartzmann retreats behind the counter, he goes 

near the cash register, the defendant stands in front of 

the counter; they are right opposite to each other. 

You will remember, when he was on the witness stand 

yesterday, I had him indicate and show me how he was stand-

ing, and I stood this way, and he said this is the way 

he.stood(illustrating). There  was the boas , on the oth-

er cash register. Here was the defendant 

Now, what do you suppose he was saying at the time 

this man , the defendant, the boss, went pear the cash 

"Open that cash drawer; give me my money." 

he says, while he was standing this way,(illustrating) 

Schwartzmann bent over, the little fellow, he was Shorter--

it is admitted that he was shorter than that boy, Abra-

ham Schwartzmann, whom you saw here, several inches short-

er lian he, this powerful fellow standing on the other 

side with a loaded gum, and Schwartzmann bent over, he 



claimed, and tried to take the gun a, ay frost h  

'Do you believe that popycodk, eutht,coMyr 

you believe that' 

And then, in that struggle, when Sehwartzmann,-in 

fear of his own life, tried to take the gun away from 

this man, why, if there was any self defense at all, in 

this case, gentlemen, it was on the part of Raphael 

Schwartzmann, who was tryinp to presex.ve his oln life, 

because the gun was in the hands of this defendant, 

and not in the hands of Raphael Schwartzmann at that 

time. 

He says that at that moment, when Schwartzmann was 

trying to take the gun away from him, the gun was dischar-

ged, the gun was discharged, and the bullet went into 

this man's lung, and he says that, with a bullet in 

his lung, though the blood must nave been spurting from 

this boy's breast, he didn't see any blood. 

On, no, he only saw what he wanted to see, nothing 

else. He couldn't see any blood, but he did see--

he couldn't see any blood, but he saw Schwartzmann 

pick up a knife. Where does the knife come from, 

In a delicatessen store, you know tLere are knives. 

He says, "I saw him pick up a knife, and I saw him 

run towards rie door, around behind the counter. At 

tLat momen+", ne says, "I was nearer to the door than 



JO going to read to you what he Said, 

_be4 accused of saying anything Which is not in the reccr 

and I took it away from him, and with the left handI

 pushed him away

 

And you took the revolver from his hands' 

A Yes" 

Now, in the struggle to take the revolver from 

nisi, the revolver did not go off, 

And after you had the revolver in your hands, 

you remained outside of the counter' 

he was behind the colInter, was he' 

he was between the table and the wall; that means inside 

And the cash register was on the counter, wasn't 

No, the register was not on tne table. It 

was fixed to the wall. 

And the register was behind the counter' 

A Yes, behind the counter. 

"Q So, in order to get to the register, he 

Schwartzmann, Lad to fro behind the counter; isn't that 
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•thtt particular sOnOnt-4 

-6,t th.a regiptei) behind the counter, ihere  

standing in framt of the counter  A Ite,s41 

standing on the outside of the counter. 

fig And you bent over the counter, didn't you, 

this way (Illustrating)" A No.", ne says, "I witS. 

standing straight, erect, only my hand I put on the 

counter. 

Ifg You were standing straight at the counter, 

and your hand was there, 

Itg 

wasn't it' A Yea. 

And at this time you say your boss was at the 

cash register' A Yes, sir. 

And he tried to take the gun away from you 

while you were standing tners' A Yes. 

tog 

you, you 

ttg 

And then, as he tried to get the gun away from 

say it was discharged' A Yes. 

And after you neard the pistol, did you remain 

standing there' A I may nave remained there a se-

cond on the spot, not knowing what to do; I don't know. 

Ilg The gun remained in your rignt nand, did  

A Yes, in my rignt nand." 

Even after the first snot, gentlemen, he did not 

put the gun down; it was stilt in his right hand. 

"Q Tie store was stilt closed, wasn't  

A Still closed. 

0 



•  u. say Ayou saw him g0ing from be 

=counter towards the doOrl with the cnife in his hand; 

sa is that what you said' A I only w him grab the -

knife and start to run. Then I don't remember any 

And he ran towards the door from behii4he 

oufltr A Yes, towards the door. 

But you were the nearest to the door, weren 

you' A No, he was ner to tne door, because whi 

I was standing on the spot, not able to move, he ran 

towards the door, and tnen he was nearer. 

But you are tne one that opened the door, aren't 

After tne shot, I started to nun, and I 

You do know that you still nad the revolver in 

And you did hear the revolver go off?- A Yes, 

And you ficed point blank at this man's nead, 



Yott fired point blank at this man o 
• 

didn t you? A I didn't see any hOad then. 

You knew he was in the store? A I aw that 
ng 

he was in the store. 

NI And you knew that he was standing right near 

you there, because you saw the knife in his: hand9 

- * 
A_ I didn't Om at nim. I aimed at a place where 

he was not as yet, so as to frighten him". 

Gentlemen of Lne jury, do you suppose that a man 

who is bleeding to deat from a wound in his lung required' 

to be frightened any more  

He said he discharged tne revolver the second time 

only to frignten the man. Oo you believe that" Oo 

you believe that second snot was fixs4 only to frighten 

this dead boy" • 1 

- 
In spite of all tnatAthy learned friend hastold 

Y.P$ th.ti State is not revengeful. Another death in this . 

case means nothing. We are not looking for any 

laurels as Judge Curtis would n6ve you believe. We 

are ne-e tTTing to do our duty as you twelve men have 

been called to do yours, and nothing else. 

If you believe tha+, tnis second Shot was fired at 

the boy who was Ileedinc to death by this defendant 

suleLy frign%en nim, way, Let him go. 

he says th,,t he was excited, that he doesn't know 



and, 'in spite -Of the fact that he says he. was 4$# 

he is positive, he is positive that the Italian 0641. 

dealer was not there at all. Both can't be true. 

He admits that Mrs. Lnun spoke to him, but denies 

that he said to her what she testifieeb to about he wouldn't 

pay the money, he goes to the Oevil. 

I think it was the tenth juror, that had him repeat, 

in Yiddish, exactly what he did say, as he claims, and 

it was repeated and he said, "On ao(_:ount of a dollar the 

Ti.at is his version of what 

Everybody in this case, ac(;ording to the defendant, 

is lying. He isthe only person that is telling the 

All these i)eople, although they don't know him, 

according to his statement, came here and framed up a 

conspiracy against nim, to du him wrong, he, the only 

one that caused this young boy's death. 

We have shown you, }?y young Schwartzmann, that his 

fireman who came there and found Raphael Schwartzmann 

bieeding to death, that he AAA* 'him lying there in the door 

mnd ;—ere was no Knl:e lying re..r him. 

Sur.eiy,iJ i'Lad ,un aut with a knife in his 

nano tile knife woula .avm hf),In iylng right near the opot 



where he.hiukself fell, bleeding to -death. 

They needed..a. knife. If the knife h 

there, they would have noticed this knife, beesn*W-tli 

n*eded one to cut the apron which he wore, but th04440 

not any knife there. 

The Italian coal dealer 

had no knife. 

An appeal throughout tne argument of tne counsel 

was constantly made to your sympathies in this case. 

I an  not one of those gentlemen who believe that, when. 

also say*.that this man 

ajuror takes his place in tne jury box, he is to divest 

himself of all feelings of numhn sympathy, of all feel-

ings of humanity. It is natural for men to be 

sympatnetic, and I need aardly tell you that the 

feelings of human sympathy are as strongly embedded 

in my breast as tPey 6re in ;rie breast for the counsel 

for tne defense; but before we extend our sympathies to 

a man we must as.  ourselves, gentlemen, is ne deserving 

of our sympathy? 

What symi)atny iic tnis defendant for tne victim of 

nis crime, 

I ask, nad 

wflom ne -3not down in cold blood? What right, 

tnis defendant to constitute himself Rapahel 

Schwartzmann's judEol ju-y and executioner, all in one  

Mind you, ne brougnt. t.ne cnarge. He says, "You 

We me m ney" TLat 0,13 e ind you, he 

t -lea t. .Ua80. he ).1no verdict. "1 flnd you 



StaltY4 'rou owdre=hey** Mind tou, e paused the 

sentence r hKve found you the:sgn 

which I impose upon you is that.7;01Adie.'; and he rixo 

the time of the sentence. You must die nal tbls-le7 

oment; and, without n instant's warning, gentlemen, 

with out a secpnd's preparation, this boyIe life Waal 

snuffed out, rusiled into tne presence of his Creator 

The Oivine command "Thou shalt not kill"has_been 

There never was any pity in tnis man, ieart. He 

is not entitled to the sympathy of honest men. This 

as murder.• It was deliberate, because he came there 

with a gun. It was premedit,ted, because he went there. 

This Nita's murder, murder in the first degree, n.(11 

gentlemen, it was not manslc4ughter, because in man-

eiaugnter the design to effect deatn, the intent to 

Thiswrxs not muraer in tile second degree, because in 

I mii;lit go furt",-, gentiemen, and 840,y to you taut 
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jtnown of any "Case which 'more 

Out 'the -Grime of murder in its first degree, 

Cape does not spell out that crime no case doss. 

This  is Friday. I want to get through. I m not 

going to detain you much longer. I realize full well 

that a criminal trial is a serious matter to a defendant 

who is on trial. But it is also serious to the com-

munity, the community in which you live, and in which 

I live. the community Im which all of us lOve, and honor 

ri d respect, and If' a man charged with the'commission 

of a crime is brought to trial before a duly eonstituted 

Court, and is shown to be guilty, not beyond a. reasonable 

doubt, but beyond any possible doubt, and then a jury, 

representing the business intelligence of the community,. 

says, "Oh, what do we care about the evidence; we will _ 

let him go", or they might. even say "We will convict 

Aim of some lower degree of tne crime; what do we care", 

why, gentlemen, alL you do.then is to;put 4 premium upon 

icrime, and it becomes impossible to nforce the criminal 

law, because you then announce that in the 'County of New 

York murder may be committed, and a man may go free, or,  

at the most, get a few years in prison. 

If men who have claims ag inst others are to be 

permitted to tae the _lam into their own hands., instead 

of taxing their law suits into a court of justice, 



New Yok,. in a condition of riot_ And of anarchy There 

4 40 qUeStiOn: al'olit that; absolutely none. 

One word more, and I am through.BefOre YOU. 

were selected as jurors in this case you all, each and 

every one of you; declared yourselyes strong minded Men 

and wi4.1ing to enforce the Law. Upon the evidence 

that we have produced here, the State now asks you twelve 

men of New York to redeem the promise which you made 

before you were selected as jurors, to redeem your pro-

mise by declaring tilts defendant guilty as charged in 
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7.10r00an and gentlemen Of the jury: -

The Ofendant Ely Gelier, is charged in this 

merit with the crime of murder in the first degree.( 

indictment is an accusation in writing. It is nothing• 

but an accusation. It creates no presumption that E4y 

Geller is guilty. ElY:eller has said by his plea 

that he is not guilty, and you have been empanelled and are 

now acting as jurors in this case so that you may deter-

mine from the evidence, and from the evidence alone, and 

fromthe evidence, as you recollect 4t, whether or not the 

defendant is guilty of the crime of murder in the first 

degree, as charged in the indictment, or guilty of any 

other of the lesser degrees of homicide which will be 

definid 

It i 

pu in this charge. 

fitting that you should be told, at the very 

threshold of the charge, that you are the exclusive 

judges of the facts; thc.t your duty is not measured by 

what may be the opinion of counsel for the defendant 

respecting what that duty is, nor is it measured by what 

the opinion of the Assistant District Attorney may be as 

to what your duty is. Your duty is measured by a 

statute explained as to meaning by numerous decisions, 

so that the law regarding what your duty is is settled 

Law. 



anal.Ylies 

with open• in 

to scrutinize the eVidence. 

case, oral and. diOcuraentary, or by exhibits* and measur,-

inett by s definitions to be given to you 

this Charges to say whether or not Ely _Geller has been 

shown by the proof to be guilty of the crime of murder' 

in its first degree, beyond a reasonable doubt or 

guilty of any other of the lesser degrees of hamiicid0 

to be defined in this charge i and, of course, it is just 

in proportion as you are possessed of the capacity for 

dispassionate, critical analysis, just in proportion as 

you are possessed of the capacity of setting over against 

the evidence in the case the law as it is defined to you, 

that you are qualified to discharge that duty of which 

you are the custodians. 

What do I mean when I say that you are the exclusive 

judges of the facts, and that it is your duty to weigh. 

the evidence, by the use of the word "evidence"' 

I include the spoken word of witnesses responsive to 

questions t insofar as the answers have been allowed 

to stand, not being stricken out upon motion of the de-

fendant's counsel, or upon motion of the Assistant Dis-

trist Attorney/ or by the Court of the Court's own metion. 

I include every exhibit which has been offered and re-

ceived in evidence. And if, during the progress of this 

trial, there nas been any concession respecting a matter 
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o aO and I ail not say that thene ha -beeno,tha cOn 

cession,--if there be One, is also includei when I spe 
"cifilOt 

of the evidence to be co#siderea by you. 

I exclude everything that was said by any witnese 

that was stricken out under any of the circumstances  men-

tioned. I exclude any exhibits, if there be any a ch, 

merely marked for identification and not received in. 

evidence. I exclude any colloquy or conversation that 

there may have been between counsel during tde pendency 

of the trial. I exclude anythirw which may have been 

said by the Court in ruling upon the reception or rejection 

of offered evidence. I exclude anything said by the 

Court in disposing of any motion during the pendency of 

the trial, and I tell each one of you twelve men now 

that, when you retire to deliberate, you will be wholly 

uninfluenced by the Court's disposition of any motion, 

because the Cour, s disposition of motions does not im-

port any expression of opinion by the Court as to what 

your verdict should be. 

Everything not falting within the definition of 

evidence as tnat /las been defined to you, but coming to 

your hearing during thependericy of the trial, other than 

the summation of counsel on both sides, and other than 

the charge of the Court, will be dismissed from your mind 

when you retire to deliberate, and form no part of the 

efingiti 



eubject Matter upon *1110h .your Verdict 'wiil. 

be pUrpose of. the summation of coOnSil i.;.th 

through the medium of the -summation, the contsntion8• 

of the respective parties may be presented to a juryi so 

that a jury may be facilitated  by the summation on both 

sides, and have their minds directed to the contention 

of both sides. But no trial is to be regarded by a 

jury as any contest of ability between counsel, and no 

verdict is to be predicated upon any impression enter-

tained by any juror, if such there be, that it should 

be one way or the other way because of superiority of 

ability on the part of one counsel over the other. 

The verdict is to be based upon the evidence, and 

when you retire to deliberate you are not confined in 

your discussions to any considerations which may have. 

been advanced by counsel on either sides. as they doubtless 

of all men would be the most ready' to tell you. No 
,4 

matter how extended a summation, or how competent counsel, 

it is entirely conceivable tnat there 'may be points on 

both sides, which, upon reflection, they might have wished 

to direct your attention to, which, in the stress of the 

trial, or the labor of the argumentation of the summa-

tion, nave been )verlooked; so that the entire subject 

of the guilt or innocence of this defendant, in the light 

of the law to be cliarged, hnd in tne light of the evidence,, 
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r your discussion in he jury zoom; and if 
C. 

the process of that discussion, a difference of Opirii0A 

should arise as to°what, in point of fact, the testimony 

Was regarding any matter, it will be your right to be 

brought again to the seats in Which you now are, so that, 

in the presence of the defendant and in the presence Of, 

his counsel and in the presence of the Assistant District 

Attorney, and of the Court, there may be read to you, 

for greater certainty, from the official notes of the 

minuos of the trial, taken stenographically by the Court 

stenographer, that portion of the testimony respecting 

which a dispute or controversy as to what it was may 

have arisen; and, while every endeavor will be made to 

make this charge as pial,h to you as language can bake 

it, if, when -you retire to deliberate, something said 

during the progress of tne charge was not plain to some 

one or more of you, and you desi-e to have it, if possible, 

made plainer, you can, in like manner, be brought where 

you now are, so that your difficulty or embarrassment as 

to comprehensioh being brought to the attention of the 

Court, that part of the charge not plain to any one, or 

more of you mwr, if possible, be made made plain, by 

additional statements in that regard from the Court to 

you, in the presence of jae defendant, his counsel and 

the Assistant District Attorney. 



A. 

Iht *sighing of evidence je -a figuratiie 

presents to the mind a balance of scales and weights::: 

The weights in a trial on one side of the balanCe 

the propositions of law, consisting of definitions 

brought to the attention of the kury, and the evidence 

as defined in this charge is that which is put on the 

other ,side of the balance, and the weighing process, as 

suggested at the threshold of this charge, is an 

analytical process initiated by a recollection of what 

was testified to, and it is just in proportion as you accu-

rately recollect the evidence that you become qualified) 

when you retire to deliberate, to write the past from 

the standpoint of what the facts as disclosed by the 

egidence may be on th„e question of the guilt or inno-

cence of this defendant. 

The considerations which should influence you in 

determining what credence you will give to the testimony 

of any witness are purely matters upon which you are 

required to exercise your judgment, and anything said in 

that regard as to the points to which you may not improper-

ly direct your attention are said suggestively, and not 

in a mandatory way. 

You may not improperly consider all that a witness 

has said upon any given subject as intending to express 

the meaning of the witness, rather than an isolated 
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anaweT to an isolated question. Is the titOrY a 

told by the witneras probable, or improbable  

consistent with itself' Is it in conflict with the 

testimony of some other witness' Is it in conflict 

with the testimony of other concurring witnesses, Is 

it in conflict with such testimony respecting merely an im-

material matter, or a material one' 'What was the 

witness's manner in testifying, as indicative of truth, 

or the reverse, as indicative of accuracy of recollection, 

or the reverse' What was the witness's seeming Intel-

ligence' What were his or her opportunit*es for observit-

tion and capacity for observation' That is the 

witness's relation to the controversy' Biased, or un-

biased, interested, ordisinterested' 

I suppose that, not tmproperly, that whole matter 

might be summed up in the statement that you are expected 

in the discharge of your duty to bring the evidence in 

the case to the test of all those ordinary rules adopted 

by men of good judgment in the affairs of life in the 

determination of the question as to whether a statement 

heard is accurate, r inaccIlrhte, true or false. 

If you should reach the conclusion that any witness 

had committed deliberate perjury respecting a material 

matter, then and in that event you are at liberty to 

wholly disregard the testimony of such witness. 



you have followed me to this pOint4 you will see 

Mt, in 4 certain sense, nearly everything that-has been 

eaid to you the charge is preliminary, not involving 

a definition of either the crime of murder in its first 

degree or yet a definition of any of the lesser degrees 

of homicide, nor a statement of the rules of 101 appli-

cable where it is  that a homicide is excusable, 

The Code provisions limit he duty of the Judge 

presiding tC;-"a statement of what the Judge presiding - 

conceives to be the propositions of law upon which a 

jury Should be informed in order to enahie them to reah 

a verdict, but the Court of Appeals very recently, name-

ly, on the nst of December last, commenting upon a some-

what earlier decision of that Court, may be said to have 

somewhat enlarged tue statutory obligation of the Judge. 

"In a criminal case, we think the Judge has the 

mants, that the jury may see its relevancy and pertenanc 

"to the particular issues -ton which it was admitted, and 

"thus the better be qualified to appreciate its character 

and weight and to determine its credibility" 



•  So that what X han. aI.ø to Or to YoltAlOW. 

d1Tiafis itself into two parts, the first of Which Wirr 

the discharge of the etatutory duty, and the secoiidr,of 

which will be in obeaience to the suggestion now for 

a second time Made by the Court of Appeals in this 

will reEtd to you, without comment, and, more 

particularly in that connection without any attempt at 

analysis, the provisions of Section 

refer to these different provisions in the order in 

wh4h their subject matter will, in my opinion, be 

ligically the matter of consideration by you, and, so, 

reverting to them, will make such comment as may appear 

necessary to make their meaning plain to you. 

The law says, "No person can be convicted of murder 

manslaughter unless the death of the person alleged 

have been killed and the fact of killing by the defen-

"dant as alleged are  established as independent. facts, 

"the former by direct proof and the latter beyond a 

"Homicide is the killing of one human being by the 



"Homicide is mMrderl-pr .Manelaughte.rs 

.130,04.i4lit erjusWiable homicide". 

*The killing of a human being, unless it it 

"OXtUseble Or justifiable, is murder in the first de-

"arse when, committed from a deliberated and premeditat d 

"desigb to effect the death of the perso# killed or of 

"another." 

"Such killing of a human being is murder in the se-

"cond degree when committed with a design to effect the 

"death of the personAilled or of another, but wityIlt 

"deliberation and premeditation". 
a 

"In a case other than one of those specified in 

"Sections 1044, 1046 and 1047, homicide not being justi-

"fiable or excusable is manslaughter". 

Section 1044 is the one defining the crime of murder 

in its first degree; section 1046 is the one defining the 

crime of murder in its second degree; sectionn1047 is 

the one declaring the guilt of a person who, against the 

provisions of that section, fights a dUel outside of the 

State of New York. 

"Such homicide is manslaughter in the first degree 

"when committed without a design to effect death, in the 

-"heat of passion, but in a cruel and unusual manner, or 

"by means of a dangerous weapon". 

"Such homicide is manslaughter in the second degree 



"When committed without a deSign to effect death 

imbocurement, or culpable negligence Of any ,pereon 

"which, according to the provisions of this artidles 

"does not constitute the crime of murder in the first 

or second degree nor manslaughter in the first degree". 

"Homicide is excusable when committed by accident and 

"misfortune in doing any lawful act by lawful means, 

"with orginary caution, an d without any unlawful intent." 

"Homicide is justifiable when committed in the law-

"ful deferse of the slayer, when there is reasonable 

"ground to apprehend a design on the part of the person 

"slain to commit a felony or to do some great personal 

"injury to the slayer and there is imminent danger of 

"such design being accomplished, or in th+ctual resis-

"tance of an attempt to commit a felony upon the slayer, 

"or in a place of abode in which he is". 

"An act otherwise criminal is justifiable -when it 

"is done to protect the person committing it from 

"inevitable and irreparable personal injury, and the 

"injury could only be prevented by the act, nothing more. 

"being done than is necessary to prevent the injury". 

I have now read to you certain sections and parts 

of other sections found in the penal law, in part in 

that portion of the penal law which is entitled "homicide", 

4 

and in addition I have read to you a portion of section 

42 of that law, which si entitled "rule when acts done 



self or another." 

- I now retZaverse the ground covered br theSet 

visions, with comment and analysis, for your inforMa,• 

tion and guidance when you retire to deliberate. 

And, first, your attention is directed to thi 

circumstance alluded to at the very beginning of this 

charge, that the defendant is charged with the crime of 

murder in the first degree. The law's definition of 

that crime may be said to be, in part, a negative defi-

nition, that is to say, it is a definition which begins 

with the exclusion of homicides under certain circumstan-

ces, for it reads: 

"The killing of a human being, unless it is excusable 

"or justifiable, is murder in the first degree when 
{V. 

committed from a deliberate -and premeditated design 

"to effect the death of the person killed or of another". 

Therefore, in determining whether, any given case 

falls within the law's definition of the crime of murder 

in its first degree, it is necessary that one should be 

Informed as to what it is that the law says constitutes 

an excusable homicide, and also what it is that the law 

says constitutes a homicide Which is not criminal but 

justifiable, and, when You retire to deliberate, in 

logical sequence your attention will be directed in the 

first instance as to whether or not there is in this case 

^ 



that\lmoof required by the\ jam: that the person :04 
• •c7 

killed 

eme en k3Ued, namely Raphael Schwarumm, w 

by the defendant as alleged, which, as already 

,  

told you, is sOmething required to be established by 

direct proof; that is to say, the fact of the killing 

is reqUired to be established by'direCt proof. 

If in this case upon the evidence you entertain 

no reasonable doubt that Raphael Schwartzmann is dead, 

and that he died as alleged in the indictment, that he 

-lied because of certain wounds received by him from the  

penetration into his person of substances which were 

discharged from a pistol, and that pistol- was in the 

hands of this defendant, you will enter upon the con-

sideration of the question as to whether such killing 

of Schwartzmann by the defendant constituted an excusable 

homicide. 

What, then, has the law to say regarding excusable 

homicide* Homicide is excusable when committed by 

aCcident and misfortune in doing any lawful act by lawful 

means, with ordinary caution, and without any unlawful 

intent. That law you will examine, and you will 

examine the evidence in the light of that law. 

Homicide is justifiable, says the law, when*, When 

it is c.ommitted in the lawful defense of the 61e4er. 

Under what circumstances* The law answers that 



Tleetion and answers it in this language: 

is reasonable ground to apprehend a design on the part 

of the person claimed to commit a felony". That i 

can be justified under those provisions of law applicable 

to the defense of self defense, is a felony, and an act 

done with intent to commit such an assault, but failing 

to effect its commission, is likewise a felony, in that 

it is an attempt to commit that crime. 

Unless such act is done under such circumstances 

which render it an act falling within what the lew has 

to say regarding the -defense of self defense, homicide 

is justifiable, moreover, when there is reasonable ground 

to apprehend a design on the part of the person slain, 

to do some great personal injury to the slayer, provided 

always there is imminent danger of such design being 

And homicide is also justifiable in an actual resis-

tance of an attempt to commit a felony upon thqslayer, 

and, as stated, unless the act falls within the la's 

definition of what it is that constitutes the defense 

of self defense, an assault Which is wilful and wrong-

ful and made with a dangerous weapon, is a felony, and 



effect its commission, i.e an attemWt tO commit' that 

OZ1ns, and likewise, a felony. 

Section 42 says an act otherwise criminal is 

justifiable under certain circumstances, and when the 

query ifs put as to what the circumstances are which ,make 

an act which would otherwise be criminal justifiable, the 

first part of the answer is, when it is done to protett 

the per8on committing it from personal injury; and when 

Tiewdpointsr by characterizing the personal injury from 

the viewpoint of its likelihood to happen, but for the 

doing Of the act which otherwise would be criminal and 

would be inevitable"; and then the law characterites 

the character of the personal injury from the standpoint 

of its extent, and says in that regard that it must ans-

wer to the description of a personal injury which would 

And then the law adds this qualification, by way of 

as to when such an act which otherwise.would 

be criminal is justifiable, mainly, "and the injury could 

only be prevented by the act, nothing more being done 

Under that section, in the edition of th e penal 



-there are 

of thoughte, being extracts frota or . the 

matter decided in certain cases therein Tee= 

and certain statements contained in those notes are  

made a part of this charge, namely, the following: -

"Before a person can justify the taking of life 

"in self defense, he must show that there was reasonable 

"ground for believing he was in .great peril, that the 

"killing was necessary for his escapel and that no 

"other safe means was open to him". 

"When one believes himself about to be attacked by 

another and to receive great bodily injury, it is his 

."duty to avoid the attack, if in his power to do so, 

"and the right of attack for the purpose of self defense 

"does -not arise until he has done everything in his 

"power to avoid its necessity". 

"One without fault, if attacked by another, ma$ kill 

"his assailant, if the circumstances be such as furnish 

"reasonable ground 461- a design to take his life or to do 

"him great bodily harm, though, in point of fact, he is 

"mistaken". 

"A defendant in a criminal case who interposes the 

"plea of self defense is not obliged to establish it by 

"a preponderance of evidence. The burden is upon the 

"prosecution throughout the trial to establish the crime 
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arged 'beyond a. Teaeonabledoilbt, enyi 

-"whole twee, including the testimony on belia-

flprosecutionand on behalf of the defendant, a roast:ink 

444," "doubt of the defendant's guilt arises, the jury Muet 

"acquit". 

-Everything which has been said' to you respecting-

what it is that the 

cide and what it is 

fiable homicide and what 

ing the rule when an act 

law says regarding excusable homi-

that the law says regarding jUsti-

it is that the law says "teepee 

is said to have been done in 

defense of one's self has been said to you so that you 

may determine, in the light of he evidence in this 

case, wheher or not the killing of Raphael Schwartzmann„ 

if he was killed by the act of this defenaant, is to 

be characterized as an excusable homicide or a justifia-

ble homicide, and for the. purposes of enabling you, in 

the event that upon the evidence you entertain no reason-

able doubt that it does not fall within what the law has 

to Bay it is that constitutes excuszble homicide, or what 

it is that constitutes justifiable homicide, that you 

might proceed to consider the question of this defendant's. 

guilt or innocence of the crime of murder in its first 

degree. 

So that, if the killing of a human being is n t 

excusable, as the law defines excusable homicide, nor 

yet justifiable, as the law defines justifiable homicide, 
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it As murder in its 1' rat degtee when'emilitse 

*.deliberatejAnd pr#meditated design to effect the. deat 

of the person killed. 

Before a person can be found guilty of the crime 

of murder in its first degree, a jury must be satisfied 

from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that the 

killing was neither excusable nor yet justifiable. 

The jury must, moreover, be satisfied beyond a 

reasonable doubt, that the killing proceeded from a 

design to effect the death of theperson killed, and _a 

jury must moreover be satisfied beyond a reasonable 

doubt that that design answered to the description of 

a deliberate design, and a jury must moreover be satisfied 

from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that such 

design dia not merely answer to the description of a. 

deliberate design, but that it also answered to the 

description of a premeditated design. 

What is ;leant by a deliberate design' What is 

meant by a premeditated design  Those words have been 

the subject of comment, construction and definition, and 

that by the highest court in this state, namely, the 

Court of Appeals, and your attention is now directed to 

'certain extracts forming portions of two opinions in two 

cases in that court, and those portions of such opinions 

are now made part of this charge, and you are told that, 

in so far as they define the word "deliberate", and the 

MOW 

il 
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word ',premeditated-fly and in so far as they pass upon 

wt at those words mean when used in the law '6 defihition 

of murder in the first degree, they are to be regtirded 

by you as stating the law in this case; 

In the case of Leighton against the people of the 

State of New York, reported in volumekipf. the New York 

Court of appeals Reports, Judge Danforth, in delivering 

the opinion of the court, at page 120, says: 

"To bring the case within the statutory definition 

"of murder inthe first degree, it wag necessary that 

"the crime Should be perpetrated from the deliberate 

"and premeditated design to effect the death of the per-

"son killed. An act co-existent° with and inseparable 

"from a sudden impulse, although premeditated, could not 

"be deemed deliberate, as when under sudden" and great 

"provication one instantly, although intentionally, kills 

"another, but the statute is not satisfied unless the 

"inttaition was deliberated upon, If the Impulse is followed 

"by reflection, that is deliberation. Hesitation even 

may imply deliberation; so may threats against another, 

an election of means with which to perpetrate the 

"deed. If, therefore, the killing is not the instant 

"effect of impulse, if there is hesitation or doubt to 

"be overcome, a choice made as the result of thought, 

"however short the struggle between the intention and 



"the act it is sufficient to .characterize the crime 

*az deliberate and premeditated murder". 

In the case of the people against Majoxie, rel3orted-

in Volume 91 of the New York Court of Appeals Reports, 

Judge ar1e, delivering the opinion of the court, says, 

"Under the statute, there must be not only an 

"intention to kill, but there must also be a deliberate 

"and premeditated design to kill. Such design must 

"but the time need not he. long. It must be sufficier 

some reflection and consideration upon the matter, 

"for choice to kill or not to kill, and for the forMa-

"tion of a definite purpose to kill; and when the time 

sufficient for this, it matters not how brief it 

the human mind acts with celerity Which it is 

"sometimes impossible to measure, and whether a deliberat6 

"and premeditated design to kill was formed must be deter 

"mined from all the circumstances of the case." 

If, in the course of your deliberations, you come 

to tne consideration of the question of this defendant's 

guilt or innocence of the crime of murder in its first 

degree, an4d should, upon such consideration, in the 

light of.. the evidence as you recall it, be of opinion 

that he is not guilty of that crime, or should, upon the 



evidgnce, entertain a reasonable doubt EW 

he .1,i4s guilty of that crime, it would become yOur cluV 

to consider the question of this defendant's guilt or 

innocence of the crime of murder in its second degree; 

and, therefore, your attention is now directed to what 

the law says constitutes murder in its second degree. 

Murder in its second degree is a homicide Which 

ii 
is not excusable; it is a homicide which is not justi-

The jury must have reached .the conclusion in 

a given case upon the evidence that there is not 

reasonable doubt hat the killing was neither excusable 

nor yet justifi le, and if, reaching that conclusion, 

and having considered the question of the defendant's 

guilt or innocence of the crime of murder in its first 

comes to the consideration of the question of the 

defendant's guilt or innocence of murder in its second 

degree, then the evidence must establish to a juror's 

satisfaction and beyond a reasonable doubt, before a 

defendant can be found guilty of murder in its second 

killed and was killed by the act of the defendant, and 

that he was killed by the defendant when the defendant 

entertained a design to effect his death, but that design 

need not answer to the description of a deliberate de-



to the deeekiptOn at a premeditated, design; 

says a design with premeditation; so that, the difference 

between murdtr in its first degree and murder in ite 

second degree is this: That he design to kill, in the 

case or murder in its first degree, must, as stated ant,-

wer to the description of a deliberate and premeditated 

design; and in the case of murder in its second degree-1r „ 

be jury need only be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt-

The evidence is not required to go to the point 

that such a design, if it existed, was deliberate or 

If, under the circumstames mentioned, you coma to 

the consideration of the question of this defendant's 

guilt of the crime of murder in its second degree, and 

should thereupon, upon a consideration of the evidence, 

believe him to be innocent of that crime, or if, upon the 

evidence; you should entertain a reasonable doubt respect-

his guilt of that crime, it would become your duty 

to consider the question of this defendant's guilt or 

innocence of the crime of manslaughter in,its-first de-

gree; and your attention is now directed to he law's 

definition of manslaughter in its first degree. 



kanelgughter in its first degree must be •A,•
 

Which isneither excusable nor justifiable but it ii)ao, 

required to be a killing which was the result of a 

design on the part of the defendant to kill the persons 

The evidence) however, must satisfy a jury beyond 

reasonable doubt that the killing, being neither 

excusable nor yet justifiable, and being without a design 

to effect:d4ath, was a killing which was done in the 

alternative either in the neat of passion, but in a. 

cruel or unusual manner, or by means of a dangerous wea-

If, under the circumstances stated, you come to the 

consideration of the question of this defendant's guilt 

or innocence of the crime of manslaughter in its first 

degrees and should thereupon, in the light of the 

evidence, believe him to be innocent of that crime, 

but upon the eir,idence you entertain a reasonable doubt 

respecting his guilt of that crimes it would be your 

duty to consider the question of this defendants guilt 

or innocence of the crime of manslaughter in its second 

The law says "such homicide", and the force of the 

word "such,' is to exclude excusable homicide and to 

exclude justifiable homicide, "such homicide", therefore, 



which means. homicide that is neither eXCIleablenOr is 

• jUdtitiablet "Is manslaughter in the second degree 

• When committed without a destin to effect deathoi 

Which respect manslaughter in the second degree is like 

manslaughter in the first procure-

ment or culpable negligence", which, according to the 

provisions of the article relating to homicide doesnet 

constitute the crime of murder in the first or second 

degree Dr tilo.nsl...ugliter in the first degree. 

Now, I have discharged, with the exception. of call-

ing your attention to Et provision contained in the Code 

of Criminal Procedure, the duty laid down upon meThy 

statutory law of bringing to your attentionc. the 

There i8 4 section, No. 395, contained in the Code 

of Criminal Procedure, the whole of which will be read 

to you, and you are told that you may consider it 

inapAicable to any evidence in this case. If it is 

applicable to any evidence in this case, as you recol-

lect.the evidence, then you will apply that section, your 

attention in that event being directed more specifically 

and pointedly to the latter part of that section. 

"A concession of a defendant, whether in the Courts 

of judicial proceedings, or to a private person, can 

"be given in evidence against him unless made under the 
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"influence/of.fer produced by threats,  pr uhlessma e 

"upon stipuacition of the District Attorney thAt he Shall 

"not be prosecuted therefor, but is not sufficient to. 
1-

"warrant his conviction without additional proof that 

"the crime charged has been committed." 

It is ppoper that I should charge you in this-con-

bection that the reading of this, Section to you iaPorts 

no expression of opinion by the Court that there is any 

testimony in this case anywhere, any evidence whatso-

ever, tinswering to the description of a confession, as 

that term is used in this section which has just been 

read to you. 

Now, I have discharged the statutory duty, the duty 

evolved upon me by a section of the Code, and I am 

about to discharge that duty which, in the interest of 

justice, in harmdny with the opinion of the Court or 

Ippeals, reiterated in a recent utterance, forms part 

of that which a Judge Should do in a case like this. 

It is, perhaps, in a Bence, the harder part of the duty, 

because it must be done, with the statements made as 

plain as the English language can,make„.-it, that, in 

the domain of fact, you are supreme, and that, therefore, 

if anything is said respecting the  evidence in this 

case which differs from your recollection of it in this 

charge, your recollection will control you when you 



retire t deliberate. 

•_As I recital the testimony in this case, 

13th day of October-  1912, a man by the name 

grocery store in that portion of the County of New York 

known as the Borough Of the Bronx. 

Connected with him in busines,31 although perhaps -

not i partnership, was a brother ddmewnat younger -than 

the employment of ke elder'Schwartzmann, as a delivery 

clerk, for a period of about twenty days preceding the 

13th of October, was this defendant, Ely Geller, a 

young man, whose age perhaps has been given during the 

progress of this trial who had been but a few months 

was in the receipt of wages from the elder 

As part of tne defendant's compensation, therel is 

testimony going to the point that the elder Schwartzmann 

was to pay for the defendant's lodging, and there is 

testimony going to the point that the defendant lodged 

in a room which, I think, was selected for him in the 

building in which tne delicatessen store was, or in an 



adjoining building, but up stairs, in rooms ocoupi, 

by the witness S9phie Goldberg and her husband, Harry 

recollect it, that, shortly before the 13th of October, 

1912, ,and the 13th of October, 1912, was a Sunday 

morning, the defendant had certain conversations with 

both of the Schwurtzmanns, or, at least, in the presence 

of one or the other of them, relating to the hours, in' 
-N. 

substance, during which the defendant was to be required 

to work, the defendant urging, as I unddrstand his 

contentions, in those conversations, that, as he was 

desirous of attending a certain high school in the 

the Schwartzmanns'Should live up to that which 

the defendant contended had been the agreement at the time 

of his hiring by them, that he, the defendant, should 

be allowed to quit work at an hour earlier than the 

Schwartzmanns appeared to havd allowed him to leave. 

As I recollect the evidence, these conversations did 

not result in a mutual agreement or understanding 

respecting the hours during which the defendant was to 

work, and that being so the defendant signified an 

Triere 16 testimony going to the point taat the elder 



.8010.001)444 04Sgested that the dofenoinkr*4 

least one day longer, namely, over Until- SUnday,. the 

first talk having been on a Saturday, as I understand. 

There .is testimo6y going to the ,point that the 

defendant was not unwilling to remain one day longer, 

namely, from the Saturday until the Sunday, and that 

on Sundoy morning, October 13th, 1912, the defendant 

came, at an early hour in the morning, from the room 

in which he slept, up stairs, to the door of the 

delicatessen store, and into that store; that he per-

formed certain duties incident to his employment on that 

morning, in t_Le delivery of articles of merchandise sold 

by Schwartzmann, and at, on that morning, and you 

will recollect with more particularity than I can attempt 

to state it, there was a conversation respecting the am0unt. 

payable to this defendant by the elder Schwartzmann, and 

that, at some time during that morning, there was a 

difference of opinion between Schwartzm:ann on the one 

hand and the defendant on the other as to the amount 

If I recollect the testimony, the defendant 

figured that he was entitled to a payment of six dollars; 

Schwartzmann conbnded that, at most, he was entitled to 

entitled to but four, and there was a difference of at 



• 2east one .dollar, and possibly two AollarIS 

This 41/forenoe, at the earlier hour in, t 

ence; that is tdniay, there is testimony going to the 

point that, at the earlier hour in the morning neither 

party concluded to yield his contentions. • 

The defendant gives evidence, as I understand him,_ 

to the effect that this dispute being still on, if one 

may call it a dispute, or difference regarding money 

mutters, he went to an elevated station of the Third 

Avenue Elevated Road, on Third Avenue, near the place Of 

his employment, and took a down town train on the 

Elevated Road, for the purpose of going to his aunt's 

house, at 17 Attorney street, and obtaining advice from 

His testimony is, as I recall it, in substance, 

that he got off the Elevated train at Grand Street, walked 

from the Grand street station to 17 Attorney Street, 

T'eached his aunt's house, found her in bed, had some talk 

with a little boy who nas been produced as a witness, 

and returned to the delicatessen store. 

there might be an amicable settlement of the wage ques-

tion between himself and Schwartzmann, or in order that 

he might receive the minimum amount mentioned, niimely, 



dollars, tho amounts in. a: het ll'ords; 

SOluvartztaann had expressed a willingness to PAY 

Did he go back with a views in the event *of, 

refusals to do Schwartzmann some injury, 

Did he go back with any intention to commit 

crime that he now stands charged with, or any of 

Now, these questions, if they can bd answered at 

all by you, if you consider that the &Wavering of those 

questions is important to the solution of this case, 

the case, and in the light of that alone. 

When the defendant got back to the delicatessen 

store, did he go into the store, and was he then paid 

some money, and did he then go out of the store, and 

were there one or more persons in the store When he 

who have testified in substance to that mistaken in 

their testimony' 

The defendant, having gone out of the store, re-

entered e And, if he re-entered the store, 

did he re-enter the sto-e having been paid, or for the 

purpose of obtaining payment, or, if not for the purpose 



consideration of this case, to answer these ques 

you must answer them upon the evidence, and upon the 

evidence alone. 

When the 'defendant was inside of the.stolle, and 

we will say inside of the store at a few minutes after 

*WI o'clock, and on an occasion when he and the deceased, 

so far as disclosed by the evidence as I recollect it, 

were alone in the store, what was it that happened/ 

And what was the sequence or order in which that which 

happened at that time in that store did happen/ 

During the progress of this trial, my recollection 

is that there are just two persons who purport to giVe. 

testimony, as eye witnesses, as to what happoned 

of that store on the morning of October 13th, 1912, 

at a time when this defendant and Schwartzman% the 

deceased, were alone in that store, and one of those 

persons is a witness produced by the people named 

Saviso Jiocchino, and th other one is this defendant. 

What does Jiocchino, taking his whole testimony, - 

purport to say, if he was inside of the store? Where 

ID does he say he was at the time that he says that he saw 

the things respecting which he has given testimony/ 

lay recollection of the e,iidence is that the witness 

Jiocchino, after saying that he was on the sidewalk, 

and on the sidewalk in front of the delicatessen store, 

4 



ted wit higt hand an approximate d 

distance that he was from the door of the delie,, egkgitrii 

store, and after a little conversation that dietithce-

wai fixed by the foreman as eight feet, so that 14Theilva 

it may be said, if my recollection is correct, that the 

witness Jiocchino purports to testify that he was about 

eight feet from the door of the delicatessen store. 

What does he say that it was that attracted his at-

Was it something that be. saw with his Byes, 

or was it something that he became conscious of through 

the instrumentality of another sense. 

As I recollect the evidence, it was, in the first 

instance, something that he became conscious of thrOgh 

heard the discharge of a fire arm; and I recollect his 

testimony to be, in substance, that he then turned and 

looked and saw, and he purports to tell you, as I 

recollect his testimony, what he saw; and in that regard 

the part of the store in which he says that he saw the 

defendant and the part of the stOre in which he says he 

saw the man now deceased, He purports to descraie an 

atitude of the defendant, and he purports to tell you 

tue movements of the defendant and the movements of the 

deceased, and the places, or about the places, inside 



Store tha:4 they respectivelir ,reaChe 

p3sitiOns4 in part, toWardAkanp ano 

he VUrpOtta to state, as I rikollect his teetit1011 

that he hear4at a certain time, when, as he Say0i 

.defendant was in a certain position, and when, ,she 

says, the deceased was in another position, a second 

report; and then he purports to ell you some of the 

things which transpired immediately after the second 

report, and more particularly in that connection what 

he himself did, and one or two things that he says that 

he saw the defendant do. 

The defendant purports to tell you why he went into 

the store at about ten o'clock, or a little after ten, 

and the part of the store to which he first went, and 

where the deceased was at that time, and what the 

deceased first did, and then what happened. 

And, as I recall it, he .purports to tell you in 

that connection that the deceased went into a rear roam, 

and came out with a pistol, a gun; and that then, while 

they were both in a certain position, a struggle ensued 

for the possession of the gun, during which the gun did 

not go off, bht the defendant wrested it from the 

possession of the deceased, and that then the de0eased 

went towards or near the cash register, and that he, 

the defendant, believed that the deceased was going towards 

the cash register for the purpose of paying him, the de-



tefldant1 that Which the defendant contended.WaS, ow 

to him at that time, or that which -the defendan 

he was willing to receive at that time as the amoUnt 

due him, and that he approached where the deceased was, 
42:116 

in order that he might receive that wliiCh his says WAS 

coming to him; and then the defendant, in substance, 

as I recollect his testimony, says that there was a 

struggle on the part of the deceased to re-possess him-

self of the gun, and that in that struggle, unintentional-

ly, without volition, the gun went off, and the defendant 

,purports to say in that connecion that he did not know 

at that time whether any bullet had been disCharged fram 

that gun and had penetrated the person of the deceased; 

that the deceased moved towards the door, on the inside 

of the counter, with a knife in his hand, and that he, 

the defendant, stopped for a second, or an instant, at 

the point wLere he was at the time that he had wrested 

the -- I do not mean at the time that he had wrested, 

but at the point wl,ere he was at the moment that the 

explosion had taken place, and, then himself moved towards 

the door, and that tuere was a moment when the deceased 

was nearer to the door than himself, hut that he got to 

the door first, referring to the defendant himself, and 

that, in fear, and because of fear, without other motive, 

and without taking aim, that he die charged for the 



• second tinle the gun* at a point et which: he did no 

etkie deceased  to be, in Order that he in 

frighten the de0eased, in order that he, the defen 

might get out of the' store. , 

That, very imperfectly stated, is the Court's 

recollection of the substance of the defendant's tes-

timony respecting that which transpired inside of that 

store. 

Now, place the testimony of the Italian over against 

the evidence of this defendant. Give the testimony 

of the Italian's testimony that is in conflict with the 

testimony of this defendant, and, if it is in conflict, 

in what particulars is it in conflict' Wherein do 

they differ And, if they do differ respecting a 

material circumstance connected with the occurrence, what 

is the truth, judged from the standpoint of the evidence 

of the two men as given, and from the standpoint of all 

the testimony that there is in this case, namely:), all 

the evidence. 

A pistol has been offered and received in evidence. 

It is one of the exhibits in this case. *4.8 that pist61-

the property of the, deceased" Was that pistol the pro-

perty of this defendant' Did this defendant take it 

to the store, or did he get it from the deceased while 

he, the defendant, and the deceased were alone in the 



StpreT 

A: verdict is not to be predicate 4 Won sUrmise, 

a verdict may lawfully be predicated upon' all the. 

inferences which may be legitimately drawn from the 

testimony and evidence in the case. 

Can these questions be answered from the evidence 

in the case Can they be answered with reasonable ser - 

tainty 'If they can be answered with reasonable ' 

certainty, what is the answer that is required by the 

evidence in ithel case to these questions, always assuming 

that in your deliberations you should consider these 

questions as bearing upon the determination which you are 

to reach. 

Two witnesses have been produced, one a woman, a 

neighbor of the deceased and a neighbor of the defendant, • 

w.,74o purport to testify to something which, as she says, 

the defendant said to her when he defendant was in cuStody 

of the police officer, immediately adjacent to the deli-

catessen store. 

You will recall what her testimony is to that effect, 

and you will rece-411 what the defendant's testimony is 

respecting what it was that he said to her. 

What did he say to that witness, and what,was 

meant by that which he did say. What. light, if. any 

doe's the defendant's utterance in that regard throw upon 



the c4rohmetanceW attending what occurred in the s' 

at the time when the pistol was discharged JASid4 

store' 

The defendant, according to his testimony, and aci, 

cording to other evidence in the case, after the pistol_ 

had been discharged a second time, went in a certain 

direction, and was met by a police officer.. That 

officer has been called as a witness in this case.• 

He was called as a witness in the Coroner's Court, and 

on both occasions, responsive to questions put, he pur-

ported to state certain sayings as having been said by 

the defendant to him. You will recall in that regard 

what he purported to say in the Coroner's court. You 

will recall in that regard what he purported to sayupon 

this trial. 

You will recall the defendant's evidence respecting 

the circumstances of his arrest and the presence or 

absence of conversations by him with the officer, and 

you will consider the question, insofar as it may be 

determinable from the evidence in this case, as to what 

the defendant's knowledge of the English language was. 

Oid he say that which the officers says that he 

said when the officer was a witness in the Cornoerls 

Old he Bay that which the officer says he 

said while the officer was a witness on the trial of this 



bearing upon the question of this defendant 

tain witnesses whose testimony has gone to the point that 

hey were acquainted with the defendant; that they were 

acquainted with other people who knew the defendant; that 

key were acquaintadwith the defendant's reputation for 

peace and quiet and for truth and honest, and that that 

reputation, as they view it, was good. 

Tile Court of Appeals has held that, in certain.casesi 

evidence of good .character may create a reasonable doubt, 

where, but for the introduction Orlzuch evidence, no 

doubt would exist in the minds of jurors respecting the 

There is testimony in this case respecting the 

testimony 'going to the effect that there was a pistol shot 

wound in his right ear, just behind the hole of the ear, 

and thi,t the course of that bullet was downward and towards 

the left, and to the effect that there was a pistol shot 

wound in the person of Raphael Schwartzmann above the 



cente+ of the right collar Ildne, a4: that 

that 'Wallet w9.s through the second rib, downwards. a 

backwa.rds,.and tafit it lodged in the ninth dorsal vert010 

bra; that it was a course more strictly downward than 

the course of the bullet, which entered behind the hole 

of tne right ear. 

If 1;ne position of these wounds, their number and 

extent, throws any light upon the question as to what 

happened inside of that store, and as to how it happened, 
‘.09' 

that light is light that is afforded by the evidence in 

this case, and will be availed of by you in reaching your 

. determination. 

There is other testimony in this case to. which al-

lusion /las not been made. You will draw no conclusion 

from the „circumstance that some items of testimony have 

not been alloded to that they are regarded as either of 

greater or less significance or weight, if any, than 

those which have bee the subject of comment. Reference 

to them has been omi ed for the sake of brevity, althol4Wkr: 1,/ 

I may say, and say without any hesitation, that during 

the progress of a murder trialthe very last thing to be 

taken into consideration is the question of time. We 

all Q.  us have all the time that by any possibility may 

be required in performing our respective functions. 

This is a criminal action. In a criminal action, 
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A 
the burden of proof iS upOn the .proseCntiOft. 

.requires 'before a defendant can be found gu 

Sault be. satisfied from he evidence beyOnd 

a reasOnable doubt 48 to his guilt. 

A defendant in a criminal action is presumed to be 

innocent until the contrary be proved, and in case of 

reasonable doubt whether his .guilt is satisfactorily 

Shown, he is entitled to an acquittal. 

A reasonable doubt is a doubt that iS a doubt 

that is founded in and is sustained by"reason. It is 

not a whim; it is not a caprice; it is not the action of 

unreasonable sympatk It is only a doubt which answers 

to the description of a reasonable doubt as thus defined 

which warrants and requires a verdict of not guilty, 

in the absence of an affirmative belief on the part Of 

jurors, based on the evidence', that a defendant is inno-

cent, and not guilty. 

In this case there may be certain evidence which 

may not improperly be said to sanswer to the description 

of circumstanctial evidence, and the law has something to 

say respecting circiuustantiai evidence/ 

In determining a question of fact from circumstantial 

evid ce, there are two general rules to be observed, one 
that 

nypaUePXs Mtt delinquency or guilt Should flow 

naturally from the facts proved, and the consistence. 



10111*111; 

with theta se.cmlal .e-girtr Onte, niust be suoll a* t 

onable doubts every hypothesle but thk.. 

detendadtle guilt of the offense imputed 0, 

any of the evidence in this case may properly fall un 

the law's definition of circumstantial evidence 

Now, gentlemen, I may have omitted something* 

R. CURTIS: I respectfully request your Honor 

to charge the jury that the testimony of Officer Northrup 

as to the conversation he states he had with the de-

fendant at the time of the latter's arrest is direc ly 

and positively denied by the defendant' ' 

'2H)i COURT: The jury will,xecollectthe evidence 

I have three requests to make, your 

and in the Borough of the Bronx. 



to the introdiction of the evidence, I sApp0,8414 but I 

would like your Honor to charge the jury that it appears 

there was but one person that testified that the fea-

tures of the dedeased were disfigured, swollen or 

bruised, and that that may or may not have been caused 

when he fell upon the floor of the room near the open 

Oh, that is comment, and I think that 

MR. CURTIS: That they may consider it. They 

ay consider whether the bruises, the swollen conditio 

of the face, he injuries to the face, were the result 

of the fall, as the body must have pitcned upon the 

TA-le jury will consider the evidence. 

Now, Jr. Oerby, I think that these 

requests are covered in my charge. 

ferent form, and I respectfully request your Honor to 
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ohtiLree in the'language there given. 

THE COURT: I am asked to char g# you gentlemen 

as follows: !That the defendant is entitled to the 

benefit of every reasonable doubt, on every phase ofthe, 

case, and that, therefore, he is -entitled to be acs 

quitted if the jury believe he was acting in self—defense, 

or even if they have a reasonable doubt whether or not 

ne was acting in self-defense. 

"That where the defendant offers testimony that he 

was acting in self-defense it is not necessary for the 

defendant to prove that face to the satisfaction of the 

jury, but the prosecition is required to prove beyond any 

reamonable doubt that the Aefendant was not acting in 

self defense. 

"That one without fault himself who reasonably 

believes that his life or limb are endangered will be 

justified in killing, although he was mistaken as to the 

danger and peril he was in, and, in fact, was in no 

danger. 

I charge you that. 

ER. WASSERVDGEI: Just one thing, your Honor, 

I want to call to your attention. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

UR. WASSERVOGEL: In stating the evidenpe as 

to the time when the deceased tried to wrest the revolver 



from, the defendant, your Bono r neglecte 

that at ,that time they were separated by the 

that the deceased was standing near the cadh 

inside the counter, whereas the defendant was outside 

THE CURT: That is a matter of testimony, and 

you will recall, gentlemen, What the fact was. I do 

not purport to have stated the testimony with any preci-

sion to you.  recollection will control you. 

(The jury then retires, at 4:58 P. M.) 

Gentlemen of the jury, have you agreed upon 
4 

ThE POREMAN O rh JURY: 

munication from you to this effect: "TO his Honor, J 

It is impossible for the jury to agree," 

signed with your name, Mr. Foreman. 

Jo you declare yourselves to be unable to agree,: 



Do you ask to be discharged from the 

THE CO URT: Gentlemen, in view of.the length of 

the trial, which was not long, and the circumstance that - 

you have been out now, in the opinion of the Court a 

reasonable length of time, and in view of the fact that 

you have declared yourselves to be unable to agree upon 

a verdict, and have asked the Court, in writing an d 

orally, to be discharged from the further consideration 

of the case, you are discharged from the further con-

sideration of the case, an d, gentlemen, you may now 

The Court wishes to thank you for the attention 

balance of the term, with the thanks of the Court. 

Judge Curtis, I will hear you. 

fiected with great care upon my duty in the premises, 

an  nave come t.. t,21:: conclusion, and in that conclusion 

I believe my colleague will acquiesce, to offer a plea 

on behalf of this defendant of guilty to manslaughter 

am subservient to the true interests of this defendant. 



believe, for five days, and the jury have heard all of 

- the evidence, arid is unable to agree, I think that X 

would be justified in recommending the acceptance of the - 

plea offered by tae defense, by Judge .Curtis, on behalf 

of the defendant, rather than to put the County to the 

expense of another trial. Under all the circumstances, 

I do recommend tile acceptance of that plea. 

T}i COURT: Before the plea is taken I will say 

that, acting on t.:ie recommendation of tne Oistrict At-

torney, and for Lle reasons suggested by him, the Court 

(Tile defendant is duly sworn and his pedigree taken.) 

CO URT: I will remand you until Friday next. 

It will be in 'Ale room of Part Five continued term. 

In ti.e Iec.flt1, a probation officer, Nr. Kaminsky, 
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